CLUB CRICKET CONFERENCE

2020 YEARBOOK

Club Cricket Conference

Founded 1915

YEARBOOK 2020

104th Issue

Editor

Charlie Puckett Published 2020



Published by the Club Cricket Conference Top Floor, 24-26 High Street, Hampton Hill, Middx. TW12 1PD Telephone 020 8973 1612 E-Mail: ccc@club-cricket.co.uk

www.club-cricket.co.uk

COPYRIGHT CLUB CRICKET CONFERENCE 2020. All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced, stored in a retrieval system, or transmitted in any form or by any means, electronic, mechanical, photocopied, recorded or otherwise, without prior permission.

Above: Always Look on the Bright Side of Life. John Altman's prescient performance at the Annual Lunch shows us all how it's done!

Front Cover: Action from the 2019 Conference Cup for the Bertie Joel Trophy - Bexley vs Cambridge.

Contents

CCC Annual Lunch 2019		66
CCC Cricket Diary 2020		64
CCC Cricket Report 2019		22
CCC International Tourists 1971-2016		68
CCC Ltd Management Board 2020		. 4
CCC Representative Matches		44
CCC Yearbook Advertisers 2020		18
Chairman's Report 2020		18
Club Cricket Centurions		10
Club Cricket Charity, The		52
Club Directory		24
County Board Secretaries		11
Always Look On The Bright Side Of Life:	: Test Cricket	19
,	Second Test	
	Third Test	74
	ODI's1	02
Editorial		11
Instructions for Kent 60+ Players on Res	umption of Cricket	14
League Directory 2020		12
Let's Hope to Catch a Ball Soon		34
National Asian Cricket Council, The		56
National Cricket Conference		46
Obituaries		82
Opening Season Dates		00
Past Officials		04
Players Awarded Conference Caps - F	rom 1948	05
President 2020-21		12
Q & A with Min Patel		20
		30
Read It and Weep - Northern District C	ricket Club	
		42
Register Of Umpires And Scorers	ricket Club	42 93
Register Of Umpires And Scorers Rob George Foundation, The	ricket Club	42 93 40
Register Of Umpires And Scorers Rob George Foundation, The Season's Opening Dates & Relevant M	ricket Club	42 93 40 99
Register Of Umpires And Scorers Rob George Foundation, The Season's Opening Dates & Relevant M Sovereign Trophy Draw 2020	ricket Club	42 93 40 99 65
Register Of Umpires And Scorers Rob George Foundation, The Season's Opening Dates & Relevant M Sovereign Trophy Draw 2020 Sovereign Trophy 2019 Earlier Rounds.	ricket Club	42 93 40 99 65 80
Register Of Umpires And Scorers Rob George Foundation, The Season's Opening Dates & Relevant M Sovereign Trophy Draw 2020 Sovereign Trophy 2019 Earlier Rounds. Sovereign Trophy Final 2019	ricket Club	42 93 40 99 65 80 77

the constant of the second sec

From Test matches to the village green **Out Every Sunday**

IGNI

Peter Hayter Derek Pringle Adam Collins Martin Johnson Paul Nixon Brilliant views! Brilliantly expressed!

Simply the best for county cricket...

> Follow us @TheCricketPaper

> > C

For breaking news, online and postal subscriptions visit www.thecricketpaper.com



ICKE

ENGLAND PRAYING FOR POPE

ALL ABOARD THE ESS EXPRESS

specsavers

For postal subscriptions fill in the section below and send it along with your cheque for £20, £40 or £80 made out to The Cricket Paper Ltd to: Subscriptions, The Cricket Paper Ltd, Tuition House, SI George's Road, Wimbledon, SW19 4EU. Prices are for UK only, other country rates on application.

Postal subscription form (inc P&P)

10 issues for £20 20 issues for £40 40 issues for £80 (Please tick) Name:

Postcode

Address: Telephone N

E2 IN SHOPS EVERY

SUNDAY

CLUB CRICKET CONFERENCE LTD



President:

Roger Dakin (East Grinstead CC) Flat 3, Yetts House, 29 The Goffs, Eastbourne, Sussex, BN21 1HF Tel: 01323 726778(h), 07949 406763(m) dakinrogerd@aol.com

Board of Directors 2020



Chairman: **Robbie Book** (Totteridge Millhillians CC) Flat 1, Manor Wood Lodge, Coombehurst Close, Barnet, London, EN4 0JU. Tel: 0781 381 3908(m) rbrobbiebook@gmail.com



Secretary: **Simon Prodger** (Watford Town CC) 24 Eastwick Crescent, Rickmansworth, Herts, WD3 8YJ Tel: 01923 445879(h), 07775 847634(m) siprodger@icloud.com



Treasurer:

Sam Burge (East Molesey CC) Flat 1, Bede House, 17 Saxon Close, Surbiton, Surrey, KT6 6BP Tel: 07729 448140(m) chairman@eastmoleseycc.com



Charity Chairman: **Clive Lewis** (Totteridge Millhillians CC) 8 The Pastures, Totteridge, London, N20 8AN Tel: 020 8445 5109(h), 020 8446 8334(w) clive.lewis&@btinternet.com

Elected Board Members



David Collier OBE (East Molesey CC) 30 The Riverside, Graburn Way, East Molesey, Surrey, KT8 9BF Tel: 07917 271818(m) davidgordoncollier@aol.co.uk



Philip George

(Colchester & East Essex CC) 4 Henry Villa Close, Colchester, Essex, CO4 5XP Tel: 07831 504298(m) philip.george@hotmail.co.uk

Richard Hindley (Havant CC) 3 Southgate Close, Basingstoke, Hampshire, RG22 5FP Tel: 07825 215245(M) richard.hindley@hotmail.co.uk



Pauline Osborn Women's Team Manager (Wanstead) 2 Sheringham Drive, Barking Essex, IG11 9AN Tel: 07914 619970(m) paulineosborn@icloud.com



Dipam (Dipu) Patel (Middx Premier Cricket Lge) 17 Beechcroft Gardens, Wembley, Middlesex, HA9 8ER Tel: 07836 277164(m) dipam4@aol.com



Charlie Puckett (Finchley CC, Royal Household CC) 8 St. James Gardens, Trowbridge, Wiltshire, BA14 8TH Tel: 01225 681447(h) charlie.puckett54@gmail.com



David Perrin (Shepherds Bush CC, Buckingham Cavaliers CC) 57 Westwick Gardens, London, W14 0BS Tel: 020 7603 8384(h) davidperrin@aol.com



Simon Routh (Tunbridge Wells CC) 18 Woodfield Road, Tonbridge, Kent, TN9 2LQ Tel: 07770 224979(M) simon.routh@btinternet.com



Lonsdale Skinner (African Caribbean Cricket Assoc.) 86 Rowan Road, London, SW16 5JJ Tel: 020 8764 3651 (h) 07834 273081 (m) lonsdaleskinner@aol.com

Management Team 2020



Cricket Development Manager: Gulfraz Riaz 07968 443546 gulfraz.riaz@club-cricket.co.uk



Manager, Cricket & Finance: **Stan Nicholson** 020 8973 1612 stan.nicholson@club-cricket.co.uk



Manager, Communications and Administration: **Donna Black** 020 8973 1612 donna.black@club-cricket.co.uk

- 5 -

travel counsellors



My name is David Dunn, I've been a CCC player and manager for the last 20 years. I am part of the multi award winning independent Travel Counsellors, who are renowned for providing an incredible level of attentive personal service.

Your own personal travel expert

I can tailor a trip to suit you, whether a weekend break, luxury holiday, sporting tours, cruise or safari. I am happy to quote for anything from family holidays to group tours or round the world adventures.

Your money is completely safe

Nobody protects your money like Travel Counsellors – in fact our unique financial protection is the very best in travel. Everything that you book with your Travel Counsellor is completely protected, so all you'll need to worry about is what you're going to pack!

We're independent

We're not tied to any specific airlines or attractions providers so you can be absolutely confident that the holiday your Travel Counsellor recommends has been built to suit your exact needs and budget and selected from a huge bank of over seventy thousand global travel suppliers.

Peace of mind

I will be on hand to deal with any questions or problems and have the back up of a 24 hours duty office.





01903 863 690 or 07974 797760 David Dunn Travel Counsellor

> david.dunn@travelcounsellors.com www.travelcounsellors.com/david.dunn

Travel, tailor made for you, with care.

With us...it's personal



THE **Nightwatchman** THE WISDEN CRICKET QUARTERLY WISDEN

Produced in partnership with the Club Cricket Conference 50% of all sales revenue will be donated to the Club Cricket Charity



£5 (digital formats only)



www.thenightwatchman.net

Life Vice-Presidents

R.E. Arnold, 108 Windsor Road, Maidenhead, SL6 2DW, Tel 01628 632474 (h), royarnold108@virginmedia.com

W. Bigmore, Apt. 4, Newholme Court, 89a Oatlands Drive, Weybridge, Surrey, KT13 9LL Tel. 01932 253802(h), 01932 253939(w), 07889 905090(m), jo1sykes@aol.com

R. Briance, 7 Oakford Park, Halnaker, Chichester, PO18 0BF, Tel. 01243 786699(h), rbandm2908@btinternet.com

D. Collier OBE, 30 The Riverside, Graburn Way, East Molesey, Surrey, KT8 9BF, Tel. 07917 271818(m) davidgordoncollier@aol.com

V.J. Dodds, 190 Elsenham Street, Southfields, London, SW18 5NR, Tel. 020 8812 4930(h), 07855 823748(m), doddsies@hotmail.com

D. Goldsmith, 2a Brightside, Billericay, Essex, CM12 0LJ, Tel. 01277 626336(h), 07545 479163(m), david.goldsmith@hotmail.co.uk

N. Hames, The Laurels, Whatfield Road, Naughton, IP7 7BP, Tel. 01449 740477(h) 01473 340110(w), 07740 486402(m), nhames94@gmail.com

P. Hooper, 77 Blenheim Park Road, South Croydon, CR2 6BH, Tel. 020 8688 5341(h), paulhooper77@yahoo.co.uk

Keir Hopley, 64 Raleigh Road, London, N8 OHY, Tel. 020 880 96194(H), 07766 443684(m) keir.hopley@blueyonder.co.uk

A. Langley, 16b Northfield Road, North Walsham, Norfolk, NR28 0AR. Tel. 07836 334324(m) alflangley@msn.com

C. Maynard, St. Mary's Cottage, Newdigate Road, Beare Green, Nr. Dorking, Surrey, RH5 4QD Tel. 01306 713646(h), 07901 513459(m)

R. McLeod, 48 Witley Court, Coram Street, London, WC1N 1HD, Tel. 020 7837 7445(h), mcleod4368@icloud.com

D. Perrin, 57 Westwick Gardens, London, W14 0BS, Tel. 020 7603 8384(h), davidperrin@aol.com

J. Poore BEM, 54 Magnolia Dene, Hazlemere, High Wycombe, HP15 7QE Tel. 01494 451388(h), 020 8992 9972(w), 07973 932753(m), johncpoore@outlook.com

E.C. Poulter, 218 Forest Edge, Buckhurst Hill, Essex, IG9 5AF, Tel. 020 8504 8618(h) eddiepoultere@ntlworld.com

C. Puckett, 8 St. James Gardens, Trowbridge, Wiltshire, BA14 8TH, Tel. 01225 681447(h) charlie.puckett54@gmail.com

D.E. Smith, 5 Highlands Lane, Chalfont St Peter, Bucks, SL9 0DL, Tel. 01753 883689(h), 020 8965 8596(w), david@iwsm.co.uk

C. Swadkin, The Moat House, 19 Bubblestone Road, Otford, Kent, TN14 5PN, Tel. 01959 928603 (h), 07746 959192(m), csenergy@aol.com

R.F. Syrett, Flat 4, Waldorn House, 57-63 Old Church Street, London, SW3 5BS, Tel. 07802 809809(m) ,robin@rjsecurities.co.uk

C. Walker-Robson, 231 Waldegrave Road, Strawberry Hill, Twickenham, TW1 4TA, Tel. 020 8891 3602(h), 07831 398468(m), colin.walkerrobson@btinternet.com

S. Whitehead, 6 Stocks Close, Hildenborough, Kent, TN11 8AY, Tel. 01732 833843(h), 07884 235756(m), stuartcwhitehead20@gmail.com

Active Vice-Presidents

R. Collard, 30 Twining Close, Tunbridge Wells, Kent, TN4 8FJ, Tel. 07734 665734(m), russ.collard@gmail.com

D. Reynolds, 26 Elm Road, Bishops Stortford, Herts, CM23 2SS, Tel. 01279 831091(h), 07787 747760(m)

M. Stear, 37 Wren Crescent, Bushey Heath, Hertfordshire, WD23 1AN, Tel. 07866 657243(m), colts@barmyarmy.com

M. Vimpany, 16 Radclyffe Road, Wallington, Hants, PO16 8SG, Tel. 01329 310256(h) 07899 711116(m), vimpscricket@gmail.com

Hon. Vice Presidents

Brian J. Aspital Richard Bayliss Paul Box-Grainger Keith Bradshaw Graham Brown Doreen Browne Peter Browne Colin Buckle Ken Carr Alan B. Crompton OAM Harry Davies Roger Dakin Simon Dyson Trevor Fairchild Henry Fox David H. Franklin P. Grant Sheila Hill MBE Graham Jackson Lord MacLaurin P.J. Moller OBE Graham Pauncefort Keith Phillips Alan L. Price Derek R. Pyne Swan Richards Paul Sheridan D.J. Stratford David R. Thomas Martyn A. Thorpe Jon Varney Colin Watkins Humphrey Weedon David H. Willis Brian Wilson Steve Wright

Reporting Accountants: Blue Spire Limited, Cawley Priory, South Pallant, Chichester, West Sussex, PO19 1SY. Tel: 01243 781234, Fax: 01243 791770

His Royal Highness The Prince Philip Duke Of Edinburgh, KG.



Photo by kind permission of the Royal Household Cricket Club

Patron The Club Cricket Conference

Editorial

In 2020 a miniscule creature, invisible to the naked eye and previously unknown, succeeded where Hitler and all his legions and bombers failed: it halted the production of the Club Cricket Conference Yearbook. Since you obviously have access to the internet you can see that for the first and, I sincerely hope, only time the book is published electronically.

What can one say? Only ten months ago, as the dust settled on the 2019 Lunch, I began to plan the 2020 Yearbook full of hope and enthusiasm for the future and now here we are; the summer is almost over, half the league season was been wiped out, all the major cup competitions were furloughed and we've all been locked down for the past six months.

A special feature article in this publication hails all the way from Oz. An old friend of the CCC, Mike Langford of Northern District CC in Sydney, has written a piece about the amazing generosity and support of the State Government for the redevelopment of the club. When people wonder why Australia, with a third of our population, consistently (too consistently, some might argue) best us, they should think on this. Remember, they are only one of many clubs throughout the country.

As I originally wrote these words, the pony express brought the welcome news that club cricket was able to restart from July 11th. You can keep abreast of developments by subscribing to the Club Cricket Conference Newsletter. If you are not already in receipt of this, or if you know of others who would be interested, please drop Donna Black an email on donna.black@club-cricket.co.uk.

The office has been closed these many months and Stan, Gulfraz and Donna have been struggling manfully from home to keep the show on the road – our grateful thanks to all of them.

Early last year I happened to be at Lord's and ran into Tom Harrison, the ECB's CEO; unfortunately for him, I saw him before he saw me! He asked how life was with the CCC and I bleated out my usual tales of woe about the cost of producing the Yearbook whereupon Tom offered to pay for the 2019 edition! My grateful thanks to him for his generosity.

Anyway, in the meantime back to the TV set to watch the umpteenth re-run of the Wizard of Oz!

Charlie Puckett Editor

Club Cricket Conference President 2020 Roger Dakin

First let me say what an honour it is to be invited to be and elected as President of the Club Cricket Conference. It is a wonderful organisation that has been a force within Club Cricket for over 100 years.

As I write this we are in lockdown and so no cricket is on the immediate horizon. We all want to get back watching and playing our great sport as soon as possible but the wellbeing of the people of this country is at the foremost of our minds and especially the fantastic selfless work that is being done by the NHS and carers across the UK: we at the CCC salute you all.

Over the last 20 or so years that I have been involved with the CCC there have been huge changes at all levels of cricket. This is particularly applicable to club cricket: I have been a member of my club at East



Grinstead for 61 years, having served on the committee in many capacities for over 35 years. Now I am Vice-President – which means you get a letter twice a year asking for money!

I am also delighted to be President of the Seevant Over 60/70 cricket in England and also a Vice President of Brentham Cricket Club in Ealing.

I have seen at first hand the many things that have changed: Sunday and midweek friendlies have virtually disappeared as have the pre-season and post-season; we used to play until the end of September, often in lovely sunny weather.

The drink driving laws put an end to the after match bar sessions – with a jug for getting a fifty or five wickets: I didn't have to buy too many of those – getting out on 48 and receiving the cry of 'jug avoidance'!

Then the advent of the leagues now means that many players have to leave home at 9.00am and not get back until 12 hours later. Not all the youngsters these days want to spend their Saturdays doing that: we need to address that, especially in the teams below 1st XI level, to ensure we do not lose them from our game.

One of the biggest and best additions to club cricket is the huge amount of interest in women's and youth cricket. Most clubs now have women in their wellcoached junior sections and the numbers in those sections are increasing all the time. The CCC have been right at the front of this with the formation of the CCC Women's matches and the Annual Spin Awards for youngsters going to India for specialist coaching.

The 'Red Tape' that is handed to clubs has made life very difficult for the club administrators, particularly at junior level I for one hope that some of the most stringent rules can be relaxed to ease the life of some of these amazing and dedicated volunteers. The CCC are working very closely with the ECB and with the CCC's Gulfraz Riaz to recognise the enormous contribution that is made by the many ethnic and evening leagues and players that are all over the CCC area. These players were virtually unnoticed bby the cricket "establishment" until our innovative work. Mentioning the ECB – the Conference have been working very closely with them to improve the many aspects of the recreational game on and off the field.

The forming of the CCC Charity, basically driven by Robbie Book, has been a great new initiative, particularly with the supply of many defibrillators which will be saving lives at very many clubs.

The office, manned by Stan Nicholson, Donna Black and Gulfraz Riaz, do a terrific, largely unsung, role in managing the administration of fixtures, matches and finances as well as communicating with members and the many hundreds of clubs involved. They also help give advice and settle the occasional cricket dispute!

My main involvement has been with the CCC lunch which is held every year on the last Monday in November. I have been honoured to MC this lunch for about 20 years – during which time we have moved from the Café Royal to the Porter Tun Room, The National Hotel (we do try hard not to mention that one!) and have now been resident for some years at the Home of Cricket – Lord's.

It is a brilliant lunch, not only providing the very highest level of entertainment but also is the major fundraising event of the year for the CCC.

There have been Many memorable moments – particularly in our Centenary Year when our Patron, His Royal Highness the Duke of Edinburgh, graced us with his attendance. The speakers that day were Sir Tim Rice and Geoff Miller – the doyen of cricket speakers – and what a lunch it was with some 640 attending – we had a proper red-coated Toastmaster, Brian Greenan, and I was not allowed on the microphone until HRH had left the building. I have no idea why!!

We have had other royalty – last year Mike Tindall; we had Dom Such, a monk and former headmaster, and many other brilliant entertainers and sports people. The lunch is now firmly established one of the finest cricket social events of the year: if you have never been, I urge you to come along: you will have a great time for sure – it is real 'value for money'. The lunch is a huge undertaking and I have been lucky to serve on the lunch committee for many years with a dedicated group of people. Stuart Whitehead and Charlie Puckett are the main driving forces along with, until last year, (when he went off to organise the Ealing Cricket Club 150th anniversary celebrations) John Poore, David Collier and recently David Perrin.

These guys are really doing a wonderful job.

So that's about it As I say, it is very exciting to be President for 2020: it could be memorable for the small amount of cricket played!!!

Please support the matches for men and women and the social events: they are all on the website.

I am a great believer in moving all sport forward – I am not one of those who say "it was better in our day" – it was different in our day. I love cricket now as much as I did when I played it; that is all cricket: country, county and club – championship, T20, 50 over, The Hundred. It is all there for our entertainment. Some will enjoy different types; I enjoy it all!

Some of you will have noticed I have managed to get through this entire piece without mentioning hockey goalkeeping and 16 goals!

The following is a guidance note for clubs preparing to restart. If you like it, the Editor made the decision to include it; if you don't, it was sent to me by Howard Smith of the Kent Cricket League.





Instructions for Kent 60+ players on resumption of cricket.

1. Players will arrive alone in their cars at 10.00am for a 1.00pm start.



- 2. They will come fully changed
- 3. If they wish to bring a wife or partner then that wife or partner must travel in the other family car. Motor bikes and sidecars will be accepted but must be completely sanitised.
- 4. Cars will be parked 6 feet from one another. Motor bikes will have their separate bays.
- 5. On disembarking from their motor the player will assemble in front of the Clubhouse forming a circle with their team mates but adhering to social distancing.
- 6. The opposition will do the same.
- 7. Scorers will distance themselves from these groups.
- 8. The Umpires, both wearing sanitised gloves, will call for both Captains to step forward.
- 9. On this instruction both Captains wearing sanitised gloves will step forward and proceed to the middle for a toss. I'm advised a toss when using sanitised rubber gloves is quite sensual.
- 10. On arriving at the wicket observing social distancing the foursome will see two white lines, one either side of the wicket which signify that the batsman will run outside of those lines.
- 11. The Home Umpire will take from his pocket a sanitized two pound coin and invite the visiting Captain to call.
- 12. If the visiting Captain wins the toss and decides to bat both Captains will wish each other all the best. The Home Umpire will return the sanitized two pound coin to his pocket and ask the visiting Umpire which end he would like. I've always been a bit worried about that request.
- 13. The dressing rooms are out of bounds except for inserting one's protective equipment and donning one's pads but only one player may do so at a time.
- 14. Men's toilets are open on a one in one out arrangement. If the instructions in the toilet request you stay 6 feet away it does not mean you stand 6 feet from the urinal and try to reach from an impossible distance.

- 15. Ladies toilets will remain closed so I suggest you bring a wide necked bottle.
- 16. The Home side will take the field and all will wear sanitized gloves except the wicket-keeper who will wear traditional wicket-keeping gloves duly sanitized.
- 17. The Home Umpire will remove from his pocket a sanitised orange Reader ball and toss it to the bowler.
- 18. The bowler will remove one glove from his bowling hand and procced to his mark.
- 19. The Umpire will not carry the bowler's jumper or hat so whatever the weather it will be best to leave these items in your kit bag.
- 20. The non-striker will stand away whilst the Umpire gives his partner a guard.
- 21. The Umpire will then retreat 6 yards back from the stumps so as not to be near the bowler when he approaches the crease.
- 22. If the bowler has an exceptionally long run he can bend his run round the Umpire and have enough time to straighten his run before releasing the ball.
- 23. Being 28 yards from the batsman may give the Umpire problems when deciding on an LBW shout. He may have doubts, think it going down the leg-side, not be sure if the batsman hit it or maybe just give a decision based on guesswork. This scenario is the only thing that won't change as a result of the virus.
- 24. At the end of the over the ball shall be returned to the Umpire and the bowler will leave the field of play to put a sanitised glove on his bowling hand. This may take a while so a substitute fielder will take his place also wearing sanitised gloves. When ready the bowler can return to the field of play during an over.
- 25. The wicket-keeper will stand 6 feet back which will make stumpings more problematical. The keeper will also wear a sanitised protector which may make his eyes water initially.
- 26. First slip will be third slip, second slip will be gully and gully will be deep point. There will be no square leg.
- 27. Only one fielder will be allowed to chase the ball at any one time.
- 28. Fielding with the boot is allowed provided the boots have been sanitised before entering the field of play.
- 29. In the unlikely event of one of our bowlers taking a wicket there will be no ludicrous high fives or back slapping, just 'well bowled Charlie, well caught Bert' or 'see what happens when you bowl it straight Keith'.
- 30. The use of saliva on the ball is not allowed. Sweat is also banned but the chance of our bowlers working up a sweat is unlikely.
- 31. The Umpire, after calling over, will move to square leg at the same time sanitising his pebbles or counter.
- 32. After 10 overs the scorers, who are social distancing the other side of the ground, will shout '10 overs'. The batsmen and fielding side will leave the field to replace their batting gloves, fielding gloves and wicket-keeping gloves although the

latter might still have a certain amount of sanitizer on them. This will take place after 20 and 30 overs in a 40 over game.

- 33. The scorers will also sanitise their pens, pencils, crayons, rubbers and laptops after 10 overs.
- 34. In the event of rain all players, batting and fielding will return to their cars. The scorers will get soaking wet as they are miles from anywhere and the Umpires will be like coiled springs watching the weather from their cars.
- 35. If they decide play is possible players will take the field wearing sanitised gloves. Play will continue for 40 overs with breaks after 10 overs.
- 36. In the event of an opposition player scoring a 50 or 100, which is likely, when we bowl, do not shake their hands or slap them on the back; 'lucky bastard' should be used instead.
- 37. Each player must bring his own tea. Tea will be taken after 40 overs with each Team, Umpires, Scorers socially distancing. The Kent players will be segregated into Players and Gentlemen. The Gentlemen will not be allowed to have their fag serve them tea. Players will eat their cheese sandwiches and water, Gentlemen will have a three course meal and wine.
- 38. After 45 minutes the Umpires will call 'Time' and the opposition will take the field wearing sanitised gloves and boots. The opposition had a left arm over which lead to some confusion when the batsmen ran a two. Both were on the wrong side of the wicket and collided. They had to leave the field, completely sanitise themselves and return to the wicket when a wicket fell as they had been replaced by the next two in the order.
- 39. Play ended after 40 overs. Stumps, bails, circle markers were left for the groundsman to collect. Both teams formed a line facing one another six feet apart and gave each other the clap they richly deserved along with 'well played', 'good game', 'lucky bastards'.
- 40. By this time it was 10.00pm, the bar was shut, showers not in use so the intrepid players sweating profusely, Umpires, Scorers got into their cars and drove home in pitch black vowing to return again next week as it had been so much fun.
- 41. The ECB directive for injured players had been made quite clear. If a fielder was injured with a broken finger, dislocated shoulder or other injury he was to self-administer first aid. If this was unsuccessful, he would leave the field, be replaced by a sanitised substitute, and go to hospital.
- 42. In the event of one of the opposition batsman collapsing at the crease the Home Captain will leave the field of play, collect his sanitised defibrillator lodged between the scorer's knees for safe keeping (her knees having been duly sanitised),, and place said defibrillator six feet from the collapsed player. That player will then inch his was to the defibrillator, remove the pads, adjust them on his chest and hit the shock button. If this fails and he passes to the other side one of his team mates should phone for an ambulance. On arrival the sanitised ambulance men would take away the stricken hero on a sanitised stretcher. After a moment's contemplation the game will resume with two new batsman at the crease.

THE 2G FLICX PITCH

The world's most portable, versatile, cricket pitch solution

The new and improved 2G Flicx Pitch is made from a softer tile and is manufactured in the UK. Suitable for a huge range of applications (Adult or Junior, Indoor or Outdoor, Hard or Softball) we provide a great value, flexible surface solution which can be rolled out on a huge range of under surfaces to create or improve your cricket facilities... Applications include

- Converting a grass field into a cricket pitch
- On the outfield for multiple junior matches
- To upgrade a worn/ under performing NTP
- High performing indoor cricket mat
- Rolled out on synthetic pitches or astro's
- On concrete playgrounds, beaches & in gardens

DOWNLOAD OUR 2020/21 BROCHURE FROM WWW.FLICX.COM



FOR SCHOOLS



FOR CLUBS

FLIC

FOR HOMES

Report from the Chairman 2020

I give below the report on 2019 which I wrote in February 2020. What a summer it could have been!

What a Cricket season last year provided!

What could have been just another summer turned into a potential heritage cricketing legacy in the making thanks to the England cricket teams, competitions at county and club level, and the potential – even though it is controversial – of the coming Hundred programme.

I am of the opinion that, given the insight which we at CCC are able to gain from our close liaison with the County Boards and the ECB, that the heritage question can, and indeed



should, be promoted and fuelled by Club Cricket across the country. Clubs have the unique facility to enrol children and parents into the cricket family. In order to do so Clubs need to promote themselves as the ideal place for youngsters to meet and play. It is also the place where parents can become involved in a local community in the knowledge that their children are looked after safely and with care. It is the duty of Clubs to make this happen.

In my role as Chairman of CCC I sit on the Board of the National Cricket Conference who have recently contracted with the ECB to provide services covering various aspects of administrative and practical assistance to county boards. NCC has contracted for 2 years at a rate of £165 per annum and CCC will supply the administration capability to NCC.

This contract has been hard won and allows us, together with our other partners, to show how our expertise and experience can help the cricket establishment to maximise the potential of clubs to feed the elite game, encourage new players and drive junior cricket forward at the lowest levels of the game. We will become the voice of the Club game at the top table, and it is gratifying that the ECB have acknowledged our ability to complement their work.

The new Board of the CCC will have a large agenda this year.

Our successful cricket programme and the work which is done to provide fixtures and advice to clubs and teams will continue and expand. Our sister charitable organisation, The Club Cricket Charity, is continuing as a partner of the England and Wales Cricket Foundation with its programme of supply, distribution and training in the use of defibrillators. At time of writing we have requests for over 150 units across the country on top of the 130 units already supplied in the past year. This, apart from being a great achievement, has added to our credibility with the ECB and others as proof of our ability to get things done.

An extension of this exercise is to engage with County Boards in encouraging clubs to equip themselves, and this has already commenced with one County which will act as a template for repetition across the country.

The Charity has also become involved in a Character Through Cricket programme with clubs becoming hubs for local schools alongside their County Boards for coaching and training in human and social values thorough the medium of Cricket.

We will continue our support of the National Asian Cricket Council and the African Caribbean Cricket Association, as well as promoting our Women's and Girls' cricket programme. Given last year's surge in interest, I am still unconvinced by the argument that club cricket has a

diminished status in the UK. It is up to us to promote and publicise our role in the community and each club can do so. If you don't know how contact the office!

Finally, many thanks to Keir Hopley who has come to the end of his Presidential year. Ever present and still able to give sage advice at Board meetings we wish him a wonderful future.

Despite some health scares, Stan and Donna have kept the home fires burning and we wish them a healthy year.

Have a wonderful 2020

Robbie Book

CCC Chairman, March 2020

Test Cricket

China won the toss and decided to bat. At the toss Captain Johnson shook hands with his counterpart, a gesture he was later to regret. He was somewhat put out as he was used to getting things his own way and so consulted his senior players as to what would be a good score to restrict them to. The consensus was that anything under 20,000 was gettable. He then suggested that he needed to have someone to blame if things went wrong. He said that he normally blames the Groundsman but, on this occasion, decided to call in senior members of the Bowling Academy. He said: "If I keep saying that I consulted them no-one can blame me for making the wrong bowling changes and field placings. I will also make them come onto the field of play in between overs so that everyone can see that it is not me making bad decisions."

However, Johnson's team seemingly did everything wrong. Tactics adopted by most successful international teams such as Germany and South Korea were ignored. Left arm bowlers bowled right-handed, spinners opened the bowling and there were some bizarre field placings. The score started mounting alarmingly. Nevertheless, at every drinks interval the senior players explained that everything was going to plan and that the Bowling Academy had advised at every stage of the proceedings. The bowlers continued to serve up half-volleys saying that was what they had been told to do.

Nevertheless, the score didn't seem to be mounting as some had expected and the scorers were asked if all the runs scored had been included. They explained that they had been instructed not to include those scored by the senior players since they did not count towards the first-class averages.

At lunch one of the Bowling Academy whispered in the Captain's ear that something called Herd Immunity would overcome the flow of runs and so for a while all the players wandered around the field saying "Herd Immunity" although none of them knew what it meant. At the tea break an independent expert was interviewed in the Commentary Box and he explained that to achieve Herd Immunity all players would have to be given a bowl and that by the time Herd Immunity was achieved the score would be over 500,000 and that the Chinese would still be batting on Day Four. The Captain quickly shelved this plan and pretended that he had never subscribed to it.

Instead the Captain inexplicably started babbling in Latin and then said "In our last match everyone came on side when we kept repeating "Don't drop catches" over and over again". So, he introduced a series of Mantras which everyone had to learn and repeat between overs: "Stay in the Ring, Protect our Bowling Averages and Save Runs". Soon everyone in the crowd was saying them too.

Fielding became increasingly difficult; many substitute fielders were used and the Dressing Room became overcrowded. Someone suggested that a new pavilion should be built and so all of the club's financial resources for the next five years were spent on converting the local school. As more and more players needed to get kit from the team bag they found that there was a shortage of pads, boxes, helmets and other protective gear. Mat Hancock, the Kit Monitor, claimed that he had ordered enough but no one believed him.

When the Captain's best friend came on to bowl, he took a wicket with what the umpire decided was a no-ball. Everyone could see that his foot had landed over the line but the captain denied this and said that his friend was being discriminated against and that he had done nothing wrong.

When someone sent a message out to the captain that the score was nearing 30,000, he said "I've stopped looking at the scoreboard. I'm more concerned with what a prat I shall look if they score more than Italy".

Articles: Test Cricket, 2nd Test, 3rd Test and ODI are courtesy of James Sharp, Editor of Googlies & Chinamen and give an accurate (sic) and humorous version of this summer's Covid events in a cricketing environment.



SCHERS CAPS

RM

WHBROIDERL 2018

STABROIDER4

ME

HUNDREDS OF **CAPS & HATS OPTIONS**

GREAT VARIETY OF FABRICS

DIFFERENT STYLES & COLOURS WISOR CAR

over hars

A HATS

outer CAPS

omtex

Contact Us Prabit Nair - prabit@hotmail.com Praveen Shetty - innexp@yahoo.com Or Call Us on 07809110111

HIP-HOR

CAPS

<u>SKATE</u>

SOT CAPS

C)LERS

Scaps 92

CCC Cricket Report 2019

In extraordinary times such as these, with society in lockdown and no prospect of social distancing being relaxed in the foreseeable future, it has been an enjoyable task to glance back on the 2019 season and reflect upon the Conference's fixtures last summer. Most importantly, I was able to do so in the knowledge that Stan Nicholson, so important to our organisation in many ways, had recovered from serious illness and was ready - pads on and bat oiled - to stand side by side as we planned for another busy schedule.

CCC representative cricket was once again to the fore in 2019. The usual and most welcome gamut of County fixtures, covering all formats of the game, touring sides and development matches at Under 25 level, all contributed to an enjoyable and pretty successful summer for the Conference.

The season kicked off in mid-May against Hampshire 2 after a false start as a scheduled match against Hertfordshire was cancelled due to a lack of a venue. As a season opener then, the Hampshire game - played at Cranleigh CC on the lovely town green - proved to be a great fillip for our programme. A 50 over match, coloured clothing, white ball and a strong Hants side greeted a talented and young Conference team housing three debutants, all of whom played significant roles as the game unravelled.

Hants won the toss on a sunny morning and elected to bat. An outstanding bowling and fielding performance by the Conference ensued as they kept the lid firmly on the Hants batters, never allowing a significant acceleration in the run rate and always finding a wicket at the right moment. Hants were indebted to three batsmen for the bulk of their runs: L. McManus, 64 B Taylor, 55 and H Carne, 42 all batted well against a demanding and varied bowling attack which took all 10 Hants wickets by the 48th over, with 232 on the board. Debutant Nathan Smith (Radlett CC) led the attack well, alongside David Burton (Richmond CC) and Ed Wharton (Reed CC), with a plethora of spinners in skipper Jamies Southgate (Welwyn Garden City CC), Jasdev Basan (Hornchurch CC), Euan Munday (Teddington CC) and Darren Ironside (Billericay CC) all providing control and wickets, which were shared, as they pulled Hants up perhaps a little shy of a par score on a slightly slow wicket.



In reply, the CCC got off to a confident start, always up with the run rate and battina in a manner that exuded a calm air of control. mirroring the bowling performance of earlier in the day. There was however, a bit of a wobble as the Conference found itself three down with 100 on the board, despite all batters getting a start. We were then provided with a match winning stand between two players makina their debuts, Sahan Arachchige (East Molesey CC) and

I think he is out ?

Baber Choudhary (Old Brentwoods CC) who batted outstandingly to wrest control back for their side and then began to dominate an attack that was increasingly worn down as the batsmen gained the belief that the day could yet be theirs. Arachchige (87) and Choudhury (72 no) saw the Conference home in the 47th over to complete a hugely proficient win where all elements of the game came together and skills were executed to a high standard by a good team.

Essex 2 provided Conference's next opponents the following week, as CCC travelled to Billericay CC for the annual three day game against the County. Essex has always honoured the Conference by putting out very strong squads against us and it proved no different again. With eight of their side playing in either the championship winning team or the one day/T20 side during the season, Essex batted first on a pretty flat deck but with a hint of swing to help the bowlers early on. A steady start by Rishi Patel and Varun Chopra was undone as they fell to Nathan Smith and David Burton. Ravi Bopara was dismissed for 14 shortly after by debutant Arafat Bhuiyan (Bickley Park CC), leaving Essex 77-3. This became 77-4 as Smith immediately secured his second wicket and then 10 runs later he claimed his third of the day, highlighting a good degree of stamina and skill in a lengthy spell. Smith's withdrawal from the attack signalled a change in fortunes however as two of Essex's outstanding young pros combined to counter attack in thrilling style. Keeper/batsman Michael Pepper and bowling allrounder Arron Nijiar both completed fine centuries to ensure Day 1 ended with Essex in control. The declaration came early on Day 2 as the Conference took the ninth wicket, Essex settling on 329-9 after 104 overs. It was a very decent bowling performance from the Conference, led again by Smith (3-73) and swing bowler Bhuiyan (5-59).

The CCC got off to the worst possible start when Vineeth Manjunath (Richmond CC) was caught for a lengthy 0 off 23 deliveries. Hamza Ahmed (North Mimms CC) and skipper Ben Compton (Richmond CC) took the score to 34 before Ahmed fell for 23. Wickets fell at regular intervals throughout the innings with batsmen getting starts but not managing to convert, with the notable exception of Smith, Otago's allrounder, who batted beautifully for 67 in holding the reply together. He found fine support from Darren Ironside coming in low down at number 9, who supplied a half century as the Conference were bowled out for 205. Arron Nijjar proved his all-round capabilities with three wickets as all Essex bowlers got on the scores sheet.

Essex's 2nd innings was all about batting forcefully to provide time to bowl the Conference out on the last day. Their class was amply illustrated by a second wicket partnership between Chopra and Pepper of 214 against a toiling CCC attack shorn of Bhuiyan who had left the ground injured after the first innings. David Burton put in a fine effort however, bowling 20 of the 52 overs delivered (1-64).

Chasing 360 for victory, that thought was never realistic. The Essex management clearly wanted to see how their bowling attack lived up to expectations in seeing their team to an anticipated victory on the final day. The ball swung prodigiously for a while and wickets fell early on against a seam attack that all had First Class or List A experience. Ahmad Elach (Stanmore CC) and Compton provided a stabilising influence in the middle order and batted serenely for 43 and 39 respectively, supported further by Smith with 37. With time bleeding away, Nijjar slipped in with a couple of late wickets but the Conference were steered to a credible draw by Munday and Burton as Essex did everything they could to win the game.

Poor weather did for the next representative fixture against the Royal Navy CC, scheduled for the lovely Leatherhead CC, so the Conference's next outing was an Under 25 match against London University at Winchmore Hill CC. London University were under the tutelage of CCC 2019 President Keir Hopley and elected to bat first on winning the toss in a declaration game. They were indebted to 72 by their skipper Aryan Jaine, who never got the strong support he needed to put a challenging total on the board. The Conference's bowling was dominated by an outstanding spell of leg spin from former Kent 2 bowler Jan Gray (Sandwich CC) on debut. He returned figures of 7-45 as UoL were dismissed for 192 in the 52nd over.

The CCC's batting was littered with stroke makers and aggression and from the outset, appeared determined to bring the game to a close - one way or the other - as quickly as possible. Hamzah Ahmed (42), Muaaz Ali Ahmed (59, Waltham CC) and Bilaal Anwar (43, Loughton CC) all ensured the run chase was maintained at over 5 an over but none saw the game to its conclusion, falling to careless shorts. Despite that, the Conference secured victory in the 36th over, four wickets down.

One of the CCC's historic fixtures was up next as the visiting Australian Crusaders were hosted by the Conference at Teddington CC. The Crusaders have a Roll of Honour that could populate a full Australian Test team or two and so a keen contest was anticipated as the flipped on a balmy morning. Skipper Tom Phillippe (East Molesey CC) won the toss and elected to bat first in a 50 over contest. As it turned out, the Conference was indebted to a subliminal innings from Eddie Ballard (Bishops Stortford CC), an increasingly mercurial talent and CCC cap. The Conference, Ballard apart, struggled against Crusaders' bowling but Eddie's 154 made a nonsense of all other contributions as CCC closed on 293 off its allotted overs. A late burst of 34 from Jamie Southgate provided the next highest score on day when Ballard reminded us that when in form, he is a batsman to be feared with all the shots and more.

The Crusaders reply was given a decent base by Noah Croes who got to 55 before succumbing to the wiles of Ranjit Singh (Bickley Park CC) on debut. Their efforts to maintain the run chase resulted in wickets falling at regular intervals, six of the eventual nine falling to spin. Quite incredibly, Ballard managed to chivvy skipper Phillippe into giving him a bowl, resulting in four overs of all sorts, 31 runs and infuriatingly a wicket to boot. The CCC rode out victors by 54 runs on an excellent day when new friendships were made and old ones relit......

At the beginning of July, Conference travelled down to Polo Farm, Canterbury to face Kent 2 in a double header T20. Though undefeated thus far, the T20 format against the County sides has always been the CCC's weakest format, coming up against specialists within the prostaffs preparing for the T20 campaign. On the day Kent proved too strong in both games and won each match, by 79 runs and 6 wickets. It was the first time since beginning the double header format that Kent had won both games but the day highlighted the gulf in craft between decent club players and professionals who train in this unique format. Not one for the memory banks.

The CCC returned to winning ways the following week when Bishops Stortford CC hosted us against a World Sports Exchange X1, made up of overseas players placed in league cricket clubs across the country for the season. Dominic Chapman (Bishops

Stortford CC) won the toss and knowing the local conditions so well as club captain, he elected to bat first on a sunny day in a 50 overs game. Scoring was never easy as the wicket offered a bit and the bowling was of a high quality. Chapman led from the front with 55 at the top of the order. He was backed up by 40s from Alan Jones (Harlow CC) and Baber Choudhury as the Conference closed its innings on 238-8, perhaps below par against strong opposition.



Bexley's Adam Ball batting

However, an outstanding bowling performance from the CCC ensured that World Select X1 never got any impetus into their reply. Andrew Westphal (East Molesey CC) provided the dream opening spell, bowling fast and straight to claim the first two wickets to fall with just 6 runs on the board. No batsman managed 50 as wickets fell in a timely manner and the Conference secured the win in the 49th over, bowling WSX1 out for 205, winning by 33 runs. All Conference bowlers chipped in with wickets, led by Darren Ironside (3-40).

Middlesex 2 were the CCC's next opponents. A bright warm day met us at Southgate CC as both squads arrived, ready for a day that as it unfurled, provided some outstanding batting highlights. As with Kent 2, our fixture against Middlesex has in more recent times become a T20 double header. Game 1 saw the Conference bat first against a varied Middlesex attack led by the outright pace of Tom Barber (3-27). Then Conference scored 162-5 from its 20 overs, Jaahid Ali (West Herts CC) scoring a fine 53 and Simon Webster (Totteridge Millhillians CC) adding 43 on his debut. Despite the efforts of Lesbourne Edwards (Hornsey CC) and Matt Grant (Welwyn Garden CC) who both picked up a couple of wickets, Middlesex claimed victory by 4 wickets, chasing down the total in the 18th over.

Middlesex batted first in Game 2 and the day was lit up by one of the best innings I've ever witnessed in the T20 format at any level. Dan Lincoln - who plays his club cricket for Finchampstead CC - scored a brutal but sublime 118 in helping Middlesex to 251-3. The Conference bowlers had no answer to Dan's incredible range of shots as he repeated his feats of the year before in scoring a ton that helped him to his debut appearance for the full county side in the T20 competition a couple of weeks later. In reply and to their eternal credit, Conference batters were not cowed by the huge score. Hamza Ahmed - who has it in him to be devastating - and Jaahid Ali again batted with power and grace as the CCC made it past the 200 mark. It was never quite enough as an outstanding game was wrested by Middlesex late on, the Conference closing on 205-7.

Yet again, the CCC bounced back from a County defeat in the best possible way with an emphatic victory over The Army at Aldershot in mid July. Rain had left the ground wet and the start was delayed. The Conference skipper Andrew Westphal had no hesitation in putting The Army in on winning the toss and his decision was vindicated by a near perfect bowling display by him (4-6) and spinner Jasdev Bassan (4-10) that saw the opposition skittled for 92 in the 33rd over. The reply was equally

coruscating; led by Niall Solomon (East Molesey CC) with 48 not out, Conference secured the win by eight wickets in the 23rd over.

Very disappointingly, the CCC's next fixture, an Under 25 match against Bucks Academy, was abandoned due to persistent rain at Gerrards Cross CC, rain interventions had already reduced the game to 28 overs aside, the CCC closing its innings on 146-9 (Darren Ironside 40). Further rain ensured that Bucks could not begin their reply and the game sadly, was abandoned.

The last of the Men's representative fixtures of the season was against the MCC at Harlow CC, hosting the Conference for the first time. The day proved to be a wonderful celebration of our special sport, as the Conference had also helped in securing a game on Harlow's 2nd pitch for the touring California Cricket Association Under 11 squad, against the club. Added to that Harlow CC provided a truly exceptional day as hosts, selling tables for the mother of all lunches that ensured a full house for the day and a lengthy, very liquid evening to boot. Sadly, the Conference chose this day to put in its most lacklustre performance of the term, being bowled out for only 170 in the 36th over of a 50 overs game. On paper, it was inconceivable that such a thing might occur, with a strong and generally inform batting line up to call upon. A wide range of poor shots did for the Conference batting however, against disciplined bowling from "The Club". The CCC's bowlers proved equally ineffective as the MCC cantered to its required total with only two down and plenty of overs to spare so frustratingly, we could not put on the cricketing show that the day itself deserved.

Despite the disappointment of the final game in the calendar, the 2019 representative cricket season proved to be both an enjoyable and a successful one. The cricket programme continues to be a platform for club cricketers to highlight their ability and to experience a level of cricket in different formats, beyond their clubs' fixture card.

As ever the CCC is indebted to all those who enable it to provide representative cricketing opportunities to our members' players. Without doubt, the support of Hampshire CCC, Essex CCC, Kent CCC and Middlesex CCC and their willingness to provide a slot in their itineraries for the Conference, is a huge boost to those of us that are involved in the playing and management of this programme. We are deeply appreciative of the Counties for enabling us to have such quality 'blue ribbon' fixtures.

Equally important, the clubs that hosted us in 2019 provided wonderful support and use of their facilities and supplied top notch catering for us and our opposition. To Cranleigh CC, Billericay CC, Canterbury CC, Winchmore Hill CC, Teddington CC, Bishops Stortford CC, Southgate CC, Gerrards Cross CC and Harlow CC, many thanks for all you did to facilitate the CCC during the season.

Aside from the representative cricket, the CCC also had three President's fixtures, to help member clubs celebrate anniversaries of varying degrees. These matches provide Conference with an opportunity to look at players recommended by their clubs and to identify the next crop of cricketers to be moved up to representative level. Barnes CC were celebrating their centenary in 2019 and our match against the club produced an extraordinary tie. Barnes were bowled out in the first innings for 213, Dharmarajsinh Jhala (North Mymms CC) doing most of the damage with 4-35. The CCC's chase seemed to be well managed with Aditya Fair (Ilford CC) leading the reply with 42 but wickets fell regularly, leaving the last pair at the wicket in the 40th over, chasing the final two runs needed for victory. Skipper Will Hanson was royally run out chasing a second run off the last ball of the match as honours were shared.

Datchet CC celebrated its 150th anniversary in 2019 and the CCC were invited to support the celebrations with a game in the club's cricket week. Batting first, a young Conference side was dismissed for 232 in the 45th over, not enough on Datchet's small ground and excellent wicket. However, the Conference's bowling attack thought otherwise and led by Primal Patel (4-15), it dismissed Datchet for 193, leaving the CCC victors by 38 runs.

Our last President's fixture against Chessington CC was in celebration of the club's centenary. Another young CCC side took to the field batting first under the increasingly capable stewardship of Andrew Westphal. A score of 301-7 was reached from 45 overs with an outstanding contribution from Finnan Bryan (Beckenham CC) of 152, retired. In reply, the hosts struggled to match the high run rate and despite the late efforts of Dan Yarnley, the CCC's captain on its centenary tour to the West Indies in 2015, Chessington ended well short of the target, falling for 192 all out.

In closing and following from the earlier acknowledgements to those that support Conference cricket, we sincerely appreciate the engagement with our member clubs ongoing. If you have a wish to host a game, have an anniversary pending or have players you feel should be considered for representative cricket, our office would very much like to hear from you.

I wish to extend my personal thanks to all the umpires and scorers who were appointed to our games in 2019; I hope that you enjoyed our cricket and look forward to seeing many of you again as and when cricket can return. Thanks too, to 2019 President Keir Hopley, who attended many of the games, both as President and in opposition on one occasion and finally, sincerest and grateful thanks to Mark Stear our coach and to Stan Nicholson our office manager, who manages to magic players out of thin air at very short notice on multiple occasions, such is the fickle nature of availability. Stan is pivotal to the good running of our programme and we are indebted to him for his administrative prowess in ensuring a complicated programme is fulfilled, year in, year out.

In the face of a global pandemic and all the collateral effect that it is having on our society and communities, the CCC's immediate considerations are focussed at present - less on playing cricket this summer than on assisting in the support and survival of cricket clubs at all levels of the recreational game. Our best wishes to all who hold our game close to their hearts and to the myriad of volunteers that are the very soul and essence of the club game.

Stay safe, stay well.

Simon Prodger

Chairman, CCC Cricket Committee.

IMPROVE YOUR SKILLS WITH CPAZYCATCh.

The Ultimate Rebound Net for Cricket



PROFESSIONAL I WILDCHILD I UPSTART I FREESTYLE



CCC members Take £5 off your Crazy Catch order with the code "save5ccc"



You

To access this offer visit the NEW Crazy Catch UK store

https://ukstore.crazycatch.com/

1. Add your chosen products to your cart (choose the 2.0 range for cricket with 1 sane & 1 insane side)

2. At the checkout – add the promo code "save5ccc" for ±5 off across the range. * Excludes spare parts, vision balls purchased seperately

3. We also offer FREE SHIPPING and next working day delivery (order before 1pm)

4. Spend endless hours having fun and improving your cricket skills with Crazy Catch – the number one rebound net used by top cricketers to improve accuracy, reactions, hand-eye coordination, agility & vision.

"The Crazy Catch can be easily integrated into modern cricket training; It's a lot more than just a fielding tool!!! You can use it in the nets, to overload your batting drills and it gives any training drill added pressure, fun, challenge and stimulus" - Tammy Beaumont







WE PROVIDE THE FOLLOWING SERVICES:

ANNUAL ACCOUNTS

TAXATION

PAYROLL

BOOKKEEPING

FINANCIAL CONSULTANCY

mat_partnership@yahoo.com

Fellow Certified Public Accountants • Fellow Association of International Accountants 342 Hoe Street, Walthamstow, London E17 9PX Tel: 020 8520 2223 • Fax: 020 8520 0776

Q & A with Min Patel By Gulfraz Riaz

 ${\bf Q}$ - You have a long association with the CCC as a player and then as the coach. How did that develop?

Min - My involvement with the CCC began with an invitation by Max Hall to join the CCC 2001 tour to Australia as a player coach. It was a fantastic 30 day tour playing around the Adelaide and Sydney regions and at the time I was still playing for Kent CCC. In 2008 during the backend of my career I went on the return to Australia again, and it was at this time Alf Langley, who had just taken over as the CCC Chairman, wanted me to have a greater involvement with the CCC moving forward. He wanted to reshape the elite playing programme and he shared the same vision in finding a credible place for the elite playing programme for the Conference that sat somewhere near the top end of amateur game and just below the professional set ups.

Q - Having been a one County man, what have you been up to with Kent CCC since you retired and what is your current role?

Min - My playing days with Kent CCC ended in 2008/2009 due to injury and I decided initially to take a break from cricket having been involved in the game for the best part of 23 years. I then started to coach but not at the elite level as such, for example running u8 Easter classes and working with James Treadwell at Kent CCC. I started by coaching across all levels. Overall I worked across a broad spectrum of the game and did that for several years. At this stage the highlight was becoming the coach of the CCC and working with the best amateur cricketers in the South of England, with the added bonus of touring annually with them. I also tried to understand and help some



of these players who had aspirations to become professional cricketers in terms of learning about professional cricket and potentially give them a platform and opportunities to showcase their skills against County 2nd XIs. The CCC ended up playing against 2nd XIs from Kent CCC, Middlesex CCC, Surrey CCC and Essex CCC, showcasing the elite club cricketer.

After doing this for a number of years Kent CCC offered me the opportunity to become their 2nd XI coach 4 years ago, which offered grounding and stability which you get working for a professional set up that you do not get when working as a self-employed coach. It was also really lovely to be involved again with my County. This role has now evolved into the Head of Talent Pathway for Kent CCC which basically means overseeing the whole structure :our pathway from u13 level through to academy level and beyond.

Also over the last two years I have been coaching the England u19s as their spin coach, a role that I have thoroughly enjoyed as it means that for approximately 90-100 days a year I can split away from my role at Kent CCC and work with some of the best young spinners in England. At Kent CCC now, my role is more generic so it has been really good to get back to my specialism which has always been around spin bowling and being able to impart my experience and knowledge to young u18 - u19 spinners has been a real joy.

 ${\bf Q}$ - Tell us about the CCC Spin Scholarship to India which you help conduct each year.

Min - Yes we have been running what started as a pilot programme now for 10 years and it was about trying to give the best aspiring young spinners in the country an opportunity to be viewed by myself and other spin experts like John Emburey, Jigar Naik and the likes of Keith Medlycott. Some of these spinners have gone to play 2nd XI County Cricket and Imran Qayyum has gone on to play professionally at Kent CCC. The reality is that there are a fair amount of amateur club cricketers who probably do not get that window, who do not get an opportunity, and it does not always end up at your feet, especially if you are not involved with the National Counties programme. The Spin Scholarship programme is a fantastic showcase with the prize of an all paid for trip, spending 10 days at the Global Cricket School in Mumbai, who have been great partners of the CCC and the Spin Scholarship programme. The whole experience of cricket in Mumbai and the training facilities that are provided are exceptional and then the real challenge is to get these winners at into County Cricket: can we get them to preseason training programmes in a more elite environment to see where they really stack up? So the Spin Scholarship really allows us to measure the amateurs against the professionals and the benchmarks that need to be reached in an outdoor environment and I am proud of where the Spin Scholarship programme has taken us and of those players who have won and enjoyed the Mumbai experience and directed their cricket moving forward. It also nice for their efforts to be recognised with a presentation at the CCC annual lunch at Lord's.

Q - How did the idea of the Spin Scholarship come about?

Min - Well it landed with me to help support and run and I am sure the original concept came via Sachin Bajaj from the Global Cricket School, Mumbai and initiatives he would have with the ECB and some County Cricket Clubs. For me it is an excellent programme and one that has great relevance and value.

Q - What are the aims of the Spin Scholarship?

Min - Ideally we are heading in the direction where we can showcase the Spin Scholarship to Counties and for their Scouts, Pathway or Academy directors to attend and see these young spinners and almost it becoming part of their annual calendar, a bit like the MCC University trials that happen at Loughborough. We certainly need to see more Counties come see these spinners but we really need to filter the talent rigorously and robustly so that the very best spinners are able to showcase their talents on the centre stage.

Q - How would you describe the experience of training in India for a young budding spin bowler and do you recall your time having been born there?

Min - Yes I have great memories of growing up in Mumbai and I still have a lot of connections with the place and remember going there many times off season and training there. I know Sachin Bajaj well and his set up is an outstanding place to train and also an outstanding place as young man to find out about yourself. Can you deal with the pressure of the heat, the oppressiveness, the noise and if you are from rural England then Mumbai is as far away as it gets. It certainly is a great little learning experience even if you are there for say 10 days; you can get absorbed in all the cricket, absorbed in all of Mumbai life and for a lot of people because of how different it is it immediately becomes a place you either love or not: you don't get to ease into Mumbai life, it hits you in the face. From a cricket prospective you have bowlers everywhere and people willing to do anything you want from a cricketing angle and actually our relationship with Sachin and the Global Cricket School is a really special one that's evolved over the years and expanded with Sachin offering a couple of spots for the winners, so Sachin has been a great supporter of ours and we hope he continues to be for many years to come. We have also sent the winners to Mumbai at the same time as Counties who would be training out there so it has worked really well.

Q - Last year the Spin Scholarship trials had a different concept from previous years as they were focused more as a development day; how was that?

Min - What was interesting about last year's day was almost moving a little away from seeing quality spinners and then offering them a prize of going to the Global Cricket School in Mumbai and really seeing it as a two way street by trying out the development day approach. The main point was that even if they were not in the top five best spinners on the day, we wanted them to go away with some knowledge of what it took to get to the next level and it so became reciprocal where we wanted to provide a take home message that if you have aspirations to be a professional cricketer, to be around the professional environment, then these are the learnings, so we incorporated different aspects of performance cricket. In fact I hope that in some ways there was a reality check for some of those guys that cricket at the next level is not for them; and if that was the message one or two of them got them quite honestly they are better of getting that early then late and saving themselves a year or two and wishing they had known this sooner.

Q - It was good to see that the association with the ECB meant that you also had Mo Bobat who now is the National Performance Director for Men's Cricket present. How was that as an experience and what do you think it meant to the young players showing their skills?

Min- At the time Mo was the National Identification Lead for the ECB so that role at the time was more suited to the day he came and joined us for. I thoroughly enjoy being in Mo's company and thoroughly enjoyed having cricket conversations and listening to his ideas, which are not always off the page; and you can think a little bit laterally to a lot of people a lot of the time so having Mo there for sure added credibility to the environment and it was great to have him be part of the day. It was great to have Jigar Naik there too and he as an ex professional cricketer and spin bowler for Leicestershire CCC had words of wisdom for the young players as he's been on the journey these guys are trying to get on; and over the years we have had Keith Medlycott, and John Emburey so every one of those in their own individual way has something to offer and Mo actually not being a spinner offered a very different dynamic in terms of talking about talent ID at the National level.

DCU Pioneer



- We are restructuring cricket in Germany.
- Providing free cricket equipments
- Training new umpires.
- Organaising International Cricket tours.
- Youth Academies.
- School Investment.
- Grassroots & Integration.
- German Premiere League.





STAY CONTROL SAVE ALERT THE VIRUS LIVES

20

Gemeinsam gegen Corona - Wir bleiben zu Hause

GERMAN PREMIER LEAGUE

AGUE

1

Info@deutsche-cricket-union.de www.deutsche-cricket-union.de

Let's hope to catch a ball soon and not Covid!



Hi I am Dr. Afzal, an avid cricket fan, who has also played cricket for Warwickshire CCC in the past. I was also very fortunate to play for the NACC Ladies in its inaugural match against the MCC last summer. I am currently a GP in Birmingham.

As you are all aware we are presently in a pandemic caused by the SARS Coronavirus 2 which causes the COVID 19 disease, which has resulted in thousands of deaths worldwide. Covid 19 is caused by respiratory droplets and direct contact with the virus for example by coughing, sneezing, shaking hands, touching surfaces that an infected person has touched and then touching your mouth, eyes, or nose.

The key symptoms are a persistent cough, fever and changes in senses of either smell or taste. If anyone experiences these they will need to self-isolate for 7 days but if anyone in the household has symptoms then everyone else must self-isolate for 14 days. The reason for this is that if someone at home has had it then you're likely to catch it in the next few days.

We must remember that the majority of us (80%) will have mild or no symptoms and will make a full recovery; however those who get the severe form can get pneumonia resulting in complications including death.

It is important to wash your hands with soap and water for 20 seconds regularly (especially if you've been outside) as that will kill off the virus. Do not shake hands. When you are outside you must keep a 2 metre distance from those around you who are not living with you. As of the 1st of June we are (in England) allowed to have up to six people in the garden or outside but we must continue to maintain social distancing by keeping 2 metres apart. Face masks have some benefit mainly by protecting others from you but face masks and PPE are very important for carers and they should wear an apron, gloves and face mask. Gloves are of limited use unless you work in a clinical setting and hand hygiene is more important.

Anyone with Covid-19 symptoms must now apply for a test. If it is positive continue to self-isolate and make people aware who may have had contact with you in the last few days as they need to get tested and potentially self-isolate.

We need particularly to protect those who are vulnerable such as those with medical conditions like asthma, COPD, heart problems and diabetes. Those with cancer who are undergoing chemotherapy and those with blood cancers and very severe lung conditions were previously advised to practice shielding which is where you should not leave the house for 12 weeks (for full list of conditions that needed to shield see the NHS website). However as of the 1st June these patients have been told they can leave the house. I would however exercise a lot of caution as the number of new cases a day are still high and these patients are very vulnerable.

If you develop symptoms then don't worry, self-isolate, rest and drink plenty of fluids. Paracetamol can be taken for pain or fever (Ibuprofen is currently discouraged for COVID 19 symptoms). If you develop any symptoms which you may not normally experience with a viral infection such as shortness of breath, persistent fever, chest tightness or severe fatigue you must call your GP or 111 if it is out of hours. Please do not buy any medicines online to treat Covid 19 because there is no known cure yet and medication brought online can have serious side effects.

Covid 19 has had a huge impact on sport but things are slowly beginning to restart. At present it would not be feasible to have people at stadiums as it will be impossible to practise social distancing; however if a system can be arranged whereby everyone is sat 2 metres apart then I can't see why sports stadiums have to be completely empty in the coming months. In terms of direct impact on cricket, the ICC have said players are no longer allowed to put spit on the ball. It is an interim measure until the pandemic is over and completely makes sense as saliva is one of the main ways Covid 19 infects people but old habits do die-hard of course so let's be forgiving and not panic if players do forget, in those circumstance they may want to use some hand sanitiser, which the umpires may want to carry.

I hope you all stay safe and let's hope for a quick end to this pandemic so we can get back to playing and watching some cricket!

Dr. Samara Afzal
The Conference Cup Draw 2020 Look What you Missed!

35 clubs entered the competition in 2020.

Round 1, to be played on 24 May (Home team first):

- 1. Hutton v Enfield
- 2. Braywood v Camberley
- 3. Walton-on-Thames v South Hampstead

Round 2, to be played on 14 June (Home team first):

- 1. Crouch End v Winner of Round 1 Game 2
- 2. Blackheath v Upminster
- 3. Three Bridges v Wimbledon
- 4. Waltham v Stanmore
- 5. Banstead v Alexandra Park
- 6. Minster (Sheppy) v Bishop's Stortford
- 7, Winner of Round 1 Game 3 v Finchley
- 8. Oxted & Limpsfield v Bexley
- 9. East Molesey v Sunbury
- 10. Sandwich Town v Hoddesdon
- 11. Wanstead v Winner of Round 1 Game 1
- 12. Shenfield v Sawston & Babraham
- 13. Old Hamptonians v Cambridge
- 14. Bromley v Brentwood
- 15. Tunbridge Wells v Old Wimbledonians
- 16. Broxborne v Acton

Subsequent draws are similar to the FA Cup, hence winners do not know their next opponents, or whether drawn home or away, until the draw for the next round is made.

Round 3 to be played on or before 5 July Quarter Finals to be played on or before 26 July Semi Finals to be played on or before 16 August

Final to be played on Sunday 13 September, at a venue tbc.

The Conference Cup Final 2019 Bexley CC v Cambridge CC

Blackheath CC hosted this match on Sunday 15th September, on a warm sunny late summer's day.

Bexley won the toss and elected to bat on a well prepared / good looking wicket. Opening batters Calum Basey and captain Adam Riley brought up a fine 50 run partnership in the 12th over, but two overs later Riley was caught behind by Michael Turner off first change bowler Jake Lawrence in his second over; and the same combination dismissed George Haley, first delivery. This brought Adam Ball to the crease for a 97 run / 20 over partnership, which he dominated; 9 x 4s in his 64 runs. Cambridge rotated their bowling to no avail, and it required the return of opening seamer Henry Campbell to dismiss Ball, then Basey (52), in his final two overs. However Bexley had the upper-hand, and 73 runs came off the final 10 overs, with handy contributions from Matthew Stiddard (33) and Shaun Evans (24).



Bexley's Adam Riley batting

To be honest, Cambridge were never in it with their batting performance. 16 year old Jaskran Singh took a wicket in his first over, then the experience of Jason Benn and Adam Ball decimated the remaining Cambridge top and middle order: 43 for 7 wickets in 16 overs. The left arm spin of Freddie Foster wrapped-up the last three wickets.



Bexley's Jason Benn bowling

No doubt Cambridge will come again in this competition, as their name (as Cambridge Granta) is on the Bertie Joel Cup four times. For Bexley this was sweet success following their runners-up place last year.

For his billigerent innings and four wickets, Adam Ball, was awarded the 'Man-of-the-Match'.



(I) Bexley captain Adam Riley celebrating (r) Man of the match Adam Ball of Bexley with Keir Hopley -38-

The Conference Cup Final 2019 Bexley CC		
beniey CC		
Calum Baseyb Henry CampbellAdam Riley*ct Michael Turnerb Jake LawrenceGeorge Haleyct Michael Turnerb Jake LawrenceAdam Ballct Michael Turnerb Henry LawrenceAdam Ballct Kieren Mackenzieb Jake LawrenceMatthew Stiddard+ct Kieren Mackenzieb Jake LawrenceShaun Evansst Michael Turnerb Kieren MackenzieJack Bellnot outFreddie Fosternot outJason Benndid not batJaskaran Singhdid not batDavid Crawleydid not bat	52 25 0 64 33 24 15 7	
Extras (4b, 4lb 10w) Total (6 wkts, 45 overs)	18 238	
Bowling: Henry Campbell 9-0-35-2, Evan Hill 5-0-16-0, Jake Lawrence 9-0- Alexander Thomas 5-0-18-0, Kieren Mackenzie 8-0-42-1, John Tu 4-0-22-0, Lewys Hill 5-0-50-0 FoW: 57, 57, 154, 165, 201, 223		
Cambridge CC		
Kieren Mackenziect Adam Ballb Jason BennDouglas Ricect George Haleyb Jaskaran SinghSacha James AbbasiIbwb Adam BallJohnny Atkinsonb Jason BennMichael Turner+Ibwb Adam BallLewys Hill*Ibwb Freddie FosterJake Lawrencect Calum Baseyb Adam BallJohn Turnerct Calum Baseyb Adam BallAlexander Thomasnot outEvan Hillct Matthew Stiddardb Freddie FosterHenry Campbellct Calum Baseyb Freddie Foster	5 0 10 3 5 19 0 6 11 2 0	
Extras (4w, 2nb) Total (all out, 25.3 overs)	6 67	
Freddie Foster 5.3-1-11-3, David Crawley 4-0-12-0		
FoW : 6, 11, 19, 26, 27, 27, 43, 63, 63, 67		
Umpires:Matti Watton (Middx) & Paul Witney (Surrey)Scorers:Fred White (Bexley) & Chris Wilson (Cambridge)		
Result: Bexley CC won by 171 runs		



The Rob George Foundation was set up in loving memory of Rob George, a member of Colchester & East Essex Cricket Club, and the son of Pip George, Chairman of Essex Cricket in the Community (formerly the Essex County Cricket Board) and a Board member of the Club Cricket Conference. Rob died aged 21 on 9th December 2013 following a long battle with leukaemia.

The Foundation has two distinct objectives. These are:

- 1. To provide practical and/or financial support to young people with life threatening or terminal illnesses.
- 2. To provide financial support to young people who demonstrate exceptional commitment and/or ability in the worlds of sport or the performing arts but may be held back by their financial situation from pursuing their goals.

The Foundation is proud to have Graham Gooch as its Patron. England cricketer Tammy Beaumont was a friend of Rob's at Loughborough University and is also a supporter of the Foundation. In its first five years of operation, a sum approaching £1.1 million has been raised which has enabled the Foundation to make awards to some eight hundred and eighty deserving young people, including several cricketers. The cricket family, particularly members in Essex, has played an important part in helping the Foundation reach these figures. The Foundation was proud to support one of the young members of the Conference's tour of the Caribbean in November 2015, as well as Kashif Ali, a promising all-rounder from Watford Town CC, who was introduced to the Foundation by the Conference's Gulfraz Riaz. Kashif was chosen as an MCC Young Cricketer for the 2018 season. More recently, the Foundation has been pleased to support Imran Maroof of Gloucestershire Second XI, a young Afghan refugee.

The Foundation is now receiving an average of one application each and every working day. Most of these are applications deserving of support. To satisfy this sort of demand – an average grant is currently £638 - the pressure for more and more fund-raising becomes ever more intense, and so the generous support from its supporters is ever more necessary. Fundraising is particularly difficult during the current Covid 19 crisis. The trustees would love to hear from any club who would like to discuss any form of fund-raising activity.

Further details of the Foundation's work can be found on the website:

www.therobgeorgefoundation.org

and details of some of the awards already made can be read there on the "Making a Difference" page. The Foundation is also on Facebook and Twitter.





Gentlemen & Players



Gentlemen and Players is the home of fine traditional cap making. Specialising in:

* Traditional Sporting Caps * Presentation/Honour Caps * Sports Clothing *Sports Equipment *Cricket Equiment *Beanies/Baseball Caps/Snapbacks *Traditonal Wool Jumpers *Blazers and Ties





O@gentlemenplayerscapsclothing



https://www.gentlemenplayers.com/

Email:sales@gentlemenplayers.com





Read it and Weep

About 5 years ago we had a vision of NDCC being the top club in Sydney. Simple goals ... Good coaching, good facilities, strong administration and a good environment in which to play cricket.

The aim was to ensure that all cricketers maximised their potential. Last year we won an award, assessed by Cricket Australia, as being the No.1 rated club in NSW. We are a "Good Community Club". We do more than other clubs. We set up a relationship with Special Olympics and have been coaching cricketers with intellectual disabilities for over 12 years. We run "Leadership Programs" for young cricketers to assist their development. We hold coaching clinics for hundreds of local kids. We take an under 16 age group on an overseas tour every 2 years. We run development squads in the winter months. We have engaged local businesses in sponsorship. We have worked hard on our relationship with council and local government members.







In summary, we achieved many of our goals with the huge commitment from our amazing volunteers. There was one goal remaining that required a lot of money! ... the facilities at Mark Taylor Oval.

I have enclosed an excerpt from our overall strategic plan to produce one of the top facilities in Sydney Cricket.

It contains the elements that secured the large government grant. It talks about:

1. Having a vision

- Establish a hub for Cricket in northern Sydney via:
 - Recognised as a leader in women's cricket
 - Host women's international cricket match on Mark Taylor Oval by 2023
 - Continue to produce first class & franchise players
 - Continue to build the pathway with local & adjacent cricket bodies for male, female, youth, school and All Abilities cricket

2. The uniqueness of cricket

- Culturally important to Australia
- A part of every summer
- Uniquely inclusive:
 - Gender neutral
 - Multi-generational
 - Played globally
 - Culturally, ethnically diverse
 - Strong interest in schools
 - Wide community interest

3. A sense of history

4. A plan for the community

- Delivers new amenities
- Design to fit in with new look of Waitara Park precinct
- Maintains historical connections
- Accommodates co-tenants
- Continues community activities: youth clinics, Special Olympics
- A base for Hornsby Ku-ring-gai cricket
- Facility for learning, teaching

5. Critical success factors

- Facilities: re-development of Mark Taylor Oval;
- Coaching: high quality output to develop male & female player talent at youth & senior levels;
- Local nursery: strengthen relationships with HK&HDCA, schools & local coaches' association;
- Local government: consolidate relationship with Hornsby Council & other authorities;
- Increase catchment: links to Central Coast, Newcastle & lower Hunter cricket regions

6. The usage at Mark Taylor Oval

- Female and male Premier cricket since 1925
- Schools: Northern District Schools Cup since 1979
- Youth: Junior coaching clinics together with local coaches' association since 2010
- All Abilities Cricket: Special Olympics since 2006
- Personal Development Programs: NDCC Leadership Program since 2010

Hope this helps. Two key factors are ... perseverance and keep smiling!

Kind regards

Mike (Drifter) Langford Vice-President, NDCC







Representative Matches

Hampshire 2nd XI (at Cranleigh CC) on 14th May CCC won by 6 wkts

Hants 232 all out (47.1 overs) L McManus 64, B Taylor 55, J Bassan 3/44 CCC 236-4 (46.4 overs) S Arachchige 87, B Choudhary 72*

Essex 2nd XI (at Billericay CC) on 20th to 22nd May Match Drawn

Essex 1st innings 329-9 (103.5 overs) M Pepper 109, A Nijjar 118, A Bhuiyan 5/59, N Smith 3/73 CCC 1st innings 205 all out (82.2 overs) N Smith 67, D Ironside 52, A Nijjar 3/50 Essex 2nd innings 236-1 (52 overs) V Chopra 101*, M Pepper 101* CCC 2nd innings 180-9 (63 overs) A Elech 43, B Compton 39, J Plom 2/38, S Snater 2/30, P Walters 2/22

The Royal Navy CC (at Leatherhead CC) on 12th June Rain prevented any play

Australian Crusaders (at Teddington CC) on 26th June

CCC won by 54 runs

CCC 293-7 (50 overs) E Ballard 154, J Southgate 34, T Hall 3/53 Crusaders 239-9 (50 overs) R Stingel 58, N Cross 55, R Singh 2/53, E Munday 2/42

Kent 2nd XI (at Polo Farm, Canterbury) on 2nd July. 2 off T20 matches Match 1. Kent won by 79 runs

Kent 192/2 (20 overs) J Cox 117*, I Dilkes 54

CCC 113 all out (18.1 overs) J Southgate 28, J Lysaught 4/16, F Klassen 2/6

Match 2. Kent won by 6 wkts

CCC 155-8 (20 overs) H Ahmed 37, J Bassan 27, I Qayyum 3/28, H Scott 2/15, I Dilkes 2/44 Kent 156-4 (15 overs) A Rouse 80, I Dilkes 31*, L Chapman 2/36, Al Ali 2/29

World Sports XChange XI (at Bishop's Stortford CC) on 10th July CCC won by 33 runs

CCC 238-8 (50 overs) D Chatfield 55, B Choudhury 46, A Jones 43, S Shrestha 5/39 WSX 205 all out (48.2 overs) K Cele 39, N Hornbuckle 36, D Ironside 3/40, A Westphal 2/44

Middlesex 2nd XI (at Southgate CC) on 16th July. 2 off T20 matches Match 1. Middx won by 4 wkts

CCC 162-5 (20 overs) J Ali 53, S Webster 43, T Barber 3/27 Middx 164-6 (17.5 overs) A Carter 38*, L Hollman 27*. L Edwards 2/37, M Grant 2/16 **Match 2. Middx won by 46 runs** Middx 251-3 (20 overs) D Lincoln 118, J Davies 64*, L Hollman 31*, S Webster 2/57

CCC 205-7 (20 overs) H Ahmed 78, J Ali 42, T Walallawita 2/54, L Hollman 2/43

UK Armed Forces Cricket Association (at the Army Cricket Ground, Aldershot) on 18th July CCC won by 8 wkts

UKAF 92 all out (32.5 overs) A Westphal 4/6, J Bassan 4/10 CCC 94-2 (23.4 overs) N Solomon 48*

MCC (at Harlow CC) on st August MCC won by 8 wkts

CCC 170 all out (35.2 overs) J McNally 34, J Southgate 3/27, U Amjaid 4/15 MCC 174-2 (31.3 overs) B Graves 89, C Huntingdon 43*

Under 25 XI Matches

Buckinghamshire Academy (at Gerrads Cross CC) on 30th July Rain abandoned match

CCC 146-9 (28 overs) D Ironside 40*, S Croft 3/29

After 4 rain breaks and an early lunch, the CCC innings was reduced to 28 overs. Match abandoned as more rain again just as Bucks were about to start their innings.

Women's XI Matches

Oman National Women's XI (Watford Town CC) on 21st May (1 x T20) CCC won by 7 wkts

Oman 86-9 (20 overs) V Jesrani 32*, A Lague 2/5, S Sivakumar 2/10 CCC 87-3 (17.1 overs) Z Khan 39*

Army Ladies XI (at the Army Ground, Aldershot) on 29th May Rain abandoned match

CCC 128-3 (20 overs) E Vasey 42*, A Lague 42 Originally scheduled as a 40 overs match. Changed to a T20 after rain delayed start

and early lunch. Match abandoned as more rain again just as the Army were about to start their innings.

UK Armed Forces Cricket Association Women's XI (at the United Services Sports Ground, Portsmouth) on 8th August

CCC won by 86 runs CCC 191-6 (40 overs) D Ransley 84, E Vasey 27 UKAF 105 all out (38 overs) A Potgeiter 53*, R Hartnett 3/21, C Taylor 3/17

MCC (at the United Services Sports Ground, Portsmouth) on 9th August CCC won by 124 runs

CCC 244-3 (40 overs) J Bird 91, C Taylor 76, E Windsor 45 MCC 120-4 (40 overs) S Taylor 68*, A Lague 2/20

President's XI Matches

University of London CC (Winchmore Hill CC) on 17th June

UoL 192 all out (51.5 overs) A Jain 72, J Bethel 38, J Gray 7/45 CCC 193-4 (35.5 overs) M Ali Ahmed 59, B Anwar, 43, H Ahmed 42

Barnes CC on 25th July

Match Tied Barnes 213 all out (43.5 overs) A Doherty 48, C Chambers 45, D Jhala 4/35 CCC 213 all out (40 overs) A Nair 42, N Solomon 38, W Sist 4/25 (6 overs lost in the CCC innings due to lightning. CCC captain Will Hanson run out for 31 off the last ball of the match)

Datchet CC on 6th August CCC won by 38 runs CCC 231 all out (44.3 overs) J Scudder 35, S Harris 32, N Bashir 3/35 Datchet 193 all out (42.3 overs) V Aeri 56, J Thomas 44, P Patel 4/15

Chessington CC on 8h August CCC won by 109 runs

CCC 301-7 (45 overs) F Bryan 152, N Solomon 100, A Arora 3/53 Chessington 192 all out (43.5 overs) K Thomas 69, D Yarnley 37, N Solomon 3/5, S Managat 2/15

NCC Report for CCC Yearbook 2020



The past 12 months have been most significant in the developing remit of the National Cricket Conference (NCC). At the very top of its agenda was securing a contractual partnership with the ECB, effective from February 2020, that would provide vital funding to support its activities moving forward. Over the course of last summer, various NCC directors held meetings with some of the biggest County Boards, defined by participation, to discuss the NCC's role within the game, where it might support County Boards' own delivery programmes and how its own proposed delivery streams should be aligned best to support the recreational game in general. Through the last quarter of 2019, the NCC entered into a series of meetings and presentations with ECB executive management and, through the process, was able to identify and agree its role, engagement and funding for a two year period from February 2020 to end of January 2022.

The core elements of the NCC's engagement focussed around four principal strands:

- Bringing the voice of 'hard to reach' cricket entities to the ECB, to support national programmes and initiatives
- Through the offices of its member/partner, the National Asian Cricket Council (NACC), maintaining the specific agreements with the ECB to support its South Asian strategy delivery and to partner in activities that help realise the outcomes identified between the two bodies
- Maintaining and developing the League Cricket Conference (LCC) membership to promote common practice among leagues and to support, advise and nurture leagues not affiliated to the ECB or County Boards, bringing them within the fold of the governing body

• Developing and maintaining an audited register of disciplinary actions and outcomes across all leagues and providing support and administration for the establishment and implementation of an independent panel of final appeal for incidents that have exhausted Leagues' and County Boards' own disciplinary processes

Almost immediately upon the commencement of the new agreement, Coronavirus unleashed as a global pandemic which, at the time of writing, continues to populate our social order with collateral effects that are adjusting the very fabric of our lives and the communities within which we live. Fundamental consequences have already been felt in cricket: the professional game is in lockdown until at least the end of May; County Boards and ECB have had to furlough staff whilst trying to do all they reasonably can to ensure the wellbeing of the bedrock of the grass roots game; clubs challenged by their cashflows at a time when, typically, their fixed costs are high and their ability to generate income is now utterly depleted by circumstance; no junior programmes in schools or clubs due to lockdown; league committees challenged by the financial imbalances brought about by sustaining preseason costs for balls, equipment etc., whilst managing the reality that clubs may be unable to justify affiliation and membership fees or the payment of invoices for said balls..... Consequently, the NCC is working closely with the ECB against a revised agenda, doing its best to help identify the breadth of the challenges to recreational cricket and to assist the ECB in putting into place initiatives to support and buttress rank and file clubs and leagues up and down the country. The NCC's role within recreational cricket is to support positively participation in the game and to complement the work of the ECB and its County Boards.

Through this ongoing period of uncertainty, the NCC will strive to play its part in maintaining the essential flow of information and delivery of projects that will help ensure the survival of grass roots cricket; and that, as a sport, we will be in a position to contribute to our communities once again, as hubs for social and physical wellbeing and the pursuit of sporting activity for all elements of society. Now, more than ever, is a time for all elements of our game to pull together: none of us really knows what the cricketing landscape might look like once we are in position to resume playing again but the tireless work of thousands of volunteers in clubs and leagues will be what ensures we have a structured game to return to. The NCC provides a voice: it is a two way conduit flowing between the governing body and the clubs and leagues of this land. It is also a willing and supportive partner to the ECB's other stakeholders and through its founding members, The Club Cricket Conference, The League Cricket Conference and the National Asian Cricket Association, it is committed to playing its part in developing ever stronger relationships across the spectrum of the recreational game and to do, first and foremost, what's best for cricket. Best wishes to you al.; Stay safe, stay well and we hope to see you out in the middle again very soon.

Simon Prodger

MD, National Cricket Conference.

Second Test

Before the second test the Captain was beset with problems. His best friend was in disgrace for breaking the team rules. Many of his best players came from former colonial origins who opted to participate in illegal mass net sessions all over the country and insisted on batting outside the crease. The miscreants were also all waving banners that proclaimed, "All Wickets Count". He was also being hampered by the Ladies captain who had issued a proclamation that all overseas players would not be able play for fourteen days thus rendering them ineligible for selection. His best friend told him not to worry too much about these difficulties as they could be used as distractions from their problems and could be blamed for the ensuing chaos.

The Captain thrived on being popular and he usually overcame such problems by stating that they did not apply to him and that it was time to move forward but he feared that it might be going a little too far on this occasion. However, he did act decisively by announcing that he was going to take charge of matters from now on, but this only begged the question "Well who has been in charge up to now?" The Captain said that he wanted to make it very clear that he and his team had been working round the clock to get match fit.

Meanwhile, the team Joker, Mat Hancock, was keeping everyone amused with his claims of how many runs he had scored during his career. The biggest laugh came when he claimed that the total was now over 200,000. It transpired that for every single he scored he was now adding another because the batsman at the other end had run as well.

The first test had proved a total humiliation for the captain as the opposition had run up a world record score, didn't bother to declare and were still batting at the end of the match. He remembered someone saying in similar circumstances that they had lost the match but won the argument but couldn't recall who it was or work out whether it was applicable here.

During the first test the Captain discouraged the use of protective helmets for outfielders but for the second he insisted that all of his team wear them when fielding. He had also decreed that senior players had to bat without boxes and many of them were run out without facing a ball.

The Captain and his best friend then came up with a new wheeze for the Second Test to contain the run flow, which they maintained was a worldclass high-tech capability which they called Track and Trace. Every time a batsman scored a boundary a group of specially trained recruits would establish exactly where fielders were needed to be placed to stop it being repeated. Fielders were equipped with earpieces so that the specialists could contact them during play and guide them to precision positions. If the fielder then failed to stop the next boundary, he was asked to retire from the

continued...

field of play for the next two sessions. Unfortunately, the Captain's homegrown technology proved inadequate for the job and he had to arrange for American kit to replace it which would not be ready for the current test series.

One big change from the first test was that the captain declared that slip cordons could now include six rather than the previous two players. However, the overseas players just ignored him and got together in a huddle and waved their "All Wickets Count" banners. The Captain was perplexed over this and considered calling the American captain for advice but, for once, made the right decision and didn't.

To justify the nonsense that they were spouting the Captain and his cohorts started saying "right-thinking people would agree that...". Apparently right-thinking people were those who had been in the same dorm as them at school. Meanwhile, the club Treasurer who had spent all of the Club's resources for the next two generations on providing nets for everybody in the country kept saying that he would do whatever it takes to win the test series.

The "All Wickets Count" brigade turned their attentions to the statue of W.G. Grace claiming that he had, on occasion, disregarded the loss of his wicket and insisted that he continue batting at the crease. The captain found himself having to defend his idol's untenable position, further demonstrating his lack of understanding of the modern game.

Meanwhile, all this confusion was hiding the Captain's decision to leave the ICC at the end of the year. The negotiations were being delayed and there was every likelihood that there would be no test matches against ICC international opposition next year. Secretly the captain wanted this to be the outcome since then he would then be able to organise matches against other countries.

Spin Scholarship To India Development Day 8th September 2019



Supported by Min Patel (England & Kent CCC) Mo Bobat (ECB - National Performance Director, Men's), Jigar Naik (Leicestershire CCC) & Simon Jackson (MCC YC's Assistant Coach)





Past Winners of the CCC Spin Scholarship Award

- 2012 Rishi Sharath & Joe Ellis-Grewal
- 2013 Imran Qayyum & Kristian Martin
- 2014 Ali Sartaj & Zoravar Singh
- 2015 Marwan Mohammed & Nikhil Borkhatria
- 2016 Shan Ahmadzai, Anaesh Patel & Stephen Croft
- 2017 Luke Chapman & Misem Syed
- 2018 Joseph Lowe & Gurbaj Singh
- 2019 Alex Moor, Zen Malik, Nav Dwivedi

The Club Cricket Charity

Raising Money for the Amateur Game

2019 was a pivotal year in the activities of The Club Cricket Charity: as a recognised partner of the National Cricket Conference and the England and Wales Cricket Board, we consolidated our position as the go-to organisation to ensure that projects within the club cricket environment can be achieved. We have not only talked the talk – we have walked the walk!

Our activities in the provision, supply, training and distribution of portable defibrillators has ensured at least three saved lives to our knowledge. There are over 160 clubs in the UK with trained Defib personnel who can save lives!

The England and Wales Cricket Foundation has seen fit to provide us with a further grant of £200,000 to ensure that clubs around the country can protect their players, members, spectators and even local communities, to an unprecedented degree.

In this one field we have reached into the depths of the grass roots of cricket teams and clubs to an extraordinary level. We have proved to the ECB, in our role with NCC, that we are organisations available to them to complement their efforts with the County Boards in their facilities management which they probably hitherto had not realised.

One of the aims of the NCC is to provide the ECB with direct contact with hardto-reach cricket groups and we, as the Charity, are in a unique position to help NCC in this regard. The 2020/21 strategy of ECB's facilities group is going to be based on health, safety and security at all levels from the elite sector all the way down to the teams changing under trees on a Wednesday evening.

Specifically, the ECB is in a consultation process, the culmination of which will mean that all clubs in their orbit will be registered against a set of criteria conforming to health, safety and security. In other words, the emphasis and the rewards for compliance will depend on welfare. This could include, as an example, free liability insurance.

All this has relevance to our work with the Defib project. With our experience and knowledge from our Defib efforts, we can be of huge help to the NCC in their work with ECB.

In our quest to cover the needs of amateur cricket we have become involved with the embryonic Wandering Cricket Association. Within their data and knowledge, they cover a huge amount of untapped cricket resource based on the traditional and timeless game which we have lost over the years. Your Trustees have decided to help this new, but potentially important, amateur cricket association with their work and will be contributing from our unrestricted funds budget during 2020. In the background, we have continued our contact with The Character Through Cricket charity who endeavour to supply amazing resource to local authorities and County Boards. They provide the potential for clubs and schools to integrate and give strong motivational activities in social, community and behavioural advances through the medium of cricket.

Our activities have provided amazing results over the last year and we need funds in each of the areas described above to proceed with our work. We are approached daily for help alongside the needs of amateur cricket. Our amazing team of totally volunteer trustees want to help.

If you can see the benefit of how our work within the club and amateur cricket environment might fulfil your social charity funding programme, please contact us on enquiries@theclubcricketcharity.org

Clive Lewis Chairman of the Board of Trustees

> The Club Cricket Charity (registered charity No.1156096) Sort Code 20-40-71 Account Number 63870812



Funding Amateur Cricket

INTRODUCING NOTTSGRASSULTRA

BRINGING CRICKET INTO THE 21st CENTURY

The Pioneering NottsGrass Ultra surface is the only surface in ECB Approved systems to use state of the art texturised monofilament yarns.

- The longest lasting cricket surface available Laboratory Abrasion Results show one of the lowest level of fibre loss when tested to BS EN 13672.
- Perfect balance between seam & spin Designed & engineered to be low-slip for increased safety and to be responsive to spin and seam bowling. Slip Resistance (Rotational Resistance tested in accordance with BS EN 15301-1.
- Play more cricket! High strength & porous backing, minimising the effects of frost and ensuring maximum available playing time.
- Customise your practice area Available in two shades of green, terracotta, or blue to allow larger practice areas to be visually appealing.





WISDEN CRICKET

THE INDEPENDENT VOICE OF CRICKET

SUBSCRIBE, SAVE, SIT BACK...

and enjoy words of Wisden all year round!

Т

QUOTE CCC2020 WISDENCRICKE **TO SAVE UP TO** 33% WISDEN CRICK THE **ORDER NOW** QUOTING CCC2020 0129 331 2094 wisdensubs.com

The National Asian Cricket Council



South Asian Cricket Community: 'A Wish List'

In May 2018 the ECB launched its South Asian Action Plan (SAAP) which was welcomed by the National Asian Cricket Council (NACC) as an extensive, extremely insightful and comprehensive Action Plan. It was important that the ECB consulted the South Asian Cricketing Community (SACC) up and down the country and with the NACC being in a position to facilitate and offer extensive advice into the preparation and delivery of this Action Plan, we could finally start to address a whole number of issues that the SACC have had going back decades.

Our role and work are still very much in line with the ECB's SAAP and it is equally positive to see our partnerships with a number of County Boards up and down the country develop into very meaningful partnerships. I strongly feel that NACC can complement and support the work the County Boards are striving to do resulting in an open and meaningful understanding of the NACC's role which can cement the vital work that needs to be done and by truly understanding each other's roles we can strive to reach all the aims and objectives that have been highlighted in the ECB's SAAP. It is also now a crucial time for key stakeholders to review, reflect and even reboot the current position we find ourselves and then move forward in a way that keeps us on the road of aiming to help deliver the many needs of the SACC.

Although it would be wonderful to have a magic wand and transform many of the needs that the SACC desire, the actual list may not be exhausted and certainly not as unrealistic as it may seem.

From holding extensive dialogue with representatives of the SACC dating as far back as 2012, it has become clear on not only what the needs are but also who the very real and practical partners can be, which should then help address the needs of the SACC.

The ambitions of the SACC can be traced and tracked to the following:

- 1. Requiring assistance and help with grounds/facilities plus access to funding/training for improvement and maintenance of grounds.
- 2. Identifying and supporting talented young cricketers at an early stage for County Age Group Programmes, especially from inner cities. Clear pathways that are then supported with clarity and true intentions that will then benefit young players from the SACC.
- 3. Identifying and supporting aspiring or experienced coaches for all levels in the game from grassroots to elite level.

- 4. Identifying and supporting aspiring or experienced umpires for all levels in the game from grassroots to elite level.
- 5. Identifying and supporting aspiring or experienced scorers for all levels in the game from grassroots to elite level.
- 6. Opportunities for supporting or working within cricket administration.

For the above to truly take shape it is imperative that key stakeholders with the portfolio of authority and decision making are engaged with and a clear framework is put in place with real clarity and direction.



The stakeholders and partners that are key in supporting the ambitions are:

- 1. ECB
- 2. County Boards, County Cricket Clubs and Academies
- 3. Traditional local cricket leagues and administrators
- 4. Local Authorities and partners with sporting portfolios
- 5. ECB Coaches Association
- 6. ECB Association of Cricket Officials

Although great efforts have been made in working together with even some small successes, it is still imperative that the root cause of disconnect at various levels with key stakeholders is addressed. With the above information as guidance for dialogue and potential partnerships to develop only then can we see a true and fairer representation of the SACC across many fronts in England & Wales and thus truly bringing the cricketing family closer and not just be wishful thinking.

Gulfraz Riaz

Chairman, National Asian Cricket Council @NatAsianCC www.nacc.co

CCC Annual Lunch 2020

The Annual Lunch was due to be held at Lord's on November 30th as usual but it will not have escaped your attention that we have had a few problems in England of late and the decision has been taken to cancel the event for 2020.

We are hoping to hold it on March 1st next year when it will still be known as the 2020 Lunch (if it's good enough for the Tokyo Olympics, it's good enough for us). We will be in touch with everybody as time goes by, hopefully with good news. In any event, the 2021 Lunch will be held at Lord's on 29th November (fingers crossed) so book your places for both as soon as possible please.

The good news is that the 2020 President, Roger Dakin, will also be President in 2021 – the only time in non-war years anybody has been elected for consecutive terms of office.





National Asian Cricket Council Representative Games 2019



















DCU continues to deliver our primary goal of Integrating cricket in schools and with youth. DCU proudly join hands together with Agnes Wenke-Sekundarschule to integrate Cricket in German schools. Level 1, 2 and 3 trainers from England and the Deutsche Cricket Union Team is doing both the theory and practicals for the entire day. Thora Meißner is the event organizer of this great sporting event.

The DCU and partners including the The Lord's Taverners & Club Cricket Conference support the initiative "Integration durch Sport" in Germany with help for German schools, refugees and socially marginalised communities.





Leading Manufacturers of Cricket Ground Equipment



STUART CANVAS

CRICKET





Mobile Covers, Flat Sheets, Sight Screens, Mobile Batting Cages, Electronic Scoreboards, Cage Netting, Indoor Netting, 2G Flicx Pitch, Inflatable Tubes, NTP Carpet, BowDry, Boundary Rope, Traditional Scoreboards, The Hover Cover, Germination Sheets, Pavilion Clocks, Wicket Protection.



www.stuartcanvas.co.uk | info@stuartcanvas.couk | 01925 814525

CCC Cricket Diary 2020

(our Cricket Programme was arranged before COVID-19, hence all are subject to cancellation and/or amendment)

Match

Venue

May

Tues May 12	Rep. v Kent 2nd XI (2 x T20's)	tba
Wed May 13	Rep. v Holland (2 x T20's)	Garon Park, Southend
Sun May 24	The Conference Cup	Round One
Wed May 23	Women's XI v Army Ladies XI	Army Ground, Aldershot
Wed May 27	Sovereign Trophy	Round One
June		
Thurs June 4	Women's XI v British Police	Odiham & Greywell CC
Mon June 8	U-25 v American Colleges	Watford Town CC
Tue June 9	Rep. v World Sports Xchange	Saffron Walden CC
Sun June 14	The Conference Cup	Round Two
Wed June 17	Sovereign Trophy	Round Two
Wed June 24	Rep. v British Police	Uppingham Town CC

July

August

Wed Aug 5	Rep. XI v MCC	Datchet CC
Thur Aug 6	U-25 v Bucks Academy	Finchley CC
Wed Aug 12	President's XI v Frimley CC	Frimley CC
Sun Aug 16	The Conference Cup	Semi Finals
Thurs Aug 27	President's XI v Abbotts Langley CC	Abbotts Langley CC

September

Sun Sept 13	The Conference Cup	Final
-------------	--------------------	-------

The Sovereign Trophy Draw 2020

(the draw was made just before lockdown due to COVID-19, hence all are subject to cancellation and/or amendment)

Round One – May 27th

Match 1	Hertfordshire CL v Herts & Essex Border League
Match 2	BTCL (British Tamils CL) v Surrey County League

Surrey Championship, Divs 1-5 v Britannia CL Match 3

Round Two – June 17th

Match 4	NCL (National Cricket League) v Winner of Match 1
Match 5	Essex County CL v Caribbean Cup Competition XI
Match 6	South East Sunday CL CL v Winner of Match 2
Match 7	Kent CL, Divs 1-5 XI v Winner of Match 3

Semi Finals – July 8th

Match 8	Winner of Match 5 v Winner of Match 4
Match 9	Winner of Match 7 v Winner of Match 6

Final – July 29th

(at neutral venue after finalists known) Winner of Match 8 v Winner of Match 9

Match 10



The 42nd Club Cricket Conference Annual Lunch

CCC Annual Lunch 2019

Once again over 400 guests packed the Nursery Pavilion at Lord's for an afternoon of fun, entertainment and the opportunity to meet up with old friends, remind ourselves how good we used to be, and, after making new friends, tell them as well!

The 2015 Centenary Lunch was graced by the presence of HRH The Duke of Edinburgh; who knew that, only four short years later, another Royal Family member would come our way – in this case the husband of Princess Anne's daughter Zara, 2003 Rugby World Cup winner Mike Tindall.

For the first time we also had a musical interlude provided by saxophonist John Altman who entertained the guests with a medley of some of his more than 4,000 advertising jingles before bowing out with his most famous piece and something which, in these straightened times, could almost become a second national anthem: Always Look on the Bright Side of Life.



CCC International Tourists 1971-2016

* Seniors, ** U-25, + Women's tour. All others are Representative tours

S. Aitken 2015* Adnan Akram (Wanstead) 2012 Arfan Akram (Wanstead) 2012 M. Alexander (Bromley) 1989 R. Ali Khan (Wimbledon) 1985** R.J. Andrews (Wanstead) 1983 & 1985** R. Arnold 2010 H. Arrol 2015+ Z. Arshad (Tring Park) 2013 C. Ayliffe 2012 P.A.C. Bail (Richmond) 1994 N. Bainton 1987 & 2005 A. Baker (Metropolitan Polce) 1997 P.J. Baldwin (St. Albans) 1971 E. Ballard (Bishop's Stortford) 2013 & 2015 R. Barker (Midland Bank) 1989 & 1991 J. Barrow (Liphook & Ripley) 1989 & 1991 S. Benson 2015 W.M. Bigmore (Walton-on-Thames) 1981, 1983, 1987, 1989 & 2005 G.R. Black (Winchmore Hill) 1983 E. Blott 1999 H.G. Bonnet 1975, 1977 & 1979 M.M. Bonnet 1977, 1979 & 1985 J. Boreham (The Mote) 1995 M. Bottomley (Buckhurst Hill) 1977 S. Brewster (Finchley) 1995 C.F. Brown (Wimbledon) 1981, 1989, 1991 , & 1994 D.L. Burden 1997 D. Burge 2015* S. Burge (East Molesey) 2010, 2012, 2013 & 2015 A.J. Burridge (Watford Town) 1979 S. Burrow (North Middlesex) 1987 & 2015* P.J. Caley (St. Albans) 1997, 1999 & 2002 K.I. Cannon (Worthing) 1975 & 1977 A. Carr 2015+ D. Carter (Cheam) 1994, 1997, 2002, 2005 & 2015* A. Caswell (Bromley) 1985**& 1989 M. Chowdhury (Harold Wood) 2015 D.P. Clarke (Luton Town) 1975 & 1977 J. Coles (Gerrards Cross) 1985** R. Collard (Gidea Park & Romford) 1994, 1997, 1999, 2002 & 2015 R. Collins 1983 R. Collins 2010

C.A. Connor (Slough) 1983 T.A. Cordaroy (South Hampstead) 1971 B. Coward-Talbott (Chelmsford) 1995 J. Cox (Paddington) 1977 S. Crampton (Teddington) 2005 G. Crawford (Guildford) 1997, 1999 & 2005 K. Crossley (Gidea Park & Romford) 1985** R. Cruttenden (Holmesdale) 1977 & 1979 E. Cruz (Guildford) 2008 & 2012 M.E. Cullen (Alexandra Park) 1971 J.G. Cullip (Watford Town) 1981 R.A.G. Cummins (Beddington) 2008 J. Dangerfield (Southgate) 1994 N. Dave 2015+ C.S. Davies 1971 A.R. Day (Hornsey) 1971 T. Deighton (Ashstead) 2012 S.J.O. Diplock (Horsham) 1981 V.J. Dodds (Old Emauel) 1975 D.M. Douglas (Alexandra Park) 1975 G. Duckett 2015 D. Dunn (Stanmore) 2002 & 2010 M.T. Dunn (St. Albans) 1971 D. Edwards 1985 & 1987 E. Edwards 2015+ J.K. Edwards (Amersham) 1975 S. Edwards (Highgate) 1987 & 1991 V. Edwards 1985 & 1987 Ellis-Grewal (Wanstead) 2013 D.J. Evans (Edmonton) 1971 & 1975 J. Evans (Bromley) 2005 R. Evans (Cowley St. John) 1989 & 1991 R.J. Falconer (Cheam) 1997 N. Farnsworth (Sunbury-on-Thames) 2005 & 2008 J. Fry (Mitcham) 1987 & 1989 N. Gadsby (Royston) 1985** B. Gajipra 2015+ D.A. Gallop (Cowley St. John) 1983 P.J. Garner (Cowley St. John) 1983, 1987, 1989, 1991, 1994 & 2002 M.E. Gear (High Wycombe) 1983 A.C. Gibbs 2008 E.C. Gobin (Mitcham) 1981 C.F.E. Goldie (Richmond) 1991 A. Goldsmith (Guildford) 1994

D.J. Goldsmith 1983 & 1997 D. Goodchild (Eastcote) 2005 J. Goodman 1987, 1989 & 1991 D. Gorman (Reading) 1987 R. Gould (Sunbury) 2005 I. Graham (Bury St. Edmonds) 2002 J. Granger (Sunbury-on-Thames) 2008, 2010 & 2012 I. Gray 2015 C. Greenhill 2005 S. Hafeez (Harold Wood) 2005 G. Hall 2015* M. Hall (Sunbury-on-Thames) 1999, 2002, 2005, 2008, 2010 R. Halsall (Eastbourne) 1997 N. Hames (Basingstoke & North Hants) 1987 & 1997 J.A. Hamilton (Hounslow) 1977 G.A.R. Harris (Teddington) 1991 & 1994 R. Hartnett 2015+ P. Harvey (Wanstead) 1995 J. Haskell 2015+ A. Hawden 1971 R.E. Hayward (Ickenham) 1979 B.R. Heighes (Hounslow) 1979 S. Hicks 2002 P. Higgins 2015* J. Hill (Chingford) 1995 R. Hindley (Havant) 2008, 2012 & 2013 S. Hodge 2013 C. Holcomb (Sunbury-on-Thames) 2005 & 2008 J. Holland (Saffron Walden) 2008 A.E. Holley (Brentham) 1975 C.J. Hollins (Wimbledon) 1997 R.O. Hounsell 1983 J. Howgego (Folkestone) 1977 M. Huggins (Malden Wanderers) 2005 R.G. Humphrey (Guildford) 1977, 1979 & 1981 M. Hussain (Fives & Heronians) 2002 & 2010 W. Hussain (Slough) 2013 & 2015 N. James (Knowle & Dorridge) 2008 P. James (Loughton) 2005 B.C. Janes 1985** G.M. Jarrett (Forest Hill) 1971 A. Jones 1994 A. Jones 2015 C. Jones (Richmond) 2005 J.H. Jones (Reading) 1979, 1981, 1987 & 1991 G. Joyce (Bexley) 1997 & 1999

T. Kalam (Guildford) 2010 J. Keightley (Teddington) 2008 M. Kellaway (Calmore Sports) 1994, 1995** & 1997 M. Kelly+ 2015 J.R. Killbee (St, Lawrence & Highland Court) 1977 & 1979 R.F. Kingdon (Brentham) 1979 S. Kirwan (Hyde – Cheshire) 2012 G. Knight 2002 & 2013 M. Lane (Guildford) 1994 & 1999 A.B. Langley (Shepherds Bush) 1981, 1983, 1989, 1991 & 2008 N. Leat (Walthamstow) 1977 D.J. Light (Vauxhall Motors) 1971 J. Lincoln (St. Lawrence & Highland Court) 2008 G. Loveday (Finchampstead) 1991 R.V. Lynch 1979 DR. Madeley (East Molesey) 1983 N. Malik (Ealing) 1987 N. Martin 2015+ C.S. Mays (Finchley) 1994 S. McKecknie (Hartley Country Club) 2010 R. McLeod 1999 & 2008 S.A. Mehar (Harrow) 1977, 1979 & 1983 D. Miller Sawbridgeworth) 2010 & 2012 M.E. Milton (Finchley) 1981 & 1983 L. Mitchell (Welwyn Garden City) 2012 W. Morrick (Finchley) 2008 G.B.E. Morton (Banstead) 1975 D. Mott (Beckenham) 1985**, 1987 & 1989

A.J. Moulding (Enfield) 1991 & 2015*

D. Moxon (Mitcham) 1987 S. Munday (Teddington) 1994

S. Nasim 2015+ H. Newman 2015+

R. O'Sullivan (Bexley) 1994 & 1999
N. Oldridge (Maori Oxshott) 2005 & 2008
D, Oliver (Chichester Priory) 2002
P. Osborn 2015+
M. Osborne (Hornchurch) 2015
R. Pack (Finchampstead) 1995
C.J. Parry (Bank of England) 1971
M.M. Patel (Bexley) 2002, 2008, 2013 & 2015
N.P. Pattison (Tunbridge Wells)
1985** & 1989
M. Payne (Tring Park) 2015

R. Pearman (Hornsey) 1971 - 69 -

C.E.J. Pickers (Beckenham) 1985**, 1989, 1991 & 1997 S.G. Plumb (Bishops Stortford) 1983 J.C. Poore (Ealing) 1977 S. Poulter (Fives & Heronians) 1987 A. Price 2015+ A.L. Price (Ealing) 1975 S. Prodger 2012 & 2015 C.T. Puckett 1979, 1981 & 2012 I Qayyum (Finchley) 2013 M.K. Reed 1989 B.J. Reid (Brentham) 1971 A.B. Reynolds (Forest Hill) 1975 P. Rhodes 2015* A. Richards (Wanstead) 1999 & 2002 R.J. Richards (Westcliffe-on-Sea) 1971 A. Riley (Bexley) 2015 P. Robbins (Taunton Deane) 2010 Malcolm Roberts (Metropolitan Police) 1985**, 1987 & 1991 Mark Roberts (Richmond) 1997 L.A. Rogers (Winchmore Hill) 1975 N. Rose (Gidea Park & Romford) 1985** S. Routh (Tunbridge Wells) 2010, 2012 & 2015* J. Rowbotham 1994 T. Russell (High Wycombe) 1987 M. Russell-Vick (Homesdale) 1985** O. Saffell (Ockbrook & Borrowash) 2008 A. Saleem (Addiscombe) 2002 R. Savage (Winchester) 1989 C. Saville (Southgate) 1989 D. Sayers (Walthamstow) 1971 A.P. Scott (Ickenham) 1979 R. Sharma (Tunbridge Wells) 1994 G. Sheen (Hayes (Kent)) 1997 & 1999 D.K. Shelley 1979, 1981 & 1983 M. Simmons (Reading) 1994 D.E. Smith (Slough) 1977, 1979, 1981, 1983, 1985** & 1985 D.J. Smith (Cockfosters) 1979 & 1981 M. Smith (Tunbridge Wells) 2010, 2012 & 2013 R. Smith (Ardleigh Green) 2008 & 2015* J. Southgate (Welwyn Garden City) 2013 & 2015 J. Sparrow (Saffron Walden) 1999 & 2002 R. Sparrow (Saffron Walden) 2002 A.L. Speakman 1971 S. Stanway (Tring Park) 1999 & 2002 R. Staple (Hayes (Kent)) 1991

M. Stear (Stanmore) 1987, 1991, 1994, 1997, 2013 & 2015*
A.E.F. Stevens 1979 & 1995
G. Stevens (Eastbourne) 1999
M.A. Stevens (Ealing) 1985**
W. Stickler (Tunbridge Wells) 2013
A.J. Stockley (Epsom) 1975
L. Stone (Folkestone) 1999
L.G. Stubbs (South Hampstead) 1971
C. Swadkin (Blackheath) 1983 & 2015*
R.F. Syrett (Hounslow) 1975, 1977 & 1979

E.M. Taylor (Guildford) 1979 K. Thomas (Ilford) 1989 & 1994 B. Thomason (Southampton Touring) 1975 C.L. Toole (Finchley) 1971 S.M. Topliss (Gore Court) 1979 & 1981 D. Trivedi (Purley) 2002 J.B. Turner (Ernest Turner Sports) 1975 A. Tutt (Bexley) 2002

U. Valjee (Stanmore) 1997 & 1999 C. Villiers-Smith 2015+ A.N. Virk (Midland Bank) 1975

- J. Walford (Brentwood) 2008 & 2010 R.W. Walker (Gravesend) 1977 & 1979 J. Wardle (Forest Hill) 1975 P.A. Waterman (Wembley) 1983 S.V. Waterton (Cowley St. John) 1991 J. Webb (East Molesey) 1981 M. Webber (Woodford Wells) 1985** & 1987 H. Weedon 1983 A. West (Brentwood) 2015 A. Westphal (East Molesey) 2015 G. Wijisuriya (Finchley) 1994 E. Wharton (Horney) 2013 & 2015 R. Wharton (Hornsey) 2013 & 2015 I.M. Wilks (Lloyds Bank) 1981 A. Williams (Deanery) 1981 C. Williams (Tunbridge Wells) 2012 S. Williams (Bromley) 2002 B. Wilson 1999 C.A. Wilson (Southampton Touring) 1975 R. Wilson (Midland Bank) 1979 P. Wood 1977 & 1979
- D. Yarnley Chessington) 2015
- S. York (High Wycombe) 1977, 1981



Cricket trophies & medals for all clubs & events

Supplier of ... • Cricket trophies & medals • Glass, crystal & acrylic awards • 3d laser engraved crystal awards & USB's • Promotional gifts • Engraved brass wall plaques & signs



07984 913 578 www.trophy365.com sales@trophy365.com



trophy

365








THE FIGHT DOESN'T STOP WHEN THEY COME HOME

To Support THE ROYAL MARINES CHARITY

> Text: TRMC01 £5 to 70070



GLOBAL CRICKET SCHOOL

GCS PHILOSOPHY

- To provide a holistic cricketing experience that helps budding cricketers gain THE COMPETITIVE ADVANTAGE.
- Across different continents and different skill sets, Global Cricket School will provide EXPOSURE TO WORLD-CLASS FACILITIES AND QUALITY COACHES.
- The focus at Global Cricket School would be to go beyond the jargon and deliver POTENTIAL CRICKET STARS.
- MASS CRICKET DEVELOPMENT will be the guiding principle at all Global Cricket School centers.

GCS PROGRAM PROFILE

Coach Experience - This program is designed to upgrade the existing skills of coaches by creating an exhaustive training module that compares with international standards and yet focuses on imbibing nuances from different cricketing cultures.

Club Experience - This program is designed for the amateur with keen cricketing interest to sharpen his skills and provides comprehensive practice in all areas of the game.

Youth Experience - Designed for the budding cricketer to gain knowledge and experience in all facets of the game this program is customized to each individual's training needs

Professional Experience - This program is designed to provide intensive and value added training to the first class cricketer who is on the threshold of a professional cricketing career.



"We look for people who can help us to organize a program in India and Sachin Bajaj has organized our trip very very well through the England & Wales Cricket Board. Our players like Andrew Strauss, Eion Morgan & Matt Prior have benefited their time stay in India which has helped them to prepare for the series ahead with Pakistan. Playing in India is a very hard thing to do. As a player if you come to the sub continent and do well you feel complete as a player because you are going out of your natural environment & that's why I feel coming to Global Cricket School is a great experience for our young players." - Graham Thorpe Lead Batting Coach, England

"Global Cricket School gives an opportunity to every person to explore their talent. GCS provides fantastic facilities, it has good experience bowlers of high standards which helped me to improve my basics to play in the subcontinent. It helps you to expose yourself to play in these conditions. The love for the game and culture for cricket is second to none in the world. Sachin Bajaj is a CRICKET MAD; he is so passionate about the game and has done lot for the development of the game. Cricket is his Mastermind subject." - EION MORGAN, Player England Cricket Team



Brit

"The most unique thing about GCS is for guys who did not have the opportunity to come and play in India before, to come to the sub continent and play in a good environment, with good facilities, good number of net bowlers, it is really well organised. Sachin Bajaj will go out of the way to make sure you are comfortable, happy and every need you might have is looked after." - ANDREW STRAUSS, Captain, England Cricket Team

Sachin Bajaj : +91 9821121493 | sachin@globalcricketschool.com Kavita Nakhwa : +91 9821021946 | kavita@globalcricketschool.com / admin@globalcricketschool.com

Third Test

These were dark days for the captain. He just wanted to be loved by everybody and told what a brilliant leader he was but nothing would go right for him. The ungrateful members of his team and the spectators kept disagreeing with him on every decision and so he came up with a new strategy of saying at the team talks that he was being very clear and nobody should be in any doubt as to what the new strategy was but that didn't help as nobody could make out exactly what the strategy entailed since it contradicted what his colleagues were saying.

To make matters worse the Panel of Senior Bowlers who he had set up as the Patsies who he could blame for his daft decisions started denying that he was following their advice. In an interview before the match it was pointed out that if he was really following advice of the Panel of Senior Bowlers he would have instructed his batsmen not too hit the ball in the air or to field too close at short leg.

Because he couldn't get anybody out he changed his game plan and instead of having all the fielders round the bat he announced that they should spread out. This, on the face of it, seemed simple enough but many of them had lost their throwing arms and so they hung around near the bat. For what seemed an eternity he had repeated his tedious mantra: "Stay in the Ring, Protect our Bowling Averages, Save Runs" but this no longer seemed appropriate to his changed strategy and so he cunningly introduced a new one "Keep awake, Cut off the run flow, No overthrows", but even he had to admit that it lacked the pizzazz of the earlier one and nobody seemed to pick up on it.

The captain talked to the club treasurer and they decided that it would be a popular move if he said that anyone who wanted to give it a try could come on to bowl and they would pay them for their efforts. Not surprisingly this went down well, and soon huge numbers of spectators were queuing up for their go. The Club Treasurer had long since given up trying to control his expenditure and decided that since it would be some future incumbent of his position that had to deal with it, he might just as well dish out as much as people wanted.

The captain loved being in a position to make up the rules as he went along but he was finding it harder and harder to implement them without becoming unpopular. In particular, he wanted the fielders to spread out onto the outfield, but they kept congregating in big groups, particularly those from Leeds & Liverpool, the overseas players and those who liked the sandier spots. It was becoming increasingly clear that following his directives was optional but if he made an example of some then they would just point to his lack of action against the others.

continued...

Another puzzling feature of his leadership was the delay in implementing his decisions. For example, when Dominic Raab pointed out that he could take the new ball before lunch he said "OK we will take it just after tea". This left everyone baffled as to why he wouldn't take advantage of it during the intervening period.

He had always, previously, enjoyed mouthing off in public but found that this was continually getting him into hot water. When asked when the second and third elevens could start their matches he said they couldn't because they hadn't got any new balls but then a week later had to let them get on with it.

The press were unkind enough to remind him of previous failed strategies such as Herd Immunity and the rarely spoken of Track and Trace. He said that the Track & Trace was working well even though it didn't seem to be cutting off many boundaries. Regarding Herd Immunity he lamented that perhaps it wasn't such a bad idea after all as the opposition continued to pile up the runs.

Nevertheless, amidst all this gloom, the team joker, Mat Hancock, continued to keep everybody amused. In an interview about his boast of having scored over 100,000 runs he also claimed to have played in over 250 test matches. When questioned on this preposterous statement he explained that he included those he had watched on television, played on his computer and those for which his grandfather had got scorecards.

Meanwhile his Best Friend continued to plot in the background arranging for dissenters to be relieved of their positions and Chris Grayling who had been promised the role of Chairman of Pavilion Security was voted out by the ingrates.

Another problem was what to do about the second innings. The Panel wanted the bowlers to pitch the ball up, but the batsmen had huge bats and would keep hitting the ball out of the ground. And then just when things seemed to be settling down, Dominic Raab, who was in charge of away matches, said that if you played against teams south of the river you had to miss the next two home Games.



NEW RANGE FOR

2020

BUNDLE

OFFERS

DivideBuy

UK's official & exclusive supplier of SM Cricket equipment

FROM £100

SERVICE BY SM CRICKET

SHOP NOW AT www.smcricketukltd.co.uk

Finance Available on orders over £100

m

NIG

Sovereign Trophy Final 2019

With rain the day before the final, which was on the 31st July, the National Cricket League (NCL) won an important toss, and elected to field first at Leatherhead CC.

The South East Sunday Cricket League batted first and scored 192 for 8 in their allotted 45 overs, with Shabaz Alam anchoring the innings with 76 not out. The pick of the NCL bowlers was Adil Ali with 3 wickets for 33 runs.

In reply, the NCL batsmen also found it difficult, similar to the SESCL innings, and it needed a special performance to get close or chase-down the target. A useful 2nd wicket partnership of 47 runs and a 4th wicket stand of 75 runs were crucial in reaching the total in 41.1 overs, with an outstanding performance and batting display from opener Hamza Ahmed of 98 runs; he was awarded as Man of the Match.

The National Cricket League won by 4 wickets, to retain the Sovereign Trophy.

The spirit from both set of players was really positive, and both Leagues players and officers have creating new friendship amongst one another. This is the true spirit that the Sovereign Trophy has brought since 1975, and continues on, in building bridges.



Victorious NCL team



Man-of-the-Match, Hamza Ahmed

Played at Leatherhead CC on 31 July 2019 South East Sunday Cricket League Shaid Mohamood* ct & b Minhaz Bhad 6 Zawar Hussain ct Baber Choudhary b Sibet Hussain 31 Sajid Hussain ct Hamza Ahmed b Sagar Joshi 34 Shabaz Alam not out 76 Kamber Hussain lbw b Mohammed Asif 0 Rehan Akram+ ct & b Adil Ali 15 Uzair Amiad lbw b Abid Ali 6 Faisal Ali b Fazal Rehman lbw 4 Togeer Hussain ct b Adil Ali 1 not out Nouman Aslam 7 did not bat Wagar Mohammed Extras (3b 8w 1nb) 12 Total (8 wickets, 45 overs) 192 Bowling: Nabil Akhtar 5-0-18-0, Minhaz Bhad 9-1-36-1, Sibet Hussain 6-0-23-1, Mohammed Asif 6-0-26-1, Saaar Joshi 3-0-16-1, Fazal Rehman 8-0-37-1, Abil Ali 8-1-33-3 FoW: 21, 54, 82, 93, 117, 132, 145, 146 NCL (National Cricket League) Hamza Ahmed b Waaar Mohammed 98 Nahed Patel* b Faisal Ali 8 Mohammed Asif ct Shabaz Alam b Nouman Aslam 25 Baber Choudharv+ ct & b Nouman Aslam 2 Fazal Rehman ct & b Uzair Amjad 33 Mubasher Butt b Shabaz Alam 12 Saaar Joshi not out 5 Nabil Akhtar not out 0 Adil Ali did not bat Sibet Hussain did not bat Minhaz Bhad did not bat Extras (2b 2lb 6w, 1nb) 11 Total (6 wkts, 41.1 overs) 194 Bowling: Faisal Ali 7-0-31-1, Uzair Amjad 9-0-43-1, Nouman Aslam 9-3-19-2, Wagar Mohammed 7-0-42-1, Sajid Hussain 5.2-0-25-0, Togeer Hussain 2-0-16-0, Shabaz Alam 2.1-0-14-1 FoW: 25, 72, 78, 153, 178, 190 Umpires: Graeme Hall (Kent) & Matt Johnson (Surrey) Scorers: Sajid Patel (NCL) & Azhar Shah (SESCL) Result: NCL (National Cricket League) won by 4 wickets

The Sovereign Trophy Final 2019

Sovereign Trophy 2019 Earlier Rounds Results

Round one

NCL (National Cricket League) - Bye

Surrey Championship Divs 1-5 v BTCL (British Tamils Cricket League) at Walton-on-Thames CC SC 264-7 (30 overs) S Hassan 82, T Ward 53 BTCL 93 all out (20.2 overs) Srijeevan 33, B Monk 5/16, M Nicholls 3/28 Surrey Championship won by 171 runs

Essex County CL v Kent CL Divs 1-5 at Roding Valley CC ECCL 125 all out (35.5 overs) Stuart Graham 5/22 KCL 128-3 (16.2 overs) Dan Brabham 78* Kent CL won by 7 wkts

Herts & Essex CL v Britannia CL at Sawbridgeworth CC BCL 340-5 (45 overs) Talha Mumtaz 101*, Ahsan Zeb Chaudhry 91, Mansoor Jaji 46* H&ECL 197-5 (26 overs) Steve Ward 96 Herts & Essex won on superior run rate in a rain effected match

Thames Valley CL - Bye

Surrey County League v EPCL (Elite Premier Cricket League) Surrey County League conceded

Caribbean Cup Competition XI - Bye

Hertfordshire CL v South East Sunday CL Hertfordshire CL conceded

Round Two

NCL (National Cricket League) v Surrey Championship Divs 1-5 at Frenford CC SC 227 all out 44.1 overs) Tyler Ward 58, F Annandale 43, Adil Ali 3/36 NCL 137-5 (26 overs) Nahed Patel 60 NCL won on superior run rate in a rain effected match

Kent CL Divs 1-5 v Herts & Essex CL at Upchurch CC H&ECL 115 all out (30.5 overs) Raza 4/29 KCL 119-1 (18.3 overs) S Lockwood 90* Kent CL won by 9 wkts

Thames Valley CL v EPCL (Elite Premier Cricket League) at Farnham Common CC TVCL 207-9 (45 overs) EPCL 86 all out (28.5 overs) Will Neal 5/17 Thames Valley CL won by 121 runs

Caribbean Cup Competition XI v South East Sunday CL at Catford Wanderers CC SESCL 141 all out CCC 83 all out. Waqar 6/33 South East Sunday CL won by 58 runs

Semi Finals

Kent CL Divs 1-5 v NCL (National Cricket League) at Minister (Sheppy) CC KCL 289 all out (44 overs) Sam Lockwood 55, Kai Appleby 97, Minhaz Bhad 3/53, Oufa Khan 3/51

NCL 293-6 (40.2 overs) Hamza Ahmed 64, Fazal Rehman 79, Kai Appleby 3/33 NCL won by 4 wkts

South East Sunday CL v Thames Valley CL at Watford Town CC SESCL 294-8 (45 overs) Shaid Mahmood 118, Shabaz Alam 46 TVCL 130 all out (34 overs) Shamji 5/57 (incl hat-trick) South East Sunday CL won by 164 runs



Obituaries

STUART YORK

21st September 1938 – 23rd August 2019



Stuart, a native of the village of Harpole in Northamptonshire, had worked for the Nationwide Building Society (and its predecessor) all his working life – at least until the age of 50 when he retired! – and this enabled him to concentrate on the two most important things in his life: his family and sport.

He was an enthusiastic golfer and went on many tours, both in the UK and overseas but his energies were not limited to golf, cricket and football. He was a fierce competitor at darts, quizzes, ten-pin bowling and playing cards and was a mean hand at the Telegraph crossword. He was also to be remembered and watched out for his wicked sense of humour.

In sport Stuart will be best remembered for his cricketing prowess. In 1975 Buckinghamshire CCC qualified for the Gillette Cup and drew Middlesex at Lord's (in those far-off days the Minor Counties were allowed to play the 'big boys' in competitive cricket). Although Bucks were well beaten, he scored a fine 73 not out and he and Brian Poll enjoyed an unbroken stand of 56 for the 8th wicket – then a record for the Gillette Cup and indeed the only record ever held by the Minor Counties in the competition

continued...

He was also noticed by the Club Cricket Conference and in 1977 was selected to tour South Africa, sadly cancelled on political grounds and replaced by a tour to the Caribbean. His first match was against a Barbadian team who thought the CCC were professional cricketers and turned out most of the Island team as practice for an upcoming cup game. Several of the players were Test cricketers. He was also selected to play for the Conference on the 1981 tour to Sri Lanka.

No longer playing for the CCC, Stuart was asked to manage the 1987 tour to Australia and two years later Buckinghamshire also organised a tour to Australia – their first – again with Stuart as manager. Finally, he was again asked to manage the 1991 CCC tour to Australia where one report from it states, "Stuart's consistent patience and efficiency was of the very highest order".

He was a member of the Buckinghamshire Selection and Cricket Committee for a number of years and became Chairman of the County from 1997-2010 before being appointed Club President in 2014. Finally, he was appointed an Honorary Life President – one of only three to hold that position.

In 2013 Stuart was appointed President of the CCC and, following the usual custom, a Life Vice-President from the following year.

As can be readily seen, the shy boy from Harpole led a very active and productive life; loved his sport; liked his work; was devoted to his family; and lived his life to the full. In addition to his sporting interests, Stuart was also heavily involved in Rotary and did much to help them raise funds for charitable causes. He was President of his local Rotary Club and regularly got up a table to attend and support the CCC Lunch.

Along with his wife Pat he made a point of attending as many Bucks Minor County matches as possible, both home and away, and was well-known and well respected on the circuit.

Pat, Jonathan, Christopher, Dana and Krista have lost a husband, father and companion, and we have all lost a very good friend who will be missed by us all.

David Smith CCC President 2005



JOHN GOODMAN 5th February 1943 – 12th November 2019

John Goodman was a well-known and well respected scorer for many clubs and organisations over a period of some 63 years. did start out He attempting to play - for one season - but, at the age of 15, he realised his best years were already behind him and, fortunately for the game, he decided to take up the auill and parchment and become one of the unsung heroes of cricket.

Although he had many clubs, his principal one was Chipperfield (later Chipperfield & Clarendon) CC for whom he scored some 1,800 matches. At a higher level, he scored for many years for the Club Cricket Conference and Buckinghamshire CCC - including the Minor Counties team



and the Over 50s and 60s. He served the CCC as both a scorer and Councillor and, when he stepped down from the latter role, he was rewarded with a Life Vice-Presidency.

In addition to the dozens of matches he scored in the UK for the CCC, he also represented us on two tours to Australia (1987 and 91) and the Caribbean in 1989. During one of his Australian tours he became friendly with Swan Richards, the Founding Father of the Crusaders CC, an organisation based in Melbourne which, as well as playing matches, has also been responsible for giving many young Australian players the opportunity to develop and progress their game to the next level whilst touring the world.

continued...

John became their primary scorer for eight tours to the UK and Europe and this led him on to scoring for Cricket Victoria's youth tours over here. For three seasons John scored for Ashburton CC in Melbourne. He became good friends with former Australian Test umpire Darryl Holt who recalls that, on one of his visits, "He was a catalyst in organising the Victorian Cricket Association's Umpire's Association to include Scorers within our Association".

Among the many UK clubs he was associated with were The Royal Household CC at Windsor Castle and Sir Michael Parkinson's XI and September would see him in the scorebox on the Nursery pitch at Lord's for the annual Cross Arrows matches. As late as last year John was still scoring at least four matches a week although his failing health was sadly there for all to see.

Like all good scorers he was a statistician par excellence and scored 738 individual centuries. Buckinghamshire Over 60s made a presentation to him on behalf of the county when he scored on his 500th ground (final figure: 502, not including the Elysian Fields).

Like so many umpires and scorers, John was a tireless toiler on committees. In addition to his work for Chipperfield CC, he was Fixtures Secretary for the Lee 75 League when it and the Three Counties League merged with the Thames Valley League in 1992; he immediately became Fixtures Secretary of the vastly expanded Thames Valley League and subsequently of the Home Counties Premier League from its inception in 2000 until his death. He also served Buckinghamshire CCC for a while as their Membership Secretary.

Earlier in his life he was a respected and liked referee in the West Herts Football League and served on its management committee for many years. He did say that he once contemplated marriage but in the end felt it would interfere too much with his sporting activities!

His working career was spent as an administrator for what became British Rail and he acquired a life-long passion for the UK railway system. When scoring an away match for our 1st XI he would often opt to travel by train, taking some tortuous route, in order to pass through a station for the first time and he would undertake similar journeys in the winter; if there remains any station which he did not visit in England, Wales or Scotland, then it only opened in the last few months.

Somehow among all this, he found time to contribute to his local community in Sarratt, where he helped to organise the annual Christmas lunch for elderly inhabitants and was responsible for monitoring the state of footpaths in the area for the District Council.

Nobody ever had a bad word to say about John: a kind and considerate man who would always find the time to help in any way he could. Sadly, the lung infection which had appeared to be responding to hospital treatment returned with a vengeance and he died on 12th November 2019 aged 76.

DAVID LOUIS BURDEN 24th January 1946 – 26th June 2019



A senior Minor Counties and County 2nd XI umpire, David toured with the Club Cricket Conference to Australia in 1997.

David was a very talented young batsman/wicketkeeper, good enough to be spotted by Surrey Coach and former England 'keeper Arthur MacIntyre. Sadly any hopes of a professional career were ended by his having a proper day job to concentrate on.

He moved to Camberley Cricket Club where he continued to perform to a high standard: in 1968 the club played Westcliffe-on –Sea CC in the cup. One of the Essex players that day was the redoubtable Trevor Bailey who was effusive about David's performance and went so far as to suggest David won the match for the club. He played in the Kemps

Cup (the fore-runner of the Bertie Joel Cup, latterly the CCC Cup for the Bertie Joel Trophy) Final at the Oval where, sadly, he only won silver.

"Monster" (for that was his nickname) had a devilish streak in him as was evidenced in 1975 when, in partnership with a fellow teammate and in honour of the famous streaker at Lord's of that season, he took part in a streak to the centre of the square – thank goodness he got all that out of his system before he donned the white coat!

He went on to play for Finchampstead and was with them when they made the, then, momentous step up into the old Thames Valley Cricket League. With no disrespect to the current league, in 1979 the TVL was as strong as a modern ECB Premier League containing as it did most of the modern Home Counties Premier League plus Basingstoke & North Hants CC and the now-defunct Hounslow CC who were destined to be Champions that year. He went on to become Club Captain.

When he finished playing, he took up the white coat and became an umpire, "putting something back into the game" as he put it. Promotion was rapid and he stood, first, in the Thames Valley League and then in the Home Counties Premier League when the ECB Premier Leagues were founded and the HCPL took over the TVL.

Over the following decades Dave was accepted onto the Minor Counties Umpires Panel and then the Hampshire 2nd XI list (in those days each county provided its own 'home' umpires). Over some twenty years with the Minor Counties he was to umpire three Championship play-offs and two knockout finals at Lord's: he also umpired Bermuda, Pakistan and Australia as his star rose ever higher. He was interviewed for, and invited to umpire on, the first class panel but the opportunity did not arise because he had a fulltime job in senior management; he did however stand in 12 Nat West/Cheltenham & Gloucester matches.

continued...

Charlie Puckett remembers that the last time he saw Dave play cricket (in a manner of speaking) was at Wokingham CC when the visiting MCC team was a player short. He borrowed spare kit from some of the players to enable him to take the field. Sadly, the trousers belonged to somebody who must have stood at least 6'6" tall in his stockinged feet and weighed in at about 20 stones.

He prowled (sic) the area around mid-off keeping well away from any fielding when at last an off drive made him look up. Slowly the awful realisation dawned that he was not only the sole fielder in the area but that nobody else was going to help out. He manfully set out on the chase, keeping a tight hold of his trousers until finally he lost his grip, gravity took over and he tripped, the trousers by now being around his ankles. The ball had come to a halt just short of the line and the spectators were treated to the hysterical sight of Dave heroically plodding on all fours up the slope. He needn't have worried because everybody on the field had collapsed laughing – none more so than Mr. Burden! He was not to be found short in the humour department.

In 1986 he was elected a Member of the MCC and joined their umpires panel where more honours came his way, including tours to Germany, USA and Australia. Finally, he was a member of the Club Cricket Conference umpires panel and was invited to tour Australia in company with Neil Bainton (later of the First Class List) where he met Sir Donald Bradman.

In addition to his on-field activities, Dave was also Chairman of Discipline for the Home Counties PL, helped deliver the new pilot level 3 ECB ACO training course, spent several years helping the ECB with TV analysis work and assessing on-field umpires – including prospective first class panel - and, possibly his most important contribution to club cricket, in 2005 he became Chairman of the now defunct Association of Cricket Umpires & Scorers, ousting the incumbent and attempting in vain to save it; at least he had the satisfaction of knowing his efforts were not entirely in vain as the ECB stepped in to found the ECB ACO.

After his retirement he and Anthea would sit at one end of the ground holding court – a visitor, stopping for a chat, would know where they stood in the firmament if they were offered alcoholic refreshment and myriad victuals (something also to be enjoyed on the concourse of the Pavilion at Lord's) from Anthea's seemingly endless supply.

When cricketers are asked their views of the best qualities in an umpire, they would include: decision-making (surely a given), integrity, knowledge of the game and an understanding, and ability to deal with, players. He had all of that in spades but, perhaps most importantly, they would surely add, **"and he must be a good bloke"**. This last was most definitely true and we all miss him – Lord's and Minor Counties cricket is not the same without him.

We send our heartfelt sympathies to Anthea and his family.

Paul Adams, Jeremy Coles & Charlie Puckett

CHARLES RANDALL 16th November 1948 – 31st January 2020



For about 30 years, Charlie was on cricket 7 days a week, reporting on cricket for the *Daily Telegraph* and playing as much as time allowed. A top order bat and specialist gully fielder, he was a member of Radlett CC for over 50 years, part of a talented 1st team in the 1960s and 1970s with the likes of Geoff Dawson and Nick Draper, culminating in a flurry of centuries and a Herts trial in 1979.

In more recent years Charlie captained the Radlett 5th team, coaxing performances out of a bunch of players too young, too old or otherwise unsuitable for other teams, and winning promotion to Herts division 10 in 2010, making his side comfortably the highest placed club 5th team in the county for a few years. As well as skill with bat and ball, owning a car was a good way for a player to ensure selection, such were the number of colts in the squad who would need to get to the ground somehow. Charlie would spend most of the week on the admin but then contributed heavily with runs and wickets; he scored a league century at Letchworth aged 64, an innings that featured few quick singles but plenty of powerful pulls through mid-on, a trademark shot.

In his youth he bowled Chinamen, confusing keeper and slips as much as batsmen with his wrong-un, a ball designed to terrify rather than get a wicket. Years later he sent down many overs of orthodox left arm spin for Radlett 4th and 5th teams. He was an advocate for the social side of

continued...

cricket, and seemed to have friends lurking at the bar of many Herts cricket clubs. A team selected from the attenders at his funeral in February would be a match for anyone.

After retiring from full-time journalism Charlie devoted his time to watching and running amateur sport, serving as Secretary of Stoics CC, Chairman of the Hockey Writers' Club and President of the Honourable Artillery Company football club, who have now begun an annual game against the House of Commons XI for the Charles Randall trophy. Professional sport held less appeal; he would take a day at Cobden Hill watching Radlett over a day at Lord's. He was also a member of Porter's Park Golf Club for 55 years.

Charlie spent several years as Sports Editor of the Herts Advertiser, where he found himself writing headlines about his own exploits for Radlett – Champagne Charlie and Hurricane Charlie were two descriptions that found their way into print! In 1979 he moved to Fleet Street with the Daily Telegraph, travelling the world to report on cricket and rugby for over 25 years. After his death, his family was inundated with messages from younger journalists whom he'd mentored over the years.

Charlie's fine 1979 also featured the start of his 40 year marriage to Kate, followed by the birth of Nicole in 1980 and Simon in 1982. 5 granddaughters followed a while later.

Other interests included chess and collecting 7 inch vinyl singles for his Rockola Max jukebox (favourite records were by Del Shannon and Lady Gaga).



DEREK ALICK OAKLEY MBE 27 October 1927 – 22 September 2019



Captain Derek Oakley MBE RM was a talented sportsman who played cricket for the Combined Services and Royal Navy (in the days when both sides were far stronger than they are today), hockey for Devon, tennis for the Royal Marines and, in 1956, cricket and hockey for the Singapore national teams. In addition, he was Fixture Secretary for the Royal Navy for some eighteen seasons.

For these achievements, Derek was appointed an Honorary Vice President of the Club Cricket Conference.

The above was only a very small part of his incredible life: he joined the Corps in 1944 which began a career lasting 42 years. He specialised as an Assault Engineer Officer during the Malaysian Emergency in 1950-51, helping to train 45 Commando in jungle warfare and in 1957 he defused several improvised bombs in Ulster. Later he was brigade intelligence officer during the Brunei Revolt in 1962 and in Sarawak during the "Konfrontasi" (1963-66) with Indonesia. Service afloat saw him deployed to the East Indies, the Far East and Australasia. He was also Aide de Camp to Earl Mountbatten of Burma when he was appointed Colonel Commandant for Life of the Royal Marines in 1965.

continued...

On 6 November 1956 at first light Derek found himself leading B Troop 42 Commando in the leading wave of landing vehicles as they drove ashore at Port Said to begin the ill-fated Suez Campaign; his troop was the first ashore and therefore he was possibly the first British soldier to land. After successfully driving off the Egyptian army the marines realised that the enemy had fled the field and the way to the south and control of the Suez Canal was open: much to their chagrin they found that London at once ordered a ceasefire.

Their return to Plymouth on 9 December was greeted by mist, rain, cold and customs officers and, unlike after the Falklands conflict, no cheering crowds.

His active days over, he became Editor of *The Globe & Laurel*, the magazine of the Royal Marines, for the next eighteen years. He was also a published author writing several books about the marines including A *Pictorial History* of the Royal Marines; *Fiddler on the March* – a biography of Lt. Col. Sir Vivian Dunn, Principal Director of Music for the Corps; and *The Falklands Military* Machine; this latter book won several awards from, amongst others, the United States Marine Corps Historical Foundation and the Royal Marines Historical Society (of which he was the Editor of their in-house magazine for some twenty years).

In 2010 he co-authored A *Short History of the Royal Marines* which is issued to all new recruits and for which he received a Commandant General's commendation.

Aside from sport, his hobbies included local community work, travel and amateur dramatics, particularly as a member of the Hayling Island Amateur Dramatic Society: in 1990 he was the principal fundraiser for a new theatre project which raised £400,000.

We extend our deepest sympathies to his companion Gill and to his children Graham, Neil, Malcolm, Jeni and Philip.





The world's A&E department

Find out more at msf.org.uk

Registration Of Umpires And Scorers

Object

To register those umpires and scorers from affiliate member clubs and leagues who wish to officiate for the Club Cricket Conference.

Rules

1, The register shall be called "The CCC Register of Umpires and Scorers (hereinafter: "The Register) and shall be maintained by the CCC Umpires and Scorers Appointments Committee (hereinafter the "Committee).

2 , Applicants for inclusion on the Register should apply in writing to the Chairman of the Committee enclosing a CV of their umpiring or scoring activities over the previous 3 years together with details of any recognised qualification (ACU&S and/or ECBOA) held and training courses attended.

3 , Any complaint made by or against registered umpires or scorers shall be made in writing to the Chairman of the CCC within 14 days of the alleged offence. The Chairman shall communicate the substance of the complaint to the subject party who, in turn, shall be requested/entitled to submit a written counter-response within 14 days. The Committee shall meet within 7 days thereafter to consider both the complaint and the counter-response. In the event that it is unable to reach a decision or to adjudicate based on the written evidence presented, the Committee shall have the right to require both parties on giving reasonable notice to attend a formal Hearing. The Committee shall also, if it deems necessary, report the facts of the matter to the Executive Council of the CCC for such further action as the Council may consider. Notwithstanding the above conditions, the Committee shall have the power to suspend or remove any umpire or scorer from the Register without being obliged to state its reasons for such removal or suspension.

4 , In all matters relating to the inclusion of umpires and scorers on the Register, the decision of the Committee shall be final. The Committee shall meet at least twice a year, or more frequently as may be considered necessary by the Chairman, to review the Register and to consider and adjudicate upon any matter not specifically covered by these Rules.

Club Cricket Conference Umpires Register - 2020

Cherwell League

Colin Muttitt (Chalgrove)	01865 891873,	07748 633069	
East Anglian Premier League Bob Eagleton (Worstead) Barry Tombs (Braintree)	01692 538674, 07950 026323	01953 424601(w),	07717 837498
Essex League Paul Brice (Orsett) Philip George (Colchester) Jonathon Glynn (Chigwell) Richard Harrison (Rayliegh) Chris Hicks (Brentwood) Todd Holland (Chingford) Tom Kilby (Brentwood) Gary Marshall (Billericay) Liaqat Mir (Barking)	01375 892558, 01206 852322, 020 8500 3046, 01268 771304, 01277 260532, 020 8529 1481, 01277 214834 01277 631754, 020 8507 2868,	07788 452852 01206 217300(w), 07885 611691 07835 074444 07702 848878 07796 555441 07880 824101 07515 924106	07831 504298
Lloyd Moriah (East Ham) Sandeep Pathak (Colchester) Rafiq Patel (Plaistow) Paul Richardson (Loughton) David Swain (Canvey Island) Mick Tucker (Hullbridge)	020 8470 5994, 01206 683900, 020 7476 6361(w), 020 8262 3327, 01268 695989 01702 879542,	020 7166 4559(w), 07587 191097 07956 522249 020 7173 3218(w), 07599 030422	
Malcolm Wright (Brentwood)	01277 373842,	01268 889009(w),	07531 332718

Umpires Register (cont.)

Hertfordshire League

Nick Hall (St Albans)	01727 855100,	07929 562554
Peter Hindstridge (Royston)	01763 837189,	07710 403524
Jon Holland (New Barnet)	020 8441 2475,	07948 718178
Raj Shah (Potters Bar)	01707 645775,	07913 267420
Stephen Waterhouse (Dunstable)	01582 674490,	07527 014492
Home Counties Premier Leag	jue	
Kevin Beaumont (Little Chalfont)	01494 763516,	07710 754010
David Browne (Slough)	01753 539418,	07792 514647
Errol Carrington (Caversham)	01189 479714,	07599 986707
John Finch (Abingdon)	01235 527413,	07786 498131
Graham Frost (Towcester)	01327 354392,	07934 784177
Tony Lord (Bledlow Ridge)	01494 481998,	07733 323852
Nick Piper (Wendover)	01296 623083,	07788 583409
Paul Smith (Uxbridge)	07970 887190	
Graham Watkins (Tilehurst)	01189 412642,	07973 766247

Hunts and Cambridgeshire League

Roger Abraham (Hoddesdon) 01992 465667, 01992 440358(w), 07944 208287

Kent Cricket League

Malcolm Austin (Beckenham)	020 8658 2417,	07783 803808	
Stuart Chilmaid (Aylesford)	01622 717417,	07554 909388	
Stuart Clay (Ashford)	01233 623732,	07949 803396	
Keith Crowdy (Chislehurst)	020 8468 7889,	07934 798205	
Chris Dale (Swalecliffe)	01227 792325,	07814 027590	
Richard Ellis (Higham)	01474 822235,	07890 617335	
Graeme Hall (Tonbridge)	01732 773529,	01737 783519(w),	07748 186253
Philip Higgins (Sutton Valence)	01622 844671,	07860 682451	
John Hope (Ashford)	01233 332251,	07967 667113	
Jonathan Patterson (Shirley)	020 8776 1469,	07814 010819	
Ken Say (Orpington)	01689 873191,	07522 900412	
Chris Stokes (Mayfield)	07928 346949		

Mid-Essex Cricket League

Alan Barker (Springfield) 01245 450278, 07570 760580

Middlesex County Cricket League

Stuart Aitken (Harrow)	020 8863 6801,	07710 936699
Roger Behling (Enfield)	020 8363 6523,	07944 022990
Geoff Blackmore (Baldock)	01462 892623,	07747 042567
John Clouting (Ruislip)	020 8582 3616,	07767 337307
David Halle (Emmer Green)	01189 483483,	07484 318174
Keir Hopley (Hornsey)	020 8809 6194,	07766 443684
Pervez Irani (Harrow)	020 8248 9284,	07971 864309
Neville Kent (Duston)	07801 590057	

Umpires Register (cont.)

Arvind Patel (Amersham) Iain Phillips (Winchmore Hill) Charlie Puckett (Hounslow) Venkateshan Rangachari (Harrow) Kumar Rudrakumar (Dartford) Vinoj Srinivasan (Harlow) Tony Smith (Harrow) Matti Watton (Isleworth) Mark Williams (Golders Green)	01494 580140, 020 8292 2717, 01225 781317 07932 177283 07939 191131 07554 923943 020 8866 6158, 020 8560 7366, 07957 482089	01628 859790(w), 07836 508643 07866 914032 07947 549345	07378 180344
Southern Premier League George Carpenter (Basinsgtoke) John Challis (Winchester) Dean Daniels (Poole) Denis Emery (Romsey) Huw Evans (Romsey) Duncan Forbes (Totton) John Golding (Newbury) Shaun Lilley (New Milton) Stuart MacTavish (Lymington)	01256 322809, 023 8048 5553, 01202 715384, 01794 501030, 01794 524418, 02380 660210, 07768 904464 01425 610239, 01590 610367,	07854 107324 023 8061 1986(w), 01202 483243(w), 07710 714843 07855 427132 07747 016260 01425 627522(w), 07840 117446	07713 091539 07958 008062 07802 381748
Paul Turner (Basingstoke)	01256 351372,	07710 386656	
Keith Williams (Andover)	01264 366398,	07591 699787	
Surrey Championship Jeremy Beckwith (Sutton) Anthony Blondell ((Sandhurst)	020 8643 2090, 01276 31839,	020 7066 8428(w), 07730 943669	07771 762452
Roy Collins (Wallington) John Flatley (Hampton) Steve Hodge (Great Bookham)	020 8669 5813, 020 8941 2049, 01372 457615	07778 841066 07980 724727	
Michael Hunte (Feltham) Graham Jackson (Sutton) Matt Johnson (Bromley) Geoff Knight (Shoreham-by-Sea)	020 8384 1939, 020 8643 0323, 07770 850844 07855 958997	07983 326411(w), 07967 901510	07847 409653
Bob McLeod (Central London) Mick Martin (Staines)	020 7837 7445, 01784 244882	07814 230077	
Philip Matthews (Woking)	01483 854872,	07743 164555	
Andy Storey (Ashtead) Ian Turner (South Croydon)	01372 807013, 020 8657 1519,	07775 900095 07734 583167	
Paul Witney (Sunbury)	01932 882861,	07939 867556	
Sussex League			
Ian Farrell (Hove) Matt French (Horsham)	01273 418240, 01403 612752,	020 7105 9056 (w) 07785 320792	
Man Henen (Hoisham)	01403 012/32,	0//03/020//2	
Thames Valley Cricket Leagu	Je		
Andrew Johnson (Reading) Matthew Stevenson (Marlow) Colin Ward (Northolt) Michael Woolard (Barnes)	07584 707277 01628 487516, 020 8864 4765, 07963 534937	07745 949107 07753 627822	

Club Cricket Conference Scorers Register 2020

Mike Archer (Flitwick) Mike Arnold (Harpenden) Chris Ayliffe (Richmond) Andrew Bateup (Rusthall) Nathan Bradley (Worcester) Beryl Casale (Wood Green) Peter Coleman (Stokenchurch) Vic Devers (Hillingdon) Tony Gibbs (Hatfield) Cliff Greenhill (Loughton) Dan Heydon (Sandy) Martyn Holloway-Neville (Epsom) Alan Jones (Greenford) Geoff Knight (Shoreham-by-Sea) Johnny Marr (West Hampstead) Brian Mulholland (Rickmansworth) Polly Rhodes (Cotford St. Luke) Helen Ross (Wanborough) Emily Routh (Tonbridge) Mark Shepherd (Hillingdon) Muhammed Sher (Woking) Michael Shufflebotham (Teddington) Sylvia White (Brondesbury) Lee Wiles (Chesham)

CCC Fixture Bureau 2020

Hours of operation

April to September

9:30am to 5:00pm Tuesday to Friday

Contact

Telephone: Email: (Email is incoming only; no reply) 020 8973 1830 fixtures@club-cricket.co.uk

The Bureau provides a fixture making service for all affiliated members throughout the season. In 2020 the Fixture Bureau will open on Tuesday 14th April and take fixtures until Sunday 27th September.

Method of Operation

To register for a fixture; during the week of the fixture the club's Fixture Secretary, or nominated deputy, should telephone, text, or email the following information to the bureau:

- 1. The name of the club.
- 2. The name, telephone number(s) of the contact handling the fixture and, where issued, the club's security code number.
- 3. The day and date required.

- 4. Home or away.
- 5. Which XI and its strength (see notes immediately below).

Team Strengths

Bureau staff can only arrange fixtures which reflect the information supplied by clubs and schools. If a Fixture Secretary says his XI is 'Strong Medium' we have to accept his word and register accordingly. If, during the season, it becomes obvious that club officials are regularly misrepresenting a team's strength, Bureau staff will try and exercise some judgement, having first drawn the club's attention to the problem.

All the data is entered into the Fixture Bureau computer system, following which the Bureau staff will impart details of other clubs with similar or matching profiles. Once the call is completed, the data will be imparted to subsequent callers until such time as the Bureau receives confirmation of a fixture made. To help us arrange the best possible matches, please define strengths as follows:

'Strong' – First XI's in higher league cricket fielding their top sides. This strength could also apply to clubs with only one XI who also play league cricket at a high level and are a genuine match for bigger clubs first XI's. Similarly, a Sunday side containing a large number of Saturday first team players should be classified as 'Strong'. The definition would not apply to a big club's 4th XI.

'Strong Medium' – This definition applies to a first XI which may be fielding a slightly weaker side from normal, or to a club's 2nd XI whose playing strength is only marginally below their first team's. Again, clubs operating only one side can be described as 'Strong Medium' provided they are a genuine match for bigger clubs' first or second XI's as described earlier. Equally, a Sunday side with some first XI representation can be 'Strong Medium'.

'Medium' – The catch all category. In this section clubs would have to field sides containing specialist players in all categories – bowlers, batsmen and a wicket-keeper. It is unlikely that a medium side would contain more than one colt or one vet. Clubs 2nd and bigger clubs 3rd XI's would usually be covered in this category.

'Weak Medium' – This would apply to clubs either fielding severely depleted 2nd teams or clubs putting out 3rds and 4ths containing vets and colts. It would also apply to clubs fielding only one side whose players are either not regulars, or whose fixtures are occasional rather than regular.

'Weak' – Probably a one-off side with very occasional players or sides with four or more vets/colts, or a club's 3rd or 4th XI with a 'give everyone a game policy'.

Notes: - Please read carefully.

Confirmations – prompt confirmation by **both** clubs of a fixture is **ESSENTIAL** – until this happens Bureau staff will continue to give out details to new enquirers. Club officials who consistently fail to confirm fixtures may find that their club is suspended from Bureau service.

Mobile phones – users are requested to give alternative contact numbers when registering, in case of poor / no mobile phone reception.

Contacts – for common sense reasons it is essential that only one official from the club handles a particular fixture. If there has to be a change of personnel, simply email the Bureau on fixtures@club-cricket.co.uk to advise us. The record can then be amended for that week only.

Cancellations – there are sometimes occasions when a club has to cancel a fixture, or withdraw a side that has been registered. As with confirmations, it is very important that this be done as quickly as possible. Further, if after registering with the Bureau a fixture is made privately, clubs must inform us immediately so that their name can be withdrawn.

Text / Email – as telephone lines become very busy during the season, clubs are encouraged to use text or email to register fixture requests in the week in question. A subsequent follow up telephone call to check receipt and registration can then be dealt with more quickly. The Bureau is not able to respond by text or email to acknowledge receipt or to impart details of matching clubs.

Charges – charges are levied for fixtures confirmed. If having confirmed a fixture a club is forced to cancel the game or withdraw for any reason, it will be charged twice and the other club's charge will be cancelled. Cancellation of a fixture due to weather or any other reason is not a valid reason for non-payment.

Complaints – please send any complaints in writing to the CCC Office Manager.

Charges and Accounts

All Member Clubs who affiliate to the Club Cricket Conference are required to pay an Annual Subscription fee plus Yearbook charge.

For each fixture arranged by the Bureau, a fee of $\pounds13.00$ plus VAT is levied – a total of $\pounds15.60.$

At the end of each season a statement of account is sent to each club for payment. This includes details of dates on which fixtures have been arranged, and/or the membership invoice for the following season..

Clubs who have not paid for their season's subscription and any outstanding Bureau charges are automatically ineligible for the Fixture Bureau service

The Season's Opening Dates & Relevant Matters Regarding Fixtures & League Starting and Closing Dates – An Explanation

Many years ago the CCC devised a system which would allow the use of grounds which were used on a twelve month basis to readily accommodate both summer and winter sports and avoid a conflict of interest. About every six years fixtures need to move forward to reflect that there are 365 days in most years and 366 in a leap year, and these numbers are not divisible by 7. Without some regular changeover system we would eventually be playing club cricket in January and winter sports in July.

In our 1997 Yearbook there was an excellent and informative article written by one of our Life Vice Presidents, Graham Turner, and we repeat the salient points he raised in that article:-

"In the mid sixties the Government of the day moved the then August Bank Holiday from the beginning of the month to the end. The particular significance of that to the Conference was, curiously, that the season's starting date was calculated as fourteen Saturdays prior to August Bank Holiday. A strange formula indeed, but that was how it was. To put things in proper order, the Conference proposed to adopt the last Saturday in April as the new starting date and it was this item which came before Council when I first joined their number, just thirty years ago. The problem was, that the 'new boy' had spotted that if April 30th was the date, the season would end on October 1st, by which moment grounds would be lost to a winter sport. In having the impertinence to open my mouth at my first Council, I found myself trying to put all the wise men right. Half of them didn't understand what it all meant anyhow, and the other half thought I must be talking nonsense! Ten years later we adopted the Rule which applies today; the starting date is April 29th or the Saturday immediately preceding it."

We must emphasise the dates given are a guide only and we are aware that many clubs play pre season games prior to the season's start date. Indeed our Emergency Fixture Bureau opens this year on Tuesday 14th April for games that coming weekend - 18th and 19th April.

Some clubs, largely playing on local authority grounds, will find this guide useful as most of these grounds are not available prior to our shown opening dates.

The guide is issued to all member clubs and to all League Secretaries in membership.

Opening Season Dates

We use a formula that the start date is either April 29th or the Saturday immediately preceding it.

The formula was devised to minimise the clash with winter sports.

We must emphasise the dates are given as a guide only.

Our various member Leagues start their fixtures usually in Week 2 or Week 3. This means that most Saturday fixtures are already made for clubs, but there are still two or three weekends early season and post league season when clubs have to make their own fixtures if they so wish.

As can be seen the Opening Season Dates move forward each year until when April 29th is a Saturday. Thus the next 'jump' year is 2023.

Week	2019	2020	2021	2022	2023
1	April 27	April 25	April 24	April 23	April 29
2	May 4	May 2	May 1	April 30	May 6
3	May 11	May 9	May 8	May 7	May 13

CCC Associate Members 2020

Stephen Hodge, Surrey

Martyn Holloway-Neville,

Phil Hirst, Berks

Individuals

Paul Adams, Essex Tushar Agarwal, Middx Neil Bainton, Essex Kevin Barker, Surrev Bob Baxter, Herts Kevin Beaumont, Bucks Jeremy Beckwith, Surrey Roger Behling, Middx Geoff Blackmore, Herts James Bosley, Surrey Peter Browne, Surrey Deborah Burns, Brentford Hugh Chapman, NW6 Howard Cohen, Surrey Charles Corstorphine, Surrev David Crampton, Middx Roger Dakin, Sussex David Doualas, Beds Robert Edmonds, Middx Geoff Ellis, Surrey John Finaleton, W1H Bob Fisher, Middx Alan Flook, Herts Norman Freeman, N9

Philip George, Essex

John Golding, Berks

Cliff Greenhill, Essex

Kato Harris, Middx

Stephen Goldsmith, Essex

Russell Grant, Snowdonia

Tony Gibbs, Herts

Surrev Keir Hopley, N8 Pervez Irani, Middx Roger Jay, Middx Alan Jones, Middx J E Josiah, Essex Roland Rex Kilby, Essex Geoff Knight, Surrey Alf Langley, Norfolk E.J. (Ted) Lee, Middx Keith Letchford, Norwich Richard Luddington, SW19 Derek Manners, Middx Amber Mays, Herts Chris Mays, Herts Robert McLeod, WC1N Sam Mehar, Middx John Milton, Surrey Stan Mott, NW9 Brian Mulholland, Herts Jon Mundy, N12 Richard Nicoll, N1 Arvind Patel, Bucks David Perrin, W14 Gary Pettet, Herts Paul Philpot, Middx Clifford Pile, W5 Sid Poole, N8 Denis Reed, Essex Brian Reid, Surrey

Don Shelley, W5 Mike Shufflebotham. Middx David J Smith, York Ian D Smith, Beds Olwyn Sparrow, Essex Robert Sproston, Cheshire Chris Stokes, E. Sussex W F Tansell, Worcester E J St John Thomas, Surrey Graham Turner, Northants Ian Walter, Bucks Colin Watkins, Herts Matti Watton, Middx A A Weeden, Essex Fred White, SE18 Clive Wildish, Middx Paul Witney, Middx Michael Wood, Herts Mike Woolard, SW13 John Woollhead, Surrey Roger Wright, Essex Steve Wright, Kent

CCC Associate Membership

For just $\pounds 20$ per annum (individuals) and $\pounds 24.00$ inc. VAT (clubs, leagues and associations). Benefits of membership include a copy of the CCC Yearbook, regular electronic newsletters and access to all the advisory services offered by the Conference. See www.club-cricket.co.uk for more information.

Associations

African Caribbean Cricket Association

ODI's

It wasn't the Captain's fault. He was surrounded by morons. Every time one of the senior players tried to stop a quick single they threw past the stumps and buzzers ensued. But his Best Friend told him not to sack them as they would be even more beholden to him if they stayed. Instead they should fire the heads of the ground and admin support staff. A good example was Gavin Williamson, the Colt's manager, who picked his teams based on a system which favoured which schools the boys had attended rather than how they performed in matches. Once this strategy was revealed he was forced to change his selection policy even though his teams had already been picked. As a result, the chief scorer was fired, not Williamson.

The R number is the number of runs scored per ball bowled. So, if the average is 1 run per ball bowled then the R rate is 1. The captain had based his whole policy on the R number. He had explained to everyone that, based on the advice of the senior bowlers, once the R number was reduced to .7 or below then the fielding restrictions could be relaxed. However, the Club Treasurer, Rishi Sunak, explained to him that he had spent so much of the club's money in trying to keep the captain popular that the fielding restrictions needed to be relaxed even though the R number was only about .9.

Many of the fielders, who had been spooked by the earlier proclamations and strictures, were extremely reluctant to spread out and stayed in little huddles in the inner ring. The Captain implored them to use the train to travel to away matches and buy their lunch and tea from retail outlets but they just stayed in the inner ring complaining that circumstances were no different from when he told them that they had to stay in close.

Rishi Sunak had become the most popular man in the club when he was disbursing club funds to all and sundry as if bowling for a declaration. But his position started to look in jeopardy when it became obvious to all that when the season was over there would have to be a significant rise in annual subs and match fees to fund it.

Confusion reigned everywhere. Were the slips supposed to be 6 feet or 3 feet apart and did it make a difference whether they were wearing a box or not? The bar was open after the match but how did you go about getting a drink? Matches weren't allowed in Leicester or Manchester but the R number was worse in parts of London. You could go to watch club cricket but not county or test matches. You were required to wear pads in the nets but not in colts matches. And so on.

The press pointed out that when the captain had been elected at the AGM last year he had stood on the pavilion steps and proclaimed that the "Buck stops here". He replied that everyone must understand that he accepts absolutely no responsibility whatsoever for the consequences of his actions. He went on to sing several verses of "Land of Hope & Glory" claiming that it made him feel good and that there should be an end to the self-recrimination and wetness brought on by the "All wickets count" brigade.



If you had become an Associate Member in 2008 - all these front covers would be yours for just £20 per annum



Interested? Contact Donna at the CCC office: 020 8973 1612 or donna.black@club-cricket.co.uk

Past Officials

Annual I	Presidents
	Sir Home Gordon, Bt. (MCC)
1920	J.H. Douglas (Wanstead)
1921	Ald. Sir Kynaston Studd Bt. (Poly)
1922 1923	W.H. Wheeler (North Middlesex)
1923	L.S. Wells (The Wanderers) H.G. Dormon (Tufnell Park)
1925	W.W. Gill (Dulwich)
1926	H.R. Bowtell (Ealing)
1927	J.L. Tate (Nondescripts)
1928 1929	A.R. Thorpe (Honor Oak) G.W. Hammond (Hornsey)
1930	T.G. Grinter (Frinton-on-Sea)
1931	F.C. Potter Irwin (Beddington)
1932	F.F. Boles (Spencer)
1933	Sir Arthur Dyke KBE., CB (U. Clapton) Thomas Thurlow (High Wycombe)
1934 1935	Sir Edward Campbell Bt. (Bickley Pk)
1936	A.C. Higgs (Parsons Green)
1937	Lord Ebbisham GBE (St. Helen's IOW)
1938	F.H. Webster (Upper Clapton)
1939-40 1941-45	F.E. Whitehead (Hornsey)
1946	A.F. Burtt (Leigh-on-Sea) A.J. Spong (Hounslow)
1947	R. Gibson MBE (Forest Hill)
1948	B.H. Goulding (North London)
1949	G.F. Clatworthy (Ilford)
1950 1951	E.H. Cooper (Barclays Bank) J.C. Walker (Malden Wanderers)
1952	F.L.J. Dolman MBE (Polytechnic)
1953	L.W. Newman (Alexandra Park) Col. R.S. Rait Kerr CBE, DSO, MC (MCC) A.R. Duff (Buckhurst Hill)
1954	Col. R.S. Rait Kerr CBE, DSO, MC (MCC)
1955 1956	A.R. DUTT (BUCKNUIST HIII)
1957	H.S. Altham CBE, DSO, M.C. (MCC)
1958	H.P. Clark (Hornsey)
1959	J. Theed (High Wycombe) H.S. Altham CBE, DSO, M.C (MCC) H.P. Clark (Hornsey) W.F. Waters (Epsom) P.W. Lanning (Headstone) C.S. Davies (Alexandra Park) D. Bruce (Old Gruyscendians)
1960	P.W. Lanning (Headstone)
1961 1962	D. Bruce (Old Gravesendians)
1963	W. Comben Lonastaff (West Surrey)
1964	R.C. Holloway (Cyphers)
1965	Sir Cyril Hawker (MCC, Old Citizens)
1966 1967	R.C. Holloway (Cyphers) Sir Cyril Hawker (MCC, Old Citizens) F.W. Batchelor (Wembley) E.F. Smith (Slough)
1968	G.H. Hawley (Luton Town)
1969	G.H. Hawley (Luton Town) T.N. Pearce OBE, TD (Southgate) J.L.D. Robertson (Bognor)
1970	J.L.D. Robertson (Bognor)
1971 1972	R. Snow (Shamrock Sports) D.J. Kesby (Old Parkonians) A.L. Speakman (West Essex) P.W.G. Sommanille (Hornson)
1973	A.L. Speakman (West Essex)
1974	K.W.G. SOMMERINE (HOMSEY)
1975	K B Croker (Guildford)
1976 1977	R.H. Williams (Walthamstow) His Hon. Judge J.K.E. Slack TD (U.C.S. Old
1978	His Hon, Judge J.K.E. Slack TD (U.C.S. Old
	Boys and Beaconstield)
1979	G. Ford M.C. (Bournemouth) L.H. Barber (Kenley) A.R. Mutter (Ealing)
1980 1981	L.H. Barber (Kenley)
1982	B.C. Janes (High Wycombe)
1983	B.C. Janes (High Wycombe) J.B. Stapley (Gore Court)
1984	E.O. Jackson C.B.E. (Brondesbury) B.H. Lock (Dover)
1985	B.H. Lock (Dover)
1986 1987	J.S. Polson (Ilford) E.G. Turner (Barnes)
1988	E.G. Turner (Barnes) H.G. Bonnet (Nat West Bank)
1989	J.A. Lance (Hillingdon & Uxbridge)
1990	M.B. Alexander (Honor Oak)
1991 1992	R.V. Lynch (Chingford)
1992	L. Butcher (Botany Bay) Mrs M Bonnet (Nat West Bank)
1994	M.L. Chapman (Westcliff-on-Sea)
1995	V.J. Dodds (Old Emanuel)

1996 R.B. Briance (Chichester Priory Park) 1997 M.G. Furse (Amersham) 1998 E. Blott (Southill Park) 1999 E.C. Poulter (Fives & Heronians) 2000 D. Roberts (HSBC Bank) 2001 W. Bigmore (Walton on Thames) M.P.R. Welch (Teddington) 2002 2003 D.J. Goldsmith (Gidea Pk & Romford) 2004 C.F. Brown (Wimbledon) 2005 D.E. Smith (Gerrards Cross) 2006 N. Hames (Copdock & Old Ipswichians) 2007 C. Swadkin (Blackheath) 2008 R.F. Syrett (Maidenhead & Bray) 2009 S. Whitehead (Hayes, Kent) 2010 C.T. Puckett (Finchley, Royal Household) 2011 J.C. Poore (Ealing) R.E. Arnold (Teddington) 2012 2013 S.E. York (High Wycombe) 2014 P. Hooper (Addiscombe) 2015 D.G. Collier OBE (Eastcote) 2016 R. McLeod (Sutton) 2017 D. Perrin (Shepherd's Bush) 2018 C. Maynard (M.C.C. & Old Suttonians) 2019 K. Hopley (Middx County Cricket Lge) Chairmen 1916-28 W.H. Wheeler (North Middlesex) 1928-43 H.G. Dormon (Tufnell Park) 1943-44 G.W. Hammond (Hornsey) 1944-47 F.E. Whitehead (Hornsey) 1947-50 E.H. Cooper (Barclays Bank) 1950-60 A.J. Spong (Hounslow) 1960-69 F.L.J. Dolman MBE (Polytechnic) 1969-75 F.W. Batchelor (Wembley) 1975-83 E.G. Turner (Barnes) 1983-87 A.E.F. Stevens (Baashot) 1988-91 R.V. Lynch (Chingford) 1991-92 L. Butcher (Botany Bay) 1992-98 R.V. Lynch (Chingford) 1998-03 S. Whitehead (Haves, Kent) 2003-05 M.A. Wood (Leverstock Green) C Brown (Wimbledon) 2005 2006 David Smith (Gerrards Cross) 2007-08 M.P.R. Welch (Teddinaton) 2009-15 A. Langley (Shepherd's Bush) **Secretaries** 1915-41 E.A.C. Thomson 1941-45 Miss Joan Chamley 1945-53 H.A.E. Scheele 1953-69 Major S.W. Woods 1969-77 F.L.J. Dolman MBE 1977-87 D.J. Annetts 1988-95 A.E.F. Stevens 1996-99 D.H. Franklin 2013-15 S Prodger 2016-19 S Whitehead **Chief Executive Officers** 1999-01 D.H. Franklin 2002-05 B. Stuart-King 2008-11 M.P.R. Welch (Teddington) Hon. Treasurers 1916-18 Howard Lacy (Mitcham) 1918-20 W.H. Long (S. West Ham) 1920-26 G.W. Hammond (Hornsey) 1926-45 F.E. Whitehead (Hornsey) 1946-83 D. Bruce (Old Gravesendians) 1983-84 C.P. Hindley (West Essex) 1984-88 B.J. Dunton (Hillingdon) 1988-91 L.E. Culling (S.R.A.C.) 1991-00 B. Wilson (Eversley) 2000-01 M.J. Browne (Polytechnic) 2001-04 M. Wilkins (HSBC) 2004-06 C. Walker-Robson (Teddington) 2007-08 K Carr (Old Tiffinians)

2008-15 S. Wright (Hayes, Kent)

Players Awarded Conference Caps - From 1948

Prior to 1948 Caps were awarded to any player representing the Conference in a full representative match for the first time. Thereafter, Caps were awarded (& numbered) at the discretion of the CCC Executive Council, although since the mid 1970's they have mainly been awarded to players undertaking a major overseas tour. With the CCC tour programme now mainly short tours to ICC Associate countries, Caps are now awarded to those who have played 25 or more Representative & Tour matches. During 2019, Saba Nasim (no. 261) became the first woman to be awarded a CCC Cap.

Cap	No Ye	ear Awarded	Car) No.	Year Awa	arded
	M. Alexander (Bromley)	1992		R.J. Falconer (Cheam)		1997
	R. Alston (Chingford)	2004		N. Farnsworth (Sunbury)		2006
144	R. Andrews (Wanstead)	1982		D.W. Flack (Forest Hill)		1953
9	J.S. Anscombe (Margate)	1950	158	J. Fry (Mitcham)		1986
82	J.D. Appleyard (Hitchin)	1971	20	D.K. Gale (Beddington)		1952
37	G. Atkins (Amersham)	1957		D. Gallop (Cowley St. John)		1982
184	P. Bail (Richmond)	1994	148	P. Garner (Cowley St. John)		1982
200	A. Baker (Met Police)	1997	10	N.L. Gavin (Sevenoaks Vine)		1950
	P.J. Baldwin (St. Albans)	1971		M.E. Gear (Tunbridge Wells) C.B.T. Gibbons (Wimbledon)		1980 1961
253	E. Ballard (Bishop's Stortford) R. Barker (Midland Bank)	2016 1991	131	E.C. Gobin (Mitcham)		1980
68	J.B. Barr (llford)	1966	14	A.E. Golder (Crofton Park)		1951
168	J. Barrow (Farnham)	1991	171	C. Goldie (Richmond)		1991
185	P. Bedford (Cranleigh)	1994	140	A. Goldsmith (Guildford) D.J. Goldsmith (Gidea Pk & Ro	omford	1994
140	W. Bigmore (Walton-on-Thame G. Black (Winchmore Hill)	s) 1981 1982	229	D. Goodchild (Eastcote)	Jiniolaj	2006
	J.D.J. Bluett (Bromley)	1956	159	D. Gorman (Readina)		1986
107	M. Bottomley (Buckhurst Hill)	1976	230	D.Gorrod (Malden Wanderers	;)	2006
	R.A. Bowles (Horsham)	1967		R. Gould (Sunbury) I. Graham (Bury St Edmunds)		2006 2002
153	C. Brown (Wimbledon)	1985 2012	240	I. Granger (Sunbury)		2002
	S. Burge (East Molesey) A. Burridge (Watford)	1978	40	J. Granger (Sunbury) N.F. Griffin (Wallington)		1959
154	S. Burrow (N. Middlesex)	1985	25	H.L. Griffith (Brighton & Hove)		1953
12	N.V. Butler (Aspro) R.A. Byrne (South Woodford)	1951		S.Hafeez (Waltham)		2006
13	R.A. Byrne (South Woodford)	1951	41	J.K. Hall (Cobham)		1959
201	P. Caley (St Albans)	1997		M. Hall (Sunbury) R. Halsall (Eastbourne)		1999 1997
93	K.I. Cannon (Worthing)	1974		N. Hames (B'stoke & North Ha	ints)	1986
186	D. Carter (Cheam)	1994	112	J. Hamilton (Brentham)	- ,	1977
169	A. Caswall (Bromley) L.J. Champniss (Stoics)	1991 1972	172	G. Harris (Teddington)		1991
	M. Chowdhury (Hainault & Cla		64	R. Hayward (Ickenham) M.J. Heaffey (Stanmore)		1977 1965
187	A. Churchill (Gidea Pk & Romfo	ord) 1994	123	B.R. Heighes (Hounslow)		1978
	C.B. Clarke (B.B.C.)	1954	45	K. Cracknell (East Molesey)		1960
188	D.P. Clarke (Luton Town) R. Collard (Gidea Park & Romf	1974 ord) 1994		D.G. Henley (Lensbury)	orclow	1950 1971
	C. Connor (Slough)	1982	241	E.P. Higginson (Hadleigh & T'd R. Hindley (Havant)	ersieyj	2007
57	T.M. Cordaroy (South Hampste			R.S. Hodge (Ealing)		1954
	J. Cox (Paddington)	1977	233	C. Holcomb (Sunbury)		2006
226	S.D.G. Crampton (Teddington)	2006 1997	242	J. Holland (Saffron Walden)		2007
111	G. Crawford (Guildford) R. Cruttenden (Holmesdale)	1977		A. Holley (Brentham) D.W. Hollinrake (Hornsey)		1973 1965
238	E. Cruz (Guildford)	2007	205	C.J. Hollins (Wimbledon)		1997
	M.E. Cullen (Alexandra Park)	1970	132	A. Hooper (Blackheath)		1980
	J.Q. Cullip (Mitcham) R. Cummins (Beddington & Lei	1980 cs) 2007		R.M. Horn (Old Whitgiftians)		1975
207	R. Commis (beddingforr & Eer	2007	234	J. Howgego (Folkstone) M. Huggins (Windsor)		1977 2006
189	J. Dangerfield (Southgate)	1994	115	R.G. Humphrey (Guildford)		1977
58	A.T. Davis (Reading)	1964	72	R.H. Huntley (High Wycombe)		1967
	A.R. Day (Hornsey) S. Diplock (Horsham)	1962 1981		A. Hurd (Seveoaks Vine) M. Hussain (Fives & Heronians)	١	2016 2002
	V.J. Dodds (Old Emanuel)	1974		W. Hussain (Slough)	/	2002
96	D.M. Douglas (Alexandra Park)			P. Isherwood (Slough)		1951
215	G. Downton (Orpington)	1949				
	D. Dunn (Stanmore) M.T. Dunn (St. Albans)	2002 1971		M.R. James (Elmers End) N. James (Knowle & Dorridge		1956 2007
01				P.B.C. James (Loughton)	1	2006
,97	J.K.S. Edwards (Amersham)	1974	53	G. Jarrett (Forest Hill)		1963
15/	S. Edwards (Highgate) D.J. Evans (Edmonton)	1986 1968		R.J. Jessop (Chingford)		1959 1953
227	J.Evans (Beckeham)	2006	∠o 21	L.C.S. Jerman (Essex Wandere D.F. Johns (High Wycombe)	12)	1953
170	R. Evans' (Cowley St. John)	1991	236	C. Jones (Richmond)		2006
59	K.I. Fairall (Bexhill)	1964	124	J. Jones (Reading)		1978

Сар		'ear Awa	
69 206	K.V. Jones (Polytechnic) G.S. Joyce (Bexley)		1966 1997
29 191 244 116 117	J.R. Keeping (Streatham) M. Kellaway (Hursley Park) J. Keightley (Teddington) J.R. Kilbee (St. Law. & Highlan R.F. Kingdon (Brentham)	d Ct)	1954 1994 2007 1977 1977
133 16 108 134 86	M.R. Laws (Hornsey) N. Leat (Walthamstow)	C†)	1994 1952 1980 1951 1976 1980 1971 2007 1991 1957
	D. Madeley (East Molesey) N. Malik (Ealing) T. Matthews (Luton Town) C. Mays (Finchley) S.A. Mehar (Harrow) J. Melville (Blackheath) E. Miller (Mill Hill) J. Misso (Brentham) M.E. Milton (Finchley) W. Morrick (Finchley) G.B.E. Morton (Temple Bar) D. Mott (Beckenham) A. Moulding (Enfield) D. Moxon (Mitcham) S. Munday (Teddington) J.C.G. Murphy (Oatlands Park L.A. Murray (Malden Wandere		1982 1986 1951 1994 1977 1964 2016 1980 2007 1972 1986 1991 1986 1991 1984 1994
261	S. Nasim Ms (Wanstead)		2019
237 218 49	N. Oldridge (Wimbledon) D. Oliver (Chichester Priory Pa J.A.R. Oliver (Luton Town)	rk)	2006 2002 1961
50 77 219 175 18 106 66 37 34 176 34 150 136 164 98 256 6	E. Palmer (Romford) C.J. Parry (Bank of England) M. Patel (Bexley, Kent & Englo N. Pattison (Tunbridge Wells) H.A. Pawson (Aylesford Paper C.J. Payne (SouthHampstead H. Pearman (Hornsey) R. Pearman (Hornsey) C. Pickers (Beckenham) C.R. Pickett (Aspro) S. Piumb (Bishop's Stortford) J.C. Poore (Ealing) S. Poulter (Fives & Heronians) A.L. Price (Wembley) G.R. Pullinger (Aveley)	Mills) d)	1961 1969 2002 1991 1971 1975 1965 1967 1963 1997 1956 1982 1980 1988 1980 1984 1974 2016 1949
2 30 91 78 210 81 155 195 55 165 247 220	A.F. Rae (Winchmore Hill) L.H.R. Ralph (Ilford) A.B. Reynolds (Forest Hill) B.J. Reid (Brentham) A. Richards (Wanstead) R.J. Richards (Westoliff-on-Sea M. Roberts (Metropolitan Polic M. Roberts (Metropolitan Polic M. Roberts (Banstead) L.A. Rogers (Winchmore Hill) T.K. Rosier (Dulwich) T. Russell (High Wycombe) O. Saffell (Ockbrook & Borrow A. Saleem (Addiscombe)	e)	1948 1954 1973 1969 1970 1985 1994 1974 1963 1986 2007 2002

Car	No. Year Aw	arded
3 62 177 178 566 1255 74 196 207 74 196 207 74 197 121 120 77 121 248 259 211 197 721 2248 259 211 197 212 2180 156 213 100 214 466 67 70 213 100 214 466 203 214 215 215 215 215 215 215 215 215 215 215	M.A. Salmon (Reading) D.M.J. Saunders (Hornsey) R. Savage (Winchester) C. Saville (Southgate) D. Sayers (Walthamstow) A.P. Scott (Ickenham) D.J. Semmence (Worthing) R. Sharma (Tunbridge Wells) G.J.J. Sheen (Hayes, Kent) M. Simmons (Reading) G. Siveyer (Bexley) J.K.E. Slack (U.C.S. Old Boys) O.R. Small (Spencer) L. Smart (Ealing Dean) D.E. Smith (Slough) D.J. Smith (Cockfosters) G. Smith (Old Blues) R. Smith (Sunbury) R. Smith (Ardleigh Green) J. Southgate (Welwyn Garden City) J. Sparrow (Saffron Walden) R. Sparrow (Saffron Walden) R. Stanway (Tring Park) R. Staple (Hayes, Kent) M. Stear (Metropolitan Police) G. Stevens (Eastbourne) A.J. Stockley (Epsom) L. Stone (Folkestone) D.S. Straw (Old Whitgiffians) L.G. Stubbs (South Hampstead) E.O. Swadkyn (Blackheath) J.L. Swan (Brentham) R.F. Syrett (Hounslow)	1948 1964 1991 1991 1971 1963 1978 1977 1994 1997 1982 1954 1977 1949 1954 1977 1949 1977 2018 1977 2018 1999 1974 1985 1999 1974 1985 1999 1974 1999 1974
126 76 181 102 39 35 63 127 222 103 223	E.M. Taylor (Guildford) P.M. Taylor (Luton Town) K. Thomas (Ilford) B.J. Thomason (So'ton Touring) R.E. Thoy (Private Banks) C.L. Toole (Finchley) S.M. Topliss (Gore Court) D. Trivedi (Reigate Priory) J.B. Turner (Ernest Turner Sports) A. Tutt (Bexley)	1978 1968 1991 1974 1957 1956 1964 1978 2002 1974 2002
208 89	U. Valjee (Stanmore) N. Virk (Midland Bank)	1997 1972
19 249 4 109 44 92 152 182 366 138 252 257 47 198 199 143 224 104 128 8	P.J. Wales (Brighton & Hove) J. Walford (Brentwood) K.G. Walker (Barclays Bank) R.W. Walker (Gravesend) J.B. Walters (Malden Wanderers) J. Wardle (Forest Hill) P. Waterman (Wembley) S. Waterton (St. Law. & Highland Ct) G.F. Webb (St. Albans) M. Webber (Woodford Wells) J. Webb (East Molesey) E. Wharton (Reed) R. Wharton (Reed) P.J. Whitcombe (Brentwood) G. Wijesuriya (Finchley) I. Wilki (Lloyds Bank) A. Williams (The Deanery) S. Williams (Blackheath) C.A. Wilson (Southampton Touring) R. Wilson (Midland Bank) G.H. West (Southend-on-Sea)	1951 2007 1948 1976 1959 1973 1982 1991 1956 1986 1986 2017 1960 2016 2017 1960 1994 1981 2002 1974 1981 2094 1978 1978
258 139	D. Yarnley (Chessington) S.E. York (High Wycombe)	2017 1981

CCC Capped Players 1922 – 1947

In this period players were automatically capped on their first appearance

1922

W. Bedford (Southgate) H. Budgen (Kenley) W.T. Cook (Honor Oak) T.G. Grinter (Wanstead & Frinton) G.W. Hammond (Hornsey) J.W. Marston (Loughton) E. Martin (Finchley) A.W.R. Matthews (Cyphers) F.C.W. Newman (Dulwich) J.R. Southerst (Polytechnic) C.H. Titchmarsh (Harpenden)

1923

W.E. Hazelton (Shepherds Bush) C.V. Jenkinson (North Middlesex) A.J. Smith (Lloyds Bank) J. White (Richmond)

1924

R.C. Alwin (Honor Oak) C.H. Gibson (Honor Oak) S.V. Graham (Dulwich) C.D. Gray (Richmond) H.L. Hollis (Blackheath) L.W. Newman (Alexandra Park)

1925

W.T. Brindley (High Wycombe) L.J. Phillips (Woodford Wells) E.E. Purrier (Ilford) H.E.L. Piercy (Westminster Bank) L.S.H. Summers (Dulwich)

1926

H.O. Bloomfield (Lloyds Bank) R.T. Bryan (Lloyds Bank) A.W. Childs Clarke (Private Banks) R.N. Hunt (Barclays Bank)

1927

N.S.M. Atkinson (Hampstead) B.A. Castle (East Grinstead) R.D. Clark (Richmond) W.A.R. Collins (Westminster Bank) D.J. Fevez (Private Banks) F.A, Hawkins (Ealing Dean) H.L. Heelis (Barclays Bank) Dr. J.S. Higgs (Parsons Green) C.E.G. Honeyball (Great Western Railway) E. Hudson P. Ogilvie (Polytechnic) S.R. Oxley (Malden Wanderers) N.K.F. Porter (Dulwich) L.W. Recordon (Honor Oak) L.H. Shelley (Loughton) A.S. Soole (Honourable Artillery Company) R.V. Thornhill (National Provincial Bank) F.E. Whitehead (Hornsey) A. Young (Winchmore Hill)

1928

G.B. Atkinson (Hornsey) P. Attoe (North Middlesex) C.L. Abey (Crystal Palace) H.A.D. Bartlett (Shepherds Bush) T.L. Demery (Shepherds Bush) H. Edmunds (Wanstead) C.W. Langford (Catford Wanderers) H.A. Packhan (Surbiton) M. Raison (Dulwich) W.L.T. Webb (Cyphers)

1929

S. Nazeer Ali ((London University) L.G. Baker (High Wycombe) P.N. Blythe Brook (Britannic House) F.C. Hawker (Old Citizens) V.E. Jarvis (Westminster Bank) R.W. Marshall (Littlehampton) C.S. Mercer (South West Ham) G. Morris (Battersea) C.E. Nicol (Honor Oak) T.N. Pearce (Private Banks) L.D. Sears (Catford Wanderers) G. Sellars (Enfield)

1930

C.S. Davies (Alexandra Park) P.J.H. Dunn (Beckenham) E.W. Gomm (Bank of England) P.D. Hawes (Forest Hill) R.E. Henty (Honor Oak) G.W. Jones (Great Western Railway) C.F. Simmonds (Highgate) H.H. Smith (Australia House) H.T.O. Smith (Hounslow CC & Midland Bank CC) G.F. Summers (Richmond) J.A. Sunshine (Old Olavians) W.G. Tarrant (Spencer) Howard Taylor (Blackheath) J.W. Taylor (Tufnell Park)H.P. Waugh (Buckhurst Hill)

1931

E. Barber (Leigh-on-Sea) Dr. R.E. Batson (Hornsey) I.Chapman (Brentwood Mental Hospital) C.B. Fordham (Bishop's Storfford) W.F. Goold (The Romany) J.J. Green (Great Western Railway) J.W. Harrison (Old Whitgiftians) J.G. Heaslip (Hounslow) R.B. Hills (Charlton Park) C.E. Honey (Old Collegians) R. Illingworth (Ealing Dean) V. Lund (Slough) F.G. Mabbutt (Old Alleynians) A.J. McLaren (Metropolitan Police)
E.G. Martin (Woodford Wells) J.E. Merrall (South West Ham) P.E. Musgrave (Chiswick Park) N.C. Nicholson (Winchmore Hill) J.W. Perman (Upper Clapton) A. Rowe (Merton) J.P. Rowley (Mill Hill Park) R.H. Rutter (Beaconsfield) F.N. Shepherd (Honourable Artillery Company) C.S.F. Smith (Hounslow) C. Thain (Sutton) D.F. Walker (Wimbledon) E.W. Weymouth (Honor Oak) C. Williams (Westbourne Park)

1932

G.M. Atkins (Exiles) R. Burton (Southgate) J.H. Evans (Catford Wanderers) C.G. Howard (Private Banks) H.T. Hunt (Lloyds Bank) A.E. Jones (Alleyn Old Boys) H.S. Malik (Indian Gymkhana) S.W. Newnham (Honor Oak) E.S. Phillips (Merton) J.F.E. Short (Wimbledon) G.F. Stedman (Woodford Wells) L.B. Thompson (Ealing)

1933

L.R. Bernard (Westminster Bank) S.F. Brown (Uxbridge) G. Cornu (Blackheath) H.P. Crabtree (Westcliffe-on-Sea) H.R. Crouch (Esher) A.J. Delcombe (South Hampstead) R.E. Evans (Gravesend) I.J. Fraser (Bromlev) A.F. Fredman (Chiswick Park) A. Grimsdell (West Herts) A.B. Lavers (Buckhurst Hill) D.N. Moore (Croydon) L.F. Parslow (Chingford) S.M.H. Spearing (Bank of England) H. Taylor (Metropolitan Police) F.M. Turnbull (Sidcup)

1934

L. Allen (West Surrey) F.F. Boles (Spencer) C.E. Butcher (Finchley) D.S. Clarke (Westcliffe) R. Felton (Ealing) J.W. Hodsoll (Beckenham) E.J. Ide (Mitcham) W. Isard (Tunbridge Wells) H. King (Richmond) V.G. King (Great Western Railway) H.M. Lawson (Basingstoke) J.E. Lear (Brondesbury) G.O. Lisle (London Devonian) J.T. Marriott (Barclays Bank) L.G. Merrett (Old Grammarians) G.M. Mill (Alexandra Park) E.E. Moloney (Wembley) J.A. Seward (Malden Wanderers) D.J. Smith (Barclays Bank) C.H. Smith (Barclays Bank) C.H. Smith (Wanderers) L.A. Smith (Will Hill) H. Stirling (Bickley Park) V.J. Thornton (Southend) A. Watson (Leavesden Hospital)

1935

H.E. Avery (Malden Wanderers) A.R.N. Carter (Old Millhillians) L. Cole (Banstead) R.S. Culmer (Mitcham) J.N. Dennis (Southgate) F.B. Eastwood (Sidcup) G.C. Gunn (Private Banks) A.F.G. Hayzelden (Old Merchant Taylor's) C.F. Higgins (South Hampstead) J.E. Lloyd (Slough) C.C. Lockitt (Bank of England) D.C. Smith (Chiswick Park W.A. Smith (University Athletic Union) G. Shneerson (St Mary's Hospital) H.H. West (Southend-on-Sea) K.G. Williamson (Old Merchant Taylor's)

1936

F. Allen (Finchley) G.C. Boadella (Northampton Polytechnic) J.H. Carter (Shepherds Bush) A.J.E. Challis (Merton) H.E. Gabriel (Lloyds Bank) W. Hassall (Metropolitan Police) G.C. Henderson (Bournemouth) E.A. Ingram (Ealing) R.J. Marshall (St Helen's, Isle of Wight) J.W. Moore (Thorneycrofts) J.P. Parker (Havant) H.D. Pickering (Hornsey) V. Ransom (Malden Wanderers) K.L. Robinson (Wallington) D.W. Stokes (Reading) C.E. White (Basingstoke) C.W. Writer (Old Merchant Taylor's)

1937

R.H. Barber (Metropolitan Police) J.P. Blake (Havant) S.H. Cooper (Beddington) R. Fooks (Blandford) H.P. Hall (Southsea) G.A.F. Jewell (Basingstoke) L.J. King (Uxbridge) R.B. Meikle (Catford) G.D. Penn (National Provincial Bank) J.D. Pettigrew (Metropolitan Police) E.E. Purrier (Ilford) S.G. Smith (Sevenoaks Vine) L.W. Thompson (National Provincial Bank) W.T. Western (South Hampstead)

1938

G.L.B. August (Hornsey) A.C.L. Bennett (B.B.C.) A.N. Buckmaster (Beckenham) K.J. Compton (Richmond Town) A.C. Gadsby (Malden Wanderers) F.E.H. Gibben (Ilford) E.A. Havnes (Pearl Assurance) D.K. Mackintosh (Catford) H.J. Malcolm (South Hampstead) J.W. Martin (Catford Wanderers) A.G. Skinner (Slough) J.E.W. Waddington (Woodford Wells) D.A. Wakeford (Catford) W.B. Walton (Finchlev) P. Weaver (Bournemouth) F.C. Wood (Metropolitan Police)

1939

W. Banks (F.G. Minter) D.F.R. Emus (Dulwich) G. Ford (Bournemouth) W. Fulwood (Metropolitan Police) R. George (South Woodford) H.J. Grav (City of London Police) D.E.B. Harris (Bank of England) J. Hastie (Burnham) T.G.P. Jearv (Dulwich) R.E. Kettle (Richmond) R.A. Robertson (Private Banks) R. Robotham (hastings & St Leonards) E.R. Smith (Wimbledon) W.G. Spencer (Chingford) W.S. Surridge (Old Emanuel) H.J. Uden (West Surrey)

1940

F.W. Hobbs (Finchley)

1941

.G. Cannons (Old Tiffinians)

1942

M. Begent (Orpington) S.A. Couzens (Walthamstow) K. Cranston (U.A.U) J.W. Levy (Finchley) E.J. Mulley (Honor Oak) G. Potter Merton) P. Thompson (Middlesex Hospital) G. Veglio (North Middlesex) W.S. Wenham (West Herts)

1943

K.D.G. Crowhurst (Metropolitan Police) K.R. Harding (Ilford) P.J. Nelson (Finchley) A.P. Pearce (Ealing Dean) E.K. Scott (St Mary's Hospital) C.E.H. Topping (Edmonton) W.F. Waters (Epsom)

1944

F. Appleyard (West Herts) D.G.W. Fletcher (Epsom) M.S. Glennie | (Southgate) R.B. Livermore (Highgate) A.W.H. Mallett (Beckenham) W.B. Morris (Kenton) R.A. Shaddick (London Hospital) C.K.S. Smith (Hounslow) S.V. Smith (Ferndale)

1945

C.J. Andrews (Southampton & District C.A.) L. Budd (Southampton & District C.A.) C.C.H. Buss (Weybridge)

1946

L.G. Bishop (Catford Wanderers) H. Brearley (Brentham) P.B.D. Bunyan (Polytechnic) R.S. Cooper (Hornsey) R.G. Elmslie (Epsom) D.L. Newman (Alexandra Park) D.H. Richards (Old Westminster Citizens) P. Westerman (Hounslow)

1947

K. Ablack (B.B.C.) W.M.F. Bebbington (Wanstead) P.I. Bedford (Finchley) D.M. Brown (Wanstead) R.E. Evans (Ilford) W. Flood (Hayes) J.M. Leiper (Woodford Wells) J. Meill (Mitcham) K. Smart (Sevenoaks Vine) C.F. Smith (Mitcham) R.G. Warren (Guildford) P.G. Wreford (Brondesbury)

Club Cricket Centurions

The following are known or strongly believed to have scored in excess of 100 centuries in club cricket. Joe Misso is alleged to have scored over 300 andwhilst this seems scarcely believeableeverybody I spoke to who knew Joe agreed it was entirely possible. The highest confirmed total is Len Newman's 250 centuries and a photo can be found on the wall at Enfield CC of him leaving the field after scoring his final one.

Conn Davies Len Newman's opening partner at Alexandra Palace CC also took the small matter of 6,000+ wickets and is one of only 14 people in the history of cricket to have scored a century and taken all 10 wickets in the same match!

There will certainly be more but these are the only ones I have been able to track down in the CCC area.

200+	1	Joe Misso	(Brentham)	310 (unconfirmed)
200+		Len Newman	(Alexandra Park)	310 (unconfirmed) 250 (Confirmed)
		T.G. Grinter	(Frinton on Sea)	210 (Confirmed)
		A.C.L. Bennett	(BBC)	200+ (Confirmed)
		*John Stuck	(Clacton CC)	200+
100+		G.H.A. Arlington	(Lewes Priory & Hastings & St. Leonards Priory)	2001
100+		Tony Baker	(Old Tauntonians CC & Southampton Touring C	
		K. Beaumont	(Sandwich Town CC)	
		Ron Best	(Honor Oak)	
		L.G. Bishop	(Crofton Park)	
		*Mike Boothroyd	(Marlborough 1870 and Chipstead)	
	12.	*Malcolm Bristow	(The Mote)	
	13.	Tony Brown	(Beddington)	
		S. Coleman	(Wanderers and Crystal Palace)	
		*Bob Cooke	(Heywood and Stockport)	
	16.	Arthur Crisp	(Teddington and Teddington Town)	
	17.	Con Davies	(Alexandra Park)	114 (Confirmed)
	18.	*A.R. Day	(Hornsey)	
	19.	S.R. Deadman	(The Crickets)	
		J.W. Denning	(Ealing)	
		R. Dixon	(Gore Court)	
		*Duncan Elder	(North MiddlesexWinchmore Hill & North Mymn	ns)
		S.F. Etheridge	(Barnet)	
		*Charlie Forward	(Old Tauntonians & Romsey CC)	
		*Micky Gear	(Tunbridge Wells)	
		Edward Mills Grace	brother of W.G.	116 (Confirmed)
		Ron Harland	(Orpington and Malden Wanderers)	
		*John Harris	(Deanery CC)	
		G.L. Hebden *Jim Howgego	(Pallingswick & Ealing) (Folkestone)	
		Jack Hyams	(Cockfosters)	176 (Confirmed)
		Peter Johnson	(Mitcham)	ivo (commuca)
		*Gwyn Jones	(Zimbabwe and various clubs)	
		*Geoff Knight	(Reading and Maidenhead & Bray)	
		A.S. Ling	(Wanderers)	
		Henry Malcolm	(South Hampstead)	
		*Andy Meads	(Three Bridges)	150+ (Confirmed)
	38.	*Mike Milton	(Finchley)	102 (Confirmed)
	39.	*Gordon Morgan	(TeddingtonWraysbury)	
	40.	*Steve Plumb	(Bishops Stortford and Saffron Walden)	
	41.	*Malcolm Roberts	(Metropolitan Police)	
	42.	*Trevor Rosier	(Forest Hill)	
		R.W. Shand	(Old Colfeians)	
		P.H. Slater	(Dulwich)	
		Nigel Snell	(Wanstead)	
		*R. Swann	(Bedfordshire CCC)	
		J. Thompson C.H. Titchmarsh	(Catford Wanderers) (Harpenden) – scored 21 of his hund	reds in one sociant
			(Banstead) – scored 21 of his hond	
		*Tony Warrington	(Bury St. Edmonds)	
		*Mark Williams	(Brondesbury)	
		*Keith Wooding	(Holmesdale and Gravesend)	160+ (Confirmed)
*den		a playing and/or still living	1	(22
			110	

County Board Secretaries

Bedfordshire Leicestershire Sally Church, 07880 643076 (m) Martyn Dobson, 0116 244 2198 (w), 07495 092652 (m) sally.church@cricketeast.co.uk martyn@leicestershirecricket.co.uk Berkshire Lincolnshire Mark Roche, 07785 722242 (h) Kevin Spence (CEO), 01522 528838 (w), 07854 mark.roche@berkshirecricket.org 071684 (m), Kspence.cricket@gmail.com **Buckinghamshire** M.C.C.A (Minor Counties) Martin Watts, 01494 875019 (h), 01494 583855 (w), Philip August, 01234 327935 (h), 07930 221744 (m) 07879 696346 (m) martinw@cellartrends.co.uk p.august@sky.com Cambridaeshire Middlesex Keith Coburn, 01223 248048 (h), 07752 241488(m) Bob Baxter, 020 8950 2028 (h), 07887 42158 (m) info@cambscricket.org.uk Rjbaxter2@gmail.com Cheshire Norfolk 2, Moss Farm Cottages, Moss Farm Leisure Complex, David Bowker, 01603 868324, 07798 690660 (m) Northwich, CW8 4BG. david.bowker@norfolkcricket.co.uk Tel: 01606 871200 Northampstonshire Cornwall Keith Parsons, 07713 161085 (m) Simon Menneer, 07770 418042 (m) Kparsons25@aol.com ceo@cornwallcricket.co.uk Northumberland Cumbria Ian Wardle, 0191 260 0508 (w) Office: 01539 560066, John Grainger, 07764 772774 (m) lan.wardle@northumberlandcricketboard.co.uk John.grainger@cumbrialep.co.uk Nottinghamshire Derbyshire lan Smith, 07774 602955 (m) County Ground. lan.smith@ntlworld.com Tel: 01332 386602 Oxfordshire Devon Peter O'Neill, 01844 260439(h), 07711 943449 (m) Jon Sparkes, 01752 895181 pmoneil@oxoncb.com Jonsparkes1974@aol.com Shropshire Dorset Peter Mitchell, 01630 673620(w), 07857 621583 (m) Keith Brewer, 07785 722270 (m) pmmdravton@amail.com Keith.brewer@dorsetcricketboard.co.uk Somerset Durham Andy Fairbairn, 07557 783682 (m) Steven Bell, 0191 387 2868 (w), 07948 254535 (m) andy.fairbairn@somersetcricketboard.org steven.bell@durhamccc.co.uk **Staffordshire** Fssex Steve Billington, 07817 337888 (m) Robyn Hull, 01245 254034 (w) Steve.billington@lineone.net Robyn.hulley@essexcricket.org.uk Suffolk Gloucestershire Toby Pound, 01473 617330 (w), 01473 213288 (h) Steve Silk, 0117 910 8027 (w) Toby.pound@barkergotolee.co.uk Steve.silk@glosccc.co.uk Surrey Hampshire Paul Taylor, 020 7820 5683 (w), 07785 722279 (m) John Cook, 02380 475816 (w), 07766 838779 (m) ptaylor@surreycricket.com John.cook@aaeasbowlplc.com Sussex Herefordshire MD of Sussex Cricket Foundation Herefordshire Cricket Centre, 01432 275189 (h) tim.shutt@sussexcricket.co.uk HerefordshireCB@ecb.co.uk Cricket Wales Hertfordshire Kerry Lloyd, 02920 419341 (w) lan Potton, 01442 884585 (h) kerry.lloyd@cricketwales.org.uk lan.potton@hertscricket.org Warwickshire Huntinadonshire Alex Roslyn, 0121 446 3678 (w) John Walker, 07790 287949 (m) Jwalker189@btinternet.com alexroslyn@edgbaston.com Wiltshire Isle of Wight Phil Mew (Chairman), 01983 530551 (h) Chris Sheppard, 07831 565866 (m) chris.sheppard@wiltshirecricket.co.uk philmew@hotmail.com Worcestershire Kent Tanya Nicholls (PA to the CEO), 01227 473603 (m) Craig Oakley, 07467 957944 (m) Tanya.nicholls.kent@ecb.co.uk Craig.oakley@wccc.co.uk Lancashire Yorkshire YCB Head Office, Headlingly Stadium, St. Michaels

Bob Hinchcliffe (Chairman), 0161 773 4145 (h), 07791 856271 (m), Bobhinchcliffe11@hotmail.com

Lane, Leeds, LS6 3BU, 01132 033668

League Directory 2020

Symbols: C=Champions in 2019 C&P=Champions in 2019 and promoted

N=New Club in league

East Anglian Premier Cricket League. ECB Premier. Sponsors: Read Brothers Ltd

Website: http://eapcl.plav-cricket.com Sec: Andrew Abbott: 07899 927751, eapl@tesco.net

Premier League

Burwell & Exnina Frinton On Sea (C) Bury St Edmunds Great Witchingham Horsford Cambridae Copdock & Old Ipswichian Mildenhall

Saffron Walden Sawston & Babraham (N) Sudburv Swardeston

Essex League. ECB Premier. Sponsors: Shepherd Neame

Website: http://www.essexcricket.com Sec: Cliff Greenhill, 07906 942782, cliff.greenhill@btinternet.com

Premier Division **Division One** Belhus Buckhurst Hill (R) Fives & Heronians Billericav Brentwood (C) Horndon on the Hill (P) Chelmsford Hutton Chingford llford (R) Colchester & East Essex (C&P) Loughton Hadleigh & Thunderslev Old Southendians & Harold Wood (P) Southchurch (C&P) Hornchurch Shenfield Wanstead Upminster Woodford Wells

Division Two Benfleet Frenford Gidea Park & Romford (R) Harlow Town Leigh on Sea (C&P) Oakfield Parkonians Orsett & Thurrock Southend on Sea & EMT (R) Old Brentwoods (R) Westcliff on-Sea (P) Wickford

Division Three

Ardleigh Green & Havering-Atte-Bower Barkina (N) Eppina Goresbrook Harlow Newham (N) Rainham (N) South Woodford (R) Springfield (N) Stanford le Hope Walthamstow West Essex Woodford Green

Essex County Cricket League. Sponsors: Wintec Sports

Website: http://essexccl.play-cricket.com Sec: Syed Islam. 07412 682534. sislammcsm@gmail.com

Premier Division

Ace-Avengers 1 Aztecs 1 (C) Barking 2 (C&P) Bow Green 1 Hawks 1 Newham 2 (P) Redbridge 1 Roding Valley 1

Premier Two

Ace-Avengers 2 Aztecs 3 Aztecs 4 Hawks 2 London Tiger East 2 Newham 3 Redbridge 2 Roding Valley 2 Super Rangers 2 Barkina 3 Bow Green 2

Championship

3 Caps 1 Anirban 1 Aztecs 2 East London Titans 1 London Tiger East 1 Millwall Stars 1 Neo 1 (C) Redbridge Parks 1 Scintilla 1 Shane Moss 1 Spartans 1 Super Rnaaers 1

Mid-Essex Cricket League. Sponsors: T. Rippon

Website: http://midessexcl.play-cricket.com Sec: Debbie Pugh, 07708 844604, debpughtrl@hotmail.com

Premier Division

Aythorpe Roding 1 Bentley 1 Baddow 1 Hornchurch Athletic 1 (P) Little Baddow 1 (P) Old Chelmsfordians 1 Rayleigh 1 Rettendon 1 (P) Springfield 2 (P) Stock 1

Fourth Division

Great Waltham 2 High Easter 1 (R) Hornchurch Athletic 2 (P) Old Chelmsfordians 2 (R) (N)Rainham 2 Rankins 1 (R) Rayleigh Fairview 1 (R) Rayne 1 South Woodham Ferrers 1 Willow Herbs (Mountnessing) 1 (P)

First Division

Balisdon & Pitsea 1 (P) Bengal Troppers 1 (N) Burnham Sports 1 (P) Great Totham 1 (R) Great Waltham 1 Noak Hill Taveners 1 (P) Tillingham 1 Waltham Wanderers 1 Woodham Mortimer 1 (P) Writtle 1

Fifth Division

Brookweald 2 (P) Great Baddow 2 (R) Ilford Catholic 2 (N) Ongar 1 Purleigh 1 (R) Rainham 3 (P) South Weald 2 Stock 2 (R) Theydon Bois 1 (N) Tillingham 2

Second Division

Broomfield 1 (P) E Hanningfied & Gt Burstead 1 (P) Eastwood 1 Epping Foresters 1 (N) Hatfield Peverel 1 (P) High Roding 1 Ilford Catholic 1 (N) Ingatestone & Fryerning 1 South Weald 1 (R) Terling 1

Sixth Division

Balisdon & Pitsea 2 Beaulieu Park (P) Boreham 1 E Hanningfied & Gt Burstead 2 (P) Eastwood 2 (R) Ingatestone & Fryerning 2 Rayleigh 3 (R) Rettendon 2 (R) Springfield 4 (P) St Johns Billericay 1

Third Division

Bentley 2 (R) Brookweald 1 (R) Great Canvey Island 1 (R) Galleywood 1 Great Totham 2 (P) Great Wakering 1 (P) Navestock 1 Rayleigh 2 (R) South Loughton 1 (N) Springfield 3

Seventh Division

Broomfield 2 (P) Burnham Sports 2 (N) Chelmsford Super Kings (R) Epping Foresters 2 High Roding 2 (N) Noak Hill Taveners 2 (R) Rankins 2 Rayleigh 4 (P) Woodham Mortimer 2 Writtle 2 (R)

Herts & Essex Border League. Sponsors: Tees Law

Website: tba Sec: Ben Sammons, 07852 510330, bensammons3178@yahoo.com

- new in 2020

Premier Division
Bishop's Stortford 3
Farnham
Hatfield Heath
Little Hallingbury
Matching Green
Nazing Common 1
North Weald
Potter Street
Stanstead Hall & Els 1
Thorley 1

Division 1 Abridge Braughing Cloghams High Beach Hockerill 1 Nazing Common 2 Stansted 1 Thaxted Willingale Woodford Wells 4 Division 2 Ardeley Walkern Bengeo Essendon Little Munden Sawbridgeworth 3 Stansted Hall & Els 2 Takeley 2 Wormley

Division 3

Albury Bishop's Stortford 4 Harlow 5 Harlow Town 4 Hawks 3 Hockerill 2 Thorley 2 Thundridae

Home Counties Premier Cricket League. ECB Premier

Website: http://www.hcpcl.com Sec: Michael Roberts, 07785 364730, mcroberts090856@gmail.com

Division One	Divi
Aston Rowant	Ame
Banbury	Burn
Buckingham Town	Che
Datchet	Gree
Finchampstead	Hare
Henley (C)	Hors
High Wycombe	Oxfo
Oxford (P)	Slou
Thame Town (C&P)	War
Tring Park	Wok

vision Two nersham

Burnham Chesham Great Brickhill (P) Harefield Horspath (R) Oxford Downs Slough (R) Wargrave (P) Wokingham

Hertfordshire Cricket League. ECB Premier. Sponors: Saracens RFC

Website: http://www.hertsleague.co.uk Sec: Barry Hellewell, 87 Ware Road, Hoddesdon, Middx, EN11 9AD, 01992 422160(h), 07842 206529(m) barryhellewell@hotmail.com

Premier

Harpenden Hertford Hoddesdon (C&P) North Mymms Potters Bar Radlett (C) Reed (P) Totteridge Millhillians Welwyn Garden City West Herts

Division Two A

Abbots Langley Berkhamstead Bushev (P) Chorleywood Kings Langley (R) Knebworth Park (R) Redbourn (C&P) St Albans Stevenaae Watford Town

Championship

Bishop's Stortford (R) Dunstable Town Flitwick Hemel Hempstead Town Langleybury (C&P) Letchworth Garden City Luton Town & Indians (R) Old Owens Preston (P) Shenley Village

Division Two B

Allenburys & County Hall Flitwick 2 Hertford 2 Hoddesdon 2 (P) Northchurch (C&P) Northwood Old Elizabethians (R) Potters Bar 2 (P) Radlett 2 Welwyn Garden City 2

Division One

Ampthill Town (R) Broxbourne Harpenden 2 Hitchin Holtwhites Trinibis (C&P) Ickleford Leverstock Green (R) Old Albanian Sawbridgeworth St Margaretsbury (P)

Division Three A

Chipperfield Clarendon Datchworth Dunstable Town 2 Eversholt Letchworth Garden City 2 Luton Town & Indians 2 North Enfield Parkfield & Headstone (C&P) Southgate Adelaide Potton Town (R) Totteridge Millhillians 2 (R)

Division Three B

Bayford & Hertford Cockfosters (R) Harpenden 3 Hemel Hempstead Town 2 Lutonian Reed 2 (C&P) Sandridae (P) West Herts 2 Wheathampstead

Thames Valley Cricket League. Sponsors: Morrant

Website: http://www.tvlcricket.com Sec: Matthew Stevenson, 07745 949107), secretary@tvlcricket.com

Division One

Beaconsfield 1 (C&P) Bovne Hill 1 Cookhan Dean 1 Cove 1 Falkland 1 Gerrards Cross 1 Ickenham 1 (C&P) North Maidenhead Slough 2 Stoke Green 1

Division Three A

Aldershot (R) Boyne Hill 2 Cove 2 Finchampstead 3 Royal Ascot (R) Sonning (C&P) Sulhamstead & Ufton Taplow 1 White Waltham (P) Windsor (R)

Division Two A

Amersham 2 Chesham 2 Datchet 2 (C&P) Hayes (R) Henley 2 High Wycombe 2 (R) Hounslow & Whitton (P) Kew 1 Maidenhead & Bray 1 Tring Park 2

Division Three B

Burnham 2 Farnham Royal Harefield 2 (C&P) High Wycombe 3 Marlow 1 (R) NPL OMT Slough 3 Stoke Green 2 (P) Wraysbury

Baashot 1 Binfield (C&P) Everslev 1 Finchampstead 2 Fleet Hurst Kidmore End Readina 1 Thatcham Town

Division Two B

Wokingham 2 (P) **Division Four A**

Bagshot 2 Eversley 2 (C&P) Falkland 2 (R) Maidenhead & Bray 2 (P) Newbury Purley-on-Thames (RT) Readina 2 Theale & Tilehurst Wargrave 2 Wokingham 3

Division Four B

Beaconsfield 2 (P) Chalfont St.Giles Cookham Dean 2 Gerrards Cross 2 (R) Harpsden (N) Ickenham 2 Kew 2 (R) Marlow 2 Ruislip Taplow 2 (C&P)

Middlesex County Cricket League. ECB Premier

Website: http://www.middlesexccl.com Sec: Nick Brown, 07961 428176, honsecretary@middlesexccl.com

Premier Division Division Brondesbury (P) Acton Crouch End (C&P) Brenth Ealing Enfield Finchley Harrow Hampstead Highg North Middlesex (C) Hornse Richmond Ostere Shepherds Bush Stanm Twickenham Winch "(was Div 1 of Middx Championship) Winch

Division Two

Acton (C&P) Brentham Enfield Harrow St Mary's (R) Highgate (R) Hornsey Osterely Stanmore (R) Wembley (P) Winchmore Hill onship)

Division Three

Barnes Eastcote (R) Harrow Indian Gymkhana MTSSC North London South Hampstead (C&P) Southgate Uxbridge Wycombe House (R)

Division Four*

Actonians Chiswick Ealing Hanwellians Ealing Trailfinders Harrow Town (R) Headstone Manor Kenton SKLPC Stoke Newington Tower Hamlets

Middlesex Championship

Website: http://www.middlesexchampionship.com Sec: Sue Gallagher, 07939 501607. susan_gallagher1061@hotmail.com

Division One Alexandra Park

Resultation of the Bessborough Friends United London Tigers Southall Lanka Lions North London Muslims Old Isleworthian Perivale Phoenicians Pinner Challengers West Harrow Division Two Ealing Three Bridges Kay Plus Kensington & Chelsea New Calypsonians Northwick Park Peshwa Rajput Samaj Swamibapa Tamil United United Sports

Division Three

Burhani Northolt Manor Harrow Millenniun Lanka Lions New Calypsonians Victoria Park

Kent Cricket League. ECB Premier. Sponsors: Shepherd Neame

Website: http://www.kcl.uk.net Sec: Carolyn Sutton, 07478 001044, carolyn.sutton@live.co.uk

Premier Division

Beckenham (C) Bexley Bickley Park Blackheath Bromley (C&P) Holmesdale (P) Lordswood Sandwich Town Sevenoaks Vine Tunbridge Wells

Division Four

Bromley Town (C&P) Downham & Bellingham Frindsbury Gore Court (R) High Halstow Rainham (Kent) Staplehurst The Roebucks (P) Tonbridge (R) Walmer

Division One

Division Five

Bapchild (R)

Ash (N)

Bexley 3

Offham

Borstal (N)

Faversham

Rodmersham

Addinaton Village (R)

Hartley Country Club Littlebourne

Bromley Common Canterbury (R) Folkestone HSBC (R) Hayes (P) Linden Park Minster (Sheppey) (C&P) Sidcup (P) St Lawrence & HC Upchurch

Ashford Town Broadstairs (R) Chestfield

Division Two

Dartford Harvel (P) Nonington (C&P) OD CUACO Old Wilsonians Tenterden (R) The Mote

Division Three

Bexleyheath Catford and Cyphers Catford Wanderers Cowdrey Gravesend Kings Hill (C&P) Leeds & Broomfield Old Colfeians (P) Orpington (R) Whitstable (R)

Surrey Championship. ECB Premier. Sponsor: AJ Fordham

Website: http://surrevchampionship.com Sec: Brian Driscoll, 07841 385818, briandriscoll@talktalk.net

Premier Division

Ashtead **Banstead** Cranleigh (P) East Molesey (C) Esher Normandy (C&P) **Reigate Priory** Sunbury Weybridge Wimbledon

Division Four

Chertsev Hampton Wick Roval Haslemere Kempton (P) Maori Oxshott Old Emanuel (C&P) Old Pauline Purley (R) Staines & Laleham (R) Trinity Mid Whitgiftians

Division One

Beddington Camberley Chipstead-Coulsdon and Walcountians (C&P) Guildford (R) Leatherhead Malden Wanderers Spencer Stoke D'Abernon (P) Sutton (R) Valley End

Division Five

Allevn Ashford (R) **B**vfleet Cobham Avorians (R) Egham Hampton Hill Horslev & Send Long Ditton (N) SiniumGrammarians Thames Ditton (N)

Division Two

Bank of England Chessington (R) Dorking Dulwich Epsom (P) Farnham Old Wimbledonians (C&P) Oxted & Limpsfield Walton-on-Thames (R) Worcester Park

Division Three

Addiscombe Cheam (P) Churt (C&P) Kingstonian Old Hamptonians Old Rutlishians (C&P) Old Whitgiftians Sanderstead Streatham & Marlborough Woking & Horsell

Surrey County League. Sponsors: Fuller's Brewery

Website: http://surreycountyleague.play-cricket.com Sec: Adrian Waldock, 07973 325146, adrian@adrianwaldock.plus.com

Premier Division

Battersea Ironsides Chaldon CMO Godalming Horlev (P) Linafield London Gymkhana (C&P) Merrow Merstham (R from the Surrey Championship) Newdigate Weybridge Vandals (R from Woodmansterne (C&P) the Surrey Championship)

Division One

Clavaate Effingham (P) Guildford City (R) Putnev Riplev Sheen Park Shepperton Southern Railway, Kenley & Selsdon Wandgas (R)

Division Two

Ewell Merton Mitcham Old Tenisonian (R) Old Tiffinians Roehampton (C&P) Teddington Town Wallington (P) West End Esher Whiteley Village (R)

Division Three

Caterham Chobham Croydon **Enalefield Green** Ewhurst Ham & Petersham (R) Hook & Southborough Morden (R) Warlinaham Worplesdon & Burpham

Surrey Cricket League

Website: http://www.surreycricketleague.co.uk Sec: Robin Ford, 07931 822686 secretary@surreycricketleague.co.uk

Premier Division Balham & Tootina Bec Old Boys Clapham Old Xaverians London Gymkhana Ottershaw & Hamm Moor (P) Osterley 2000 (R) Ploughmans (C&P) St Lukes Surrey Seamers Surrey Warriors 1 Sutton Challengers 1

Division One (C&P) Commonweath Officers Croydon 2 Park Hill Raynes Park FP Spencer Sharks (P) Surrey Warriors 2 Sutton Challengers 2 (P) Wimbledon Corinthians 1

Division Two

Ahmadivva Muslim Youth 1 Ahmadivva Muslim Youth 2 (N) Anglos United (N) Croydon 3 Croydon Lions London Welsh Spelthorne Sports (R) Sutton Challengers 3 (N) Team Mitcham Wallington 3 (N) Wimbledon Corinthians 2

Southern Premier League. ECB Premier. Sponsors: Greene King

Website: http://www.southernpremierleggue.com Sec: Adam Smith, 07988 806693, secretary@southernpremierleague.com

Premier Division	Division One Andover	Division Two Bashley Rydal 2 (C&P)	Division Three Basingstoke & N Hants 2 (R)
	Basingstoke & N Hants 1 (R)	Fair Oak	Gosport Borough (N)
Bashley Rydal 1	0 17		
Bournemouth 1	Calmore Sports	Fawley (P)	Hambledon
Burridge	New Milton	Hartley Witney	Hook & Newham Basics 2 (N)
Hampshire Academy	Portsmouth	Liphook & Ripsley	Hythe & Dibden
Havant 1	Rowledge	OT's & Romsey (R)	Langley Manor (R)
Hook & Newham Basics 1 (C&P)	Sarisbury Athletic	Paultons	Portsmouth & Southsea
Lymington 1	Sparsholt	South Wilts 2	Purbrook
South Wilts 1	St Cross Symondians 2 (P)	Ventor (R)	Tichborne Park
St Cross Symondians 1 (C)	Totton & Eling 1 (C&P)	Waterlooville	Trojans

Sussex Cricket League. ECB Premier. Sponsors: 1st Central

Website: http://sussexcricketleague.play-cricket.com Assistant Sec: Peter Butter, peter.butter@btinternet.com"

Premier Division

Brighton & Hove Cuckfield East Grinstead Fastbourne Hastings & St Leonards Priory (C&P) Haywards Heath (P) Middleton Preston Nomads Roffev (C) Three Bridges

Division Two

Billinghurst Bognor Regis Buraess Hill **Chichester Priory Park** Horsham (R) Lindfield Mayfield (R) Preston Nomads 2 (C&P) Roffey 2 (C&P) St James's Montefiore

Division Three East

Bexhill Brighton & Hove 2 Crawlev Eagles Eastbourne 2 Glynde & Beddingham (P) Ifield (R) Portslade Rve Seaford St Peters (C&P)

Division Three West

Anstv Broadwater Gorina By Sea (R) Findon Henfied (P) Littlehampton, Calpham & Patching Pagham Slinfold (C&P) West Chiltington & Thakeham Worthing

Jersey Cricket Board. Sponors: Jersey Post

Website: http://www.jerseycricketboard.co.uk Sec: Becky Walters, 01534 449759(B), becky@jerseycricketboard.co.uk

- 2019 tables

Premier Division

St Ouen-Sprinfield 1 (C) RGA Walkovers SCF 1 Farmers-Caesareans 1 Rathbone OVs 1

Division One

Rathbones OVs 2 (C) Farmers-Caesareans 2 International Royals 1 St Ouen-Sprinfield 2 RGA Walkovers SCF 2

Division Two

Rathbone OVs Dev XI (C) International Royals 2 Farmers-Caesareans 3 RGA Walkovers SCF 3 St Ouen-Springfield 3

CCC Yearbook Advertisers 2020

The Cricket Paper	/3
Travel Counsellors	/6
The Nightwatchman	/7
The 2G Flicx Pitch	/17
CAPture Hats	/21
Crazycatch	/28
The Matt Partnership	/29
Deutsche Cricket Union	/33
Gentlemen & Players	/41
Nottsport	/54
Wisden Cricket Monthly	/55
Kabir Ali Bowling Clinic	/59
Deutsche Cricket Union	/62
Stuart Canvas	/63
Trophy 365	/71
The Royal Marines Charity	/72
Global Cricket School	/73
SM Cricket UK	/76
Medecins Sans Frontiere	/92
CCC Associate Membership	/103
Dennis Sisis	/169

Sunday Leagues

Bedfordshire County Cricket League. Sponsor: Greene King

Website: http://bedsccl.play-cricket.com Sec: Richard Morris, 07988 680612, secretary@bedsleague.org.uk

Premier Division

Ampthill Town 1 (P) Dunstable Town 1 Eversholt 1 (C&P) Flitwick 1 (C) Lanaford 1 Luton Town & Indians 1 Lutonian 1 Queens Park Westfield 1 Southill Park 1

Fourth Division

Cople 2 Ickwell 2 (R) Langford 2 (C&P) Luton Town & Indians 3 Lutonian 3 (P) Offley & Stopsley 1 Old Warden Queens Park Westfield 3 Stepplinalev 1

First Division

Biddenham 1 Biggleswade Town 1 Caldecote 1 (C&P) Cople 1 (R) Eggington Foresters 1 Ickwell 1 (P) Luton Town & Indians 2 (P) Lutonian 2 Potton Town 1 (R)

Fifth Division

Aspley Guise 1 Bedford 2 (P) Caddington 1 (P) Dunstable Town 3 Eaton Bray 1 (C&P) Flitwick 3 Great Brickhill 2 Harrold 1 (R)

Second Division

Bedford 1 (R) Blunham 1 Clifton 1 (P) Dunstable Town 2 (C&P) Elstow 1 (P) Great Brickhill 1 (R) New Bradwell 1 Preston 1 Queens Park Westfield 2

Sixth Division

Biggleswade Town 2 (R) Leighton Buzzard Town 1 Luton Town & Indians 4 MK Warriors (N) Markvate & Luton Town (N) Elstow 2 (N) Queens Park Westfield 4 Wolvertown Town 1

Third Division

Ampthill Town 2 (R) Eggington Foresters 2 (P) Eversholt 2 Flitwick 2 Hexton 1 (C&P) Kempston Hammers 1 (R) Letchworth Garden City 1 Southill Park 2 Wareslev 1

Seventh Division

Ampthill Town 3 (R) Blunham 2 (R) Caldecote 2 (N) Cranfield University (N) Olney Town (N) Stony Stratford (N)

Britannia Cricket League

Website: https://britanniacricketleague.co.uk Sec: Sharaz Zaman, 14 Clements Court, Ilford, Essex, IG1 2QY 07852 934456, info@britanniacricketleague.co.uk

- 2019 tables

Premier A

Premier B

Elliott Davis (C) London Zalmi (C) British Afghan CSS Prince Chakwaal Stars Aman Dagenham & Redbridge SC B Apex Kings XI Ace Avenger Lions Afahan Zami B.B. Fatima United Pavilion Dagenham & Redbridge SC A

BTCL (British Tamils Cricket League). Sponsor: Lebara

Website: http://www.btcluk.com Sec: Para Silva, 07956 834203, secretary@btcluk.com

Premier Division

Dollishill TU A Eastham A (C&P) Lewisham A Lewisham B Merton Boys A MTSSC A (P) Northerns A Skyrose A (C)

Conference Division

Bromley Concord

Merton Boys B (R)

Plashet (N) Redbridge United

Spartans B

Tamil Union (P)

Young Stars (R)

Hartleyites SC (C&P)

Super Division

Blues Croydon United (C&P) Dollishill TU B Koddaimunai (P) Redbridge LSSC B Stanley Vaddukoddai SC A (R) West 3 (R)

Community Division

A9 Bexley Tamils B Jaffna XI KPCCS A (R) Mitcham Sharks (C&P) MTSSC B (P) Tamil Titans (R) Vaddukoddai SC B

Champion Division

Bexley Tamils A (R) Eastham B (C&P) Eelam Tamils Manipay Parish Red Northerns B Skyrose - Rev (P) Sky Star Uduvil SK (R)

Challenge Division

Merton Boys C New Malden B Old Hartleyite (N) Tamil Warriors B West 3 Gold (N) Yarl Gents (R) Young Royals (P) Young Star Boys (N)

Legends Division

BalmoraL (N) Kent United LTS - Lions Blue (C&P) LTS - Lions Red New Malden A (R) Spartans A (R) Tamil Eagles (P) Tamil Warriors A

Classic Division (new)

5 Star East London KLCC Michaelmen SC Northern SC Shield SC Vaddukoddai SC Legends

Caribbean Cup Competition

Website: http://caribbeancup.play-cricket.com Sec: Dennis Holder, 07966 523604, funtime86@hotmail.com

Group 1

Barking Edmonton Hawks Ilford Town West Indies United Group 2 Bow Green Catford Wanderers London Combined Motsyn Paragon

Chess Valley Sunday League. Sponsors: Lords International

Website: http://www.chessvalley.play-cricket.com Sec: Sue Gallagher, 07939 501607. susan_gallagher1061@hotmail.com

- 2019 tables

Division One

Brondesbury Eagles (C) Holtwhite Trinibis Amersham London Maccabi Vale Harrow Town UCS Old Boys Finchley Ickenham

Division Four

Chingford (C) Edgeware North London Greenwood Park Redbourn Harrow St Mary's 2 Cockfosters

Division Two

Eastcote (C) Hemel Hempstead Town Watford Town Hertford Ealing Hanwellians Harrow St Mary's Uxbridge

Division Five

Stanmore Warriors (C) Bharat/Olympians Potton End Belmont & Edgeware

Division Three

South Hampstead (C) Stanmore Headstone Manor Alexandra Park Brentham St Albans Old Fullerians

Elite Premier Cricket League (EPCL)

Website: http://epcl.play-cricket.com Sec: Raja Zesahan, seshu75@yahoo.com

- 2019 tables

Division One Nasir (C) Epic Ahmadiyya Muslim Youth Croydon YRG Eagles Fazal Sutton Challengers Epic Surrey Kings

Elliott Davis London Cricket League. Sponsors: Elliott Davis Properties

Website: http://www.elliottdavislcl.co.uk Sec: Zia Qaisarani, 07944 324235, zia569@hotmail.com

- 2019 tables	
Premier Division	
Marshes (C)	

Champions Division
Punjab Warriors (C)

Marshes (C)	Punjab Warriors (C
Super Smasher	Safe Skills
Emanuel Merton	Amy 2
Pace	Essex United
Grays	7 Star
Amy	Alfatah
Hounslow	City
London Tigers	MAK Property

Gurerati Metropolitan Cricket League. Sponsors: Starlight Suite

Website: http://gmcl.play-cricket.com Sec: Inayat Kothia, 07956 967652, inayatk@aol.com

- 2019 tables

Premier Division	Division One
Aztecs (C)	London Stallions Brothers (C)
Punjabi Munde	Waltham Green
Pak Lions United	Seven Kings Smashers
London 1	London 2
Amez	London Braves
Kothi 1	Kothi 2
East London	London 3
Aryana	HKSZ

Middlesex Premier Cricket League. Sponsors: Shana

Website : http://www.middlesexpremier.co.uk/ Sec: Mohansinh Darbar, 07538 676459, mohansinhdarbar@gmail.com

Division One Anson Bharat Olympians DIU Community of Southall 1 (P) Friends United (R) Neasden Sri Lankian Cavaliers 1 Stallions (C&P) United Sports West Harrow (C)

Division Four Friends United 2 Harrow Willow Heston United (C&P) Jaguar (R) Neasden 2 (R) South Harrow Stallions 2 (P) West London Lions

Division Two DIU Daredevils 1 DIU Daredevils 2 (C&P) Indiana Lanka Lions Lankians (R) West End Youth Wing (P)

Division Five

DIU Stars United Ealing Three Bridges Gangeshwar 1 Grimsdyke (P) Harrow Lions Muktaiivan (R) West Harrow 2

Division Three

Baladia Youth Club Crick X1 DD Warriors (C&P) Rajput Samaj (R) Shivam (P) United Sports 2 Young Puthoharis (R) Zahira

Division Six

Anson 2 DIU Community of Southall 2 (N) Gangeshwar 2 Harrow Willow (R) Peshwa Scorpions Singh Sabhar Slough (C&P) Sri Lankian Cavaliers 2 (N)

NCL (National Cricket League). Spnsor: Blackhorse Estates

Website: http://www.nationalcricketleague.co.uk Sec: Sajid Patel, 07958 574878, sajidpatel999@hotmail.com

- 2019 tables

Premier

Rat Pack 1 (C) London Tigers 1 EL. L/stone & Frenford 1 Chak De Gagan 1 West Essex 1 Redbridge 1 Newbury Park Eagles

Division Two - Group B

Leyton Avengers (C) Reach Kent Panthers Mayericks Gladiators Challenaers 2 West Essex 2 West Ham

Championship

NEO (C) Rat Pack 2 Oceans XI Pavillion & Amez 1 Dark Horses Newham 1 Supernova United Koth United

EL. L/stone & Frenford 2 (C) London Tigers 2 (C) London Braves Daman Spartan 2 Falcons Redbridae 2 West Ham & Stratford London Lions

Division One

Holtwhites Hawks (C) London Stallions Cornered Tigers East London Titans Challengers 1 Kinas XI London 1 Khans

Division Two - Group A

Moulvibazar **Ilford Knight Riders** London Warriors East London Warriors Centurions Newham 2 Spartan 1 **United Penguines**

Division Three - Group A Division Three - Group B

Stallions Gagan 2 Kinafishers Pavillion & Amez 2 London 2 Eleven Stars Kings London

South East Sunday Cricket League

Website: http://www.sescl.org Sec: Mohammed Kapadia, 07432 480107, mkapadia@sescl.org

Premier Division

Alyesbury Sunday High Wycombe Pakistani Kashmiri Kings Kinara 1 Ramzan Slough Warriors (N) United (C) Watford Haidery 1 (C&P) Woking (P)

First Division

Bijjar Badshahs 1 (C&P) Chesham Rising Stars (R) High Wycombe Eagles H/W Gymkhana (R) IAS Medina Pak Stars Reading East Woking United (P)

Fourth Division

IAS Warriors Kashmiri Sultans (N) Punjab Panthers Reading Continental Reading Gladiators (N) Sapphires Slough Spartans Watford Haidery 2 (R) West Reading 2

Fifth Division (new)

Bijjar Badshahs 2 Hemel Royals Kinara 2 Kings Reading Tigers 2 Rising Stars Roasters United Sultans 2

Second Division

Aylesbury Pakistanis HWDC Junoon (R) Punjab XI Reading Renegades Reading Tigers 1 St Albans Pakistanis Watford Badshahs (R) West Reading 1 (C&P) Woking Tigers (P)

Third Division

Crescent (C&P) Hemel Azad (R) Kashmiri Panthers Knight Riders Lahore Tigers Reading Asians Sensa XI (R) Slough All Stars United Sultans 1 (P)

The Essex Sunday League. Sponsors: Spa-Tec (UK) Ltd

Website: http://www.essexsundayleague.com Sec: Tom Clarke, 07763 607076, tpc1981@hotmail.com

Premier Division

Championship Division

Bardoli Barking (P) Buckhurst Hill Chelmsford Goresbrook Ilford Town (C) Old Brentwoods (C&P) Rainham Upminster Waltham Benfleet (R) Bengal Troopers (N) Billericay Harold Wood Hutton Loughton Rose & Crown Scintilla Stallions Wathamstow (N)

Club Directory

Bedfordshire

Ampthill Town, 1834, Hon Sec: Andy Roberts, r13bbo@tesco.net, 01525 404602, 07724 429276, Fixture Sec: James Potter, jimpots@gmail.com, 01234 306219, 07736 288001, Ampthill Park, Woburn Rd, Ampthill, MK45 2HX, www.ampthilltown.play-cricket.com

Biddenham, 1986, Hon Sec: Richard Ebbs, richard.ebbs@sky.com, 01234 344100, 07986 306217, Fixture Sec: Richard Fone, richard.fone@yahoo.com, 01234 267226, 07818 678697, The Pavilions, Deep Spinney, Biddenham, MK40 4QP, www.biddenham.play-cricket.com

Chinaar, 2019, Hon Sec: Qaiser Malik, qaisernmalik@gmail.com, 07545 129314, Fixture Sec: Haseem Malik, fixtures@chinarcc.co.uk, 07914 493939, Wandering, www.chinarcc.co.uk

Eversholt, 1900, Hon Sec: William Pougher, bill@grosvenortm.co.uk, 01525 280670, 07799 842052, Fixture Sec: Michael Humphrey, mfhumphrey22@yahoo.co.uk, 01525 280545, 07922 161253, Rec Grnd, Eversholt (3m Woburn Abbey), MK17 9DT, www.eversholtcricketclub.co.uk

Luton Town & Indians, 2002, Hon Sec: Dave Cunningham, d-cunningham3@sky.com, 01582 482076, Fixture Sec: Simon Shirley, simon.shirley@babcock.co.uk, 07855 488693, Wardown Park, Old Bedford Rd, Luton, LU2 7HA, www.lticc.co.uk

Berkshire

Boyne Hill, 1890, Hon Sec: Martin Preston, bhcc_secretary@yahoo.co.uk, 07988 204349, Fixture Sec: Michael Powell, michael.powell07@btinternet.com, 07801 476253, Boyn Grove, Highway Rd, SL6 5AE, www.boynehillcc.hitscricket.com

Braywood, 1920, Hon Sec: Jim Nunn, jamesnunn@gmail.com, 07837 522321, Fixture Sec: Duane Carter, duanecarter50@googlemail.com, 07736 051096, Turnbull Cricket Grnd, Fifield, Maidenhead, SL4 4QF, www.braywoodcricketclub.co.uk

Cookham Dean, 1881, Hon Sec: Lesley Austin, Iel.a@sky.com, 01628 526848, Fixture Sec: Rory Millar, rorymillar@hotmail.co.uk, 01628 520202, 07910 963228, Whyteladies Lane, Cookham, SL6 9LF, www.cdcc.freeserve.co.uk

Cranbourne, 1931, Hon Sec: Sarah du Preez, dupreezfamily@btinternet.com, 01628 629703, 07789 637972, Fixture Sec: David Crick, meerkat501@hotmail.com, 07776 326425, Home Park, Datchet Rd, Windsor, SL4 6HX, www.cranbournecc.hitscricket.com

Datchet, 1869, Hon Sec: Omar Arif, omar.arif@hotmail.co.uk, 07872 486930, Fixture Sec: Theunis Jackson, theunis.jackson@t-systems.com, 07956 358942, The Wally Gage Memorial Grnd, London Rd, Datchet, SL3 9JE, www.datchetcc.com

Englefield (Berks), 1896, Hon and Fixture Sec: James Chalfont, jnchalfont@gmail.com, 07426 744880, Englefield Park, Englefield, Nr Reading, TW20 0LF, www.englefieldcc.co.uk

Falkland, 1884, Hon Sec: Rob Marson, secretary@falklandcc.co.uk, 07912 622356, Fixture Sec: Michael Stanton-Jones, fixtures@falklandcc.co.uk, 07827 872002, Enborne St, Wash Common, Newbury, RG14 6TW, www.falklandcc.co.uk

Finchampstead, 1857, Hon Sec: John Reed, hardnose@aol.com, 07932 949700, Fixture Sec: Shelia Porter, sgphome@hotmail.com, 07775 942284, Memorial Park, Finchampstead, RG40 4JU, www.finchampsteadcc.co.uk

Holyport, 1844, Hon and Fixture Sec: Tim Hayes, tim.hayes@uk.lawson.com, 07831 108576, 01494 565099, Moneyrow Green, Holyport, Maidenhead, SL6 2NA, www.holyportc.org.uk

Berkshire

Hurley (Berks), 1959, Hon Sec: Trevor Blachin, secretary@hurleycc.co.uk, 01189 724807, Fixture Sec: Pat Hinnell, patrick.hinnell@ntlworld.com, 01189 692198, 07711 719534, Shepherds Lane, Hurley, SL6 5NG, www.hurleycc.co.uk

Hurst, 1862, Hon Sec: Andrew Ruddock, puddrico@gmail.com, 07834 470143, Fixture Sec: Tim Manser, t.manser@ntlworld.com, 01189 628538, 07866 531203, Wokingham Rd, Hurst, Reading, RG10 0SB, www.hurst.play-cricket.com

Littlewick Green, 1810, Hon Sec: Chris Symonds, chris@thesimbos.f9.co.uk, 01628 825097, 07985 441608, Fixture Sec: Bill Green, jennypgreen@hotmail.com, 01189 320334, Village Green, Littlewick Green, Nr Maidenhead, SL6 3RG, www.littlewickgreencc.net

Maidenhead & Bray, 1798, Hon Sec: Elliot Pinkham, thesecretary@mandbcc.co.uk, 07413 003025, Fixture Sec: Matt Armstrong, armstrongs19@talktalk.net, 01628 776235, 07941 526357, Bray Village adjoining the Church & River, SL6 2AA, www.mandbcc.co.uk

Newbury, 1945, Hon Sec: Paul Monger, paulmonger@live.co.uk, 07747 564491, Fixture Sec: Martin Walker, martinswalker@hotmail.com, 07702 063814, Northcroft Lane, Newbury, RG14 1RS, www.newbury.play-cricket.com

Odney, 1929, Hon Sec: Steve Moss, steve_moss50@hotmail.com, 01344 459501, 07833 658166, Fixture Sec: Mike Finlay, keeperfinlay@hotmail.com, 07941 695155, The Odney Club, Odney Lane, Cookham, SL6 9SR, www.odney.play-cricket.com

Pinkneys Green, 1885, Hon Sec: Kevin Snapes, kevin.snapes@hp.com, 07758 228849, 01628 621912, Fixture Sec: Steve Jinman, sjinman@hotmail.com, 07909 655409, 020 822 28441, Pinkneys Drive, Maidenhead, SL6 6DS, www.pitchero.com/clubs/pinkneysgreencc/

Purley-On-Thames, 1969, Hon Sec: Paul Neal, paulneal.mail@btinternet.com, 01189 417957, Fixture Sec: Barry Carter, bazzercarter@hotmail.com, 01189 422075, Rec Grnd. Beech Rd, Purley-on-Thames, RG8 8DR, www.purleyonthamescc.co.uk

Reading Lawyers, 1936, Hon Sec: Mark Symons, msymons@pitmans.com, 01235 850276, 01189 580224(B), Fixture Sec: Mark Symons, msymons@pitmans.com, 07879 487083, 01189 570340, Wandering,

Royal Ascot, 1883, Hon Sec: Andrew Murray, popster198@yahoo.com, 07719 283057, Fixture Sec: Ralph Weeks, e708b9@erac.com, 07921 624763, The Heath, Ascot Racecourse, Winkfield Rd, Ascot, SL5 7LJ, www.royalascotcc.co.uk

Royal Household, 1903, Hon Sec: David Easter, blightyeaster@googlemail.com, Fixture Sec: Geoffrey Croasdale, g.croasdale@btopenworld.com, 01753 850564, 07470 305464, Frogmore, Windsor Castle, Home Pk, Windsor, SL4 2JG, www.facebook.com/pages/The-Royal-Household-Cricket-Club-Windsor-Castle/140638202661066

Slough, 1849, Hon Sec: Goutham Shrikrishna, secretary@sloughcc.co.uk, 07970 006222, Fixture Sec: Ajay Kaushik, fixture@slughcc.co.uk, 07515 084172, Ellis Park, Upton Court Rd, Slough, SL3 7LT, www.sloughcc.co.uk

Sonning, 1870, Hon Sec: Gary Philips, gary.phillips@simplers.co.uk, 07500 336879, Fixture Sec: Bill Travers, wbtravers@yahoo.co.uk, 020 7350 1745, King Georges Field, Pound Lane, Sonning, RG4 6XE, www.sonningcc.co.uk

Thatcham Town, 1878, Hon Sec: Ian Redmond, ian.redmond@talk21.com, 01635 867695, 07729 964522, Fixture Sec: Malcolm Bloor, mbloor@docherty.co.uk, 01635 871625, 07874 237958, Brownsfield Rd, Thatcham, RG18 3HF, www.ttcc.hitscricket.com

Berkshire

Theale & Tilehurst, 1829, Hon Sec: Simon Bond, sbond@uk.ey.com, 07970 615183, Fixture Sec: John Morris, spike@thealeandtilehurst.co.uk, 07906 247737, Rec Grnd, Englefield Rd, RG7 5AS, www.thealeandtilehurst.co.uk

Twyford & Ruscombe, 1791, Hon Sec: Mark Higgins, higgy7776@gmail.com, 07525 051122, Fixture Sec: Ian Evans, ian.evans@cwc.ac.uk, 07805 425155, Stanlake Meadow, Twyford, RG10 0BL, www.twyfordcc.org.uk

Wargrave, 1860, Hon Sec: Ken Clark, kenclark3@btinternet.com, 01189 665977, 07885 674020, Fixture Sec: Dave Jeary, 01189 406700, Woodclyffe Grnd, Recreation Rd, Wargrave, RG10 8BG, www.wargravecc.co.uk

Welford Park, 1900, Hon Sec: C. Felton, secretary@welfordparkcc.co.uk, 01635 281282, Fixture Sec: Ian Herrington, 01488 648132, 07879 204696, Welford Rd, Welford, Nr. Newbury, RG20 8HU, www.welfordparkcc.co.uk

White Waltham, 1879, Hon Sec: Jonny Mahoney, jonny.mahoney29@gmail.com, 07909 781075, Fixture Sec: Tony White, tonyabwhite@btinternet.com, 01494 535300, 07786 197247, Waltham Rd, White Waltham, SL6 3SH, www.whitewaltham.play-cricket.com

Windsor, 1995, Hon and Fixture Sec: Rob Noble, robnoble30@yahoo.co.uk, 07786 277674, Home Park, Romney Lock Rd, Windsor, SL4 6HX, www.windsorcc.com

Windsor Great Park, 1861, Hon Sec: Carl Kneale, carlkneale@aol.com, 01753 856479, 07803 267885, Fixture Sec: Russell Cox, ruscox@gmail.com, 07713 747764, York Club, Windsor Great Park, SL4 2HT, www.pitchero.com/clubs/windsorgreatparkcc

Wokingham, 1825, Hon Sec: Paul Hayter, info@wokinghamcricketclub.co.uk, 07767 266506, Fixture Sec: Richard Runham, richard.runham@genesyslab.com, 01189 780361, 07841 134726, Sadler's End, Sindlesham, Wokingham, RG41 5AW, www.wokinghamcricketclub.co.uk

Woodcote, 1880, Hon Sec: Crawford Anderson, andersoncrawford@hotmail.com, 01189 673892, 07789 381141, Fixture Sec: Bob Sunerton, bob.sunerton@btinternet.com, 01189 429148, 07980 485093, Woodcote Rec Grnd, Reading Rd, Woodcote, RG8 0QY, www.woodcote.play-cricket.com

Wraysbury, 1926, Hon Sec: Tom Dibley, dibs369@hotmail.com, 07775 587633, 01784 483056, Fixture Sec: Tom Dibley, dibs369@hotmail.com, 07775 587633, 01784 483175, The Green, Wraysbury 01784 482155 Club, TW19 5NA, www.wraysbury.play-cricket.com

Buckinghamshire

Amersham, 1856, Hon Sec: Tony Chick, tchick@star-emea.com, 07827 340125, Fixture Sec: Nick Piper, nick.piper@kanzan.co.uk, 01296 696660, 07788 583409, Shardeloes, Missenden Rd, Old Amersham, HP7 0RN, www.amershamcc.co.uk

Beaconsfield, 1825, Hon Sec: Graham Daniel, graham.daniel@baesystems.com, 07801714911, Fixture Sec: Derek Cameron, derekiancameron@yahoo.co.uk, 07747 768768, Wilton Pk, London Rd, Beaconsfield, HP9 2HZ, www.beaconsfieldcc.com

Bledlow Ridge, 1919, Hon Sec: Ian Murdoch, ian496@sky.com, 01494 445084, 07525 911894, Fixture Sec: Martin Harris, martin_harris70@hotmail.com, 01494 521360, 07762 017355, Meadow Styles, Chinnor Rd, Bledlow Ridge, HP14 4AE, www.bledlowridgecricketclub.co.uk

Bledlow Village, 1889, Hon Sec: Roger Downes, roger328downes@hotmail.com, 01296 747020, 07779 710539, Fixture Sec: Steve Williams, s.williams952@btinternet.com, 07810 488255, 01844 346912, West Lane, Bledlow, HP27 9PF, www.bledlowvillage.play-cricket.com

Buckinghamshire

Chalfont St Peter, 1850, Hon Sec: Matthew Stevenson, mcs1728@btinternet.com, 01628 487516, 07724 192627, Fixture Sec: Jonathan Chater, jonathanchater@gmail.com, 01895 312978, 07879 261285, Chalfont Park, Chalfont St Peter, SL9 0QA, www.cspcc.hitssports.com

Challoners, 1949, Hon and Fixture Sec: Howard Chamberlain, howardcchamberlain@gmail.com, 07914 424865, 01494 782359, Barn Meadow, Amersham Old Town, HP7 0EL, www.challonerscc.playcricket.com

Chenies & Latimer, 1878, Hon Sec: Ms Pat Semon, psemon04@aol.com, 01494 763843, Fixture Sec: Sue Eltringham, sueeltringham@btinternet.com, 01923 283612, 07973 796522, Latimer Rd, Chenies, WD3 6EN, www.chenies-cricket.org

Chesham, 1848, Hon Sec: Mark Hall, Fixture Sec: Chris Royals, chrisroyals123@hotmail.com, 07717 797693, 01494 431190, The Meadow, Amy Lane, Chesham, HP5 1NE, www.chesham.hitscricket.com

Chesham Bois, 1880, Hon Sec: Ross Jacobs, ross.jacobs@hotmail.co.uk, 07922 552810, Fixture Sec: Peter Withams, pete@choralconnections.com, 01494 866389, The Common, North Rd, Chesham Bois, HP6 5NA, www.pitchero.com/clubs/cheshamboiscric

Denham, 1892, Hon Sec: Raj Jagram, jagram_jags@yahoo.co.uk, 07578 805006, Fixture Sec: Phil Ashworth, pjashworth38@hotmail.co.uk, 01895 673321, Way & Tillard Mem Grnd, Cheapside Lane, Denham, UB9 5AE, www.denhamcc.play-cricket.com

Family, 2018, Hon Sec: Pimms Banwait, mail@familycricketclub.co.uk, 07531 276871, Fixture Sec: Kully Banwait, mail@familycricketclub.co.uk, 07538 720236, Wandering, www.familycricketclub.co.uk

Farnham Royal, 1889, Hon Sec: Paul Cunnington, secretary@frcc.info, 07956 385287, Fixture Sec: Omar Khan, fixtures@frcc.info, 07795 328105, Rectory Field, Church Rd, Farnham Royal, SL2 3AW, www.frcc.info

Fiddlers, 1948, Hon Sec: Alison Woodworth, david.woodworth1@btopenworld.com, 01753 581216, Fixture Sec: Matt Baglow, mattbaglow@hotmail.co.uk, 07921 066693, 07970 827906, Wandering, www.fiddlerscricketclub.com

Future Legends, 2013, Hon and Fixture Sec: Nigel Bruce, nigel@futurelegends.me.uk, 01628 302014, 07841 628403, Wandering, www.futurelegends.me.uk

Gerrards Cross, 1882, Hon and Fixture Sec: Ian Thompson, thommo642@gmail.com, 07769 770661, Dukes Lane, Gerrads Cross, SL9 7JZ, www.gxcc.co.uk

Great Missenden Pelicans, 1964, Hon Sec: Peter Greenwood, pelicans103@gmail.com, 01494 862592, 07889 809333, Fixture Sec: John Greenwood, greenwoodj1@sky.com, 01869 357935, 07711 513987, behind the Nags Head, London Rd, Great Missenden, HP16 0DG, www.pelicanscc.org.uk

High Wycombe, 1823, Hon Sec: Gavin Elliott, gavin@hwcc.co.uk, 01494 537878, 07712 044807, Fixture Sec: Keith Newell, keith@hwcc.co.uk, 01494 537878, 07855 776651, London Rd, High Wycombe, HP11 1DE, www.hwcc.co.uk

Hyde Heath, 1963, Hon Sec: Paul Haddock, paul@foxandchave.com, 01494 723609(B), Fixture Sec: Matt Sims, m.sims760@btinternet.com, 01494 837585, 07507 490430, The Common, Hyde Heath, Amersham, HP6 5RW, www.hydeheath.com/cricket.htm

lvinghoe & Pitstone United, 1840, Hon and Fixture Sec: David Frankum, david.frankum@ntlworld.com, 01296 582696, 07761 478045, Rec Grnd, Pitstone, LU7 9EF, www.ivinghoepitstone.play-cricket.com

Jordans Taverners, 1923, Hon Sec: Tim Bingle, thebingles@aol.com, 01494 730566, 07810 305767, Fixture Sec: Robin Yolland, 01494 875565, 07884 003068, Seer Green Lane, Jordans Village, Nr Beaconsfield, HP9 2ST, www.javs.co.uk

Buckinghamshire

Knotty Green, 1904, Hon Sec: Nick Scott, info@knottygreencc.co.uk, Fixture Sec: Tommy Patel, thomaspatel95@yahoo.com, 07930 614749, Forty Green Rd, Knotty Green, Nr Beaconsfield, HP9 2TN, www.knottygreencc.co.uk

Ley Hill, 1947, Hon Sec: Eleanor Phillips, eleanorphi02@aol.co.uk, 07493 194294, Fixture Sec: Tom Holman, tomholman87@hotmail.com, 07879 632132, Ley Hill Common, Ley Hill, HP5 1UT, www.lhcc.org

Little Missenden Misfits, 1976, Hon Sec: Mark Hallam, mark.bluezoo@gmail.com, 01494 862831, 07429 449947, Fixture Sec: Guy Young, guy.young@hotmail.co.uk, 07713 742440, Highmore Field, Penfold Lane, Little Missenden, HP7 0QU, www.freeteams.com/misfits

Marlow, 1829, Hon Sec: Simon Trotter, simon.keith147@gmail.com, 01628 521102, 07971 189734, Fixture Sec: Stuart Peacock, wistalma@live.co.uk, 07809 438850, 01628 522008, Marlow Spts Club, Pound Lane, off High St, Marlow, SL7 2AE, www.marlowcc.co.uk

Marlow Park, 1892, Hon Sec: Derek Hoggan, delandjules@hotmail.co.uk, 07767 881932, Fixture Sec: Julian White, jwhite@emailer.org.uk, Higginson Park, Lower Pound Lane, Marlow, SL7 2AE, www.marlowparkcricketclub.co.uk/

Open University (Milton Keynes), 1970, Hon and Fixture Sec: Asif Mujawar, asif.muj@gmail.com, Open University, Walton Hall, Milton Keynes, MK7 6AA, www.openuni.play-cricket.com

Penn & Tylers Green, 1909, Hon Sec: Paul Finch, paulfinch@mrib.com, 01494 816227, 07971 263863, Fixture Sec: Jeff Morris, jeffandsue14@hotmail.com, 01494 813968, 07879 668246, Elm Rd, Penn, HP10 8LF, www.pennandtylersgreen.play-cricket.com

Phoenix Rugby Football Club, 1963, Hon Sec: Howard Neal, howard.neal@btinternet.com, 01628 633195, 07905 312365, Fixture Sec: Rick Porter, pvccomponents@unicombox.com, 07831 106852, 020 8840 2936, Phoenix & Claires Court Spts Club, Institute Rd, Taplow, SL6 0NS,

Princes Risborough, 1837, Hon Sec: Pratik Bhattacharya, secretary@prcricket.org.uk, 07801 334285, Fixture Sec: James Scully, fixtures@prcricket.org.uk, 07510 925936, Windsor Playing Fields, Horsenden Lane, HP27 9NE, www.prcc.org.uk

Taplow, 1850, Hon Sec: Geoffrey Herbert, gph1617@gmail.com, 01628 604295, 07717 872394, Fixture Sec: Simon Christy, simonjchristy@yahoo.co.uk, 01189 574304, Ten Acres, Berry Hill, Taplow, SL6 0EP, www.taplowcc.org.uk

The Lee (Bucks), 1875, Hon Sec: Patrick Walsh, patrick_a_walsh@hotmail.co.uk, 01494 864895, 07887 736205, Fixture Sec: Ed Boakes, coup206@sky.com, 01494 837333, 07912 288712, Manor Park, The Lee, Great Missenden, HP16 9NA, www.theleecc.org.uk

Wendover, 1865, Hon Sec: Simon Thornton, thorntonsimon@virginmedia.com, 07811 255455, Fixture Sec: Jonathan Seabrook, jseabrook@talktalk.net, 01296 623286, 07767 148119, Ellesborough Rd, Wendover, HP22 6EL, www.wendovercc.play-cricket.com

West Wycombe (Bucks), 1890, Hon Sec: Gavin Evans, gavinevans67@gmail.com, 01628 537152, 07827 894387, Fixture Sec: Christine Barry, gavinevans67@gmail.com, 01494 527031, 07827 894387, Toweridge Lane, West Wycombe, HP14 3AL, www.westwycombe.play-cricket.com

Winchmore Hill (Penn), 1918, Hon and Fixture Sec: Mrs Gaye Massey, gaye_massey@hotmail.com, 07940 877474, Penn House Park, Horsemoor Lane, Winchmore Hill, HP7 0PL, www.winchmorehillcpc.co.uk

Wolverton Town, 1894, Hon Sec: Andy Amos, andyamoswtcc@btinternet.com, 01908 314597, 07943 222534, Fixture Sec: Kevin Pichowski, kevinpichowski@yahoo.com, 01908 565692, 07778 535009, Wolverton Spts Club, Osborne St, Wolverton, MK12 5HH, www.wolverton.play-cricket.com

Cambridgeshire

Cambridge, 1951, Hon Sec: Linda Hobbs, hobbsies@btinternet.com, 07774 682664, 01353 649931, Fixture Sec: Alan Hobbs, hobbsies@btinternet.com, 07774 682664, 01353 649931, Clare College Sports Ground, Bentley Rd, Cambridge, CB2 8AW, www.cambridgegranta.play-cricket.com

Sawston & Babraham, 1853, Hon Sec: Peter Mudge, peter.mudge@twi.co.uk, 07765 403473, Fixture Sec: tba, Spicers Sports Grnd, Cambridge Rd, Swanston, CB22 3DG, www.sawstonbabrahamcc.co.uk

Essex

Anson St. George, 1951, Hon Sec: Paul Evans, paul.evans@kilnplc.com, 07739 250203, Fixture Sec: Hugh Henry, hugh.henry3@ntlworld.com, 020 8501 0058, 07885 655944, Fielders Sports Grnd, Cromer Rd, Hornchurch, RM11 1EY, www.anson.play-cricket.com

Antigua Cavaliers, 1975, Hon Sec: Louie Christian, ddlgsclc@hotmail.com, 020 8518 6607, 07947 325797, Fixture Sec: Everton George, graysfarm2003@yahoo.co.uk, 07914 390732, 07539 964702, Peter May Spts Centre, Wadham Rd, Walthamstow, E17 4HR, www.pitchero.com/clubs/antiguacavalierscricketclub

Ardleigh Green, 1940, Hon Sec: Martin Cason, martin.cason@sky.com, 01708 513563, 07766 143865, Fixture Sec: Jamal Chaudhry, jamal.m.chaudhry@gmail.com, 07949 941671, Central Pk, opp No 70 Petersfield Ave, Harold Hill, RM3 9PD, www.ardleighgreen.com

Aryana, 2010, Hon and Fixture Sec: Zaki Zazai, zaki_zazai@hotmail.com, 07886 866228, Wandering, www.aryana.play-cricket.com

Aztecs, 1986, Hon and Fixture Sec: Yogesh Vichhi, yogesh.vichhi@gmail.com, 07776 497772, 020 7860 2565(B), London Marathon Playing Fields, Forest Rd, Barkingside, IG6 3HJ, www.aztecscc.play-cricket.com

Barking, 1901, Hon Sec: Marlon King, marlon_king@sky.com, 07866 486184, Fixture Sec: Darcy Clarke, 020 8555 4034, 07484 753081, Mayesbrook Pk, Lodge Ave, Barking, RM8 2JR, www.barkingcricketclub.com

Belhus, 1960, Hon Sec: Cliff Cansdale, ccansdale@hotmail.com, 07817 066935, Fixture Sec: Michael Randall, michael.randall@blueyonder.co.uk, 01375 408796, 07910 942839, Village Green, High Rd, North Stifford, RM16 5UG, www.belhuscc.cricketclubwebsite.co.uk

Benfleet, 1948, Hon Sec: Deryck Povey, d.povey974@btinternet.com, 01268 792091, 07515 052943, Fixture Sec: Stephen Reeve, stephenreeve@yahoo.co.uk, 07972 843374, 01702 478102, Woodside Park, Manor Rd, Benfleet, SS7 4PA, www.benfleet.play-cricket.com

Billericay, 1875, Hon Sec: David Houghton, dhoughton151@gmail.com, 07713 137600, Fixture Sec: Stuart Hynes, stuartmhynes@gmail.com, 07891 840803, The Toby Howe Cricket Grnd, Blunts Wall Rd, Billericay, CM12 9SA, www.billericaycc.co.uk

Bow Green, 1976, Hon Sec: T. Alfred, elphrege@hotmail.co.uk, 07960 806328, Fixture Sec: Norman Myrie, norman_myrie@tiscali.co.uk, 07961 110508, West Ham Pk, Upton Lane, Forest Gate, E7 9PU, www.bowgreen.play-cricket.com

Brentwood, 1881, Hon Sec: Les Wingrove, lwingrove@btinternet.com, 07813 550005, Fixture Sec: Jan West, jan.west99@btinternet.com, 07903 395758, Old County Grnd, Shenfield Rd, Brentwood, CM15 8AJ, www.brentwoodcc.clubbuzz.co.uk

Buckhurst Hill, 1864, Hon Sec: Alan Beaumont, a7acb@btinternet.com, 020 8505 0590, 07796 873870, Fixture Sec: Mark Wheeler, mark.wheeler@amstrachan.co.uk, 07770 284384, Roding Lane, Buckhurst Hill, IG9 6BJ, www.buckhursthillcc.co.uk

Canvey Island, 1946, Hon Sec: Andy Downey, canveycricket@gmail.com, 07963 703914, Fixture Sec: Ross Casson, rossicasson8@hotmail.co.uk, 07837 580369, 01268 692113, Smallgains Park, Mitchells Ave, Canvey Island, SS8 8JB, www.pitchero.com/clubs/cicc/

Capricorn, 1979, Hon and Fixture Sec: Ritesh Patel, ritesh.patel@hotmail.co.uk, 07951 491111, Wandering, www.capricorncc.play-cricket.com

Chigwell, 1988, Hon Sec: Jonathan Stevenson, jjjstevenson@fastmail.fm, 07811 963050, Fixture Sec: Nick Allum, fixtures@chigwellcricketclub.com, 07811 963050, Old Chigs Sports Club, Roding Lane, Chigwell, IG7 6BE, www.chigwellcricketclub.com

Chingford, 1884, Hon Sec: Denise Woodland, denisewoodland7@googlemail.com, 020 8529 4931, Fixture Sec: Michael Blake, michael.blake111@btinternet.com, 01992 632738, 07725 818152, Forest Side, Chingford (Car ent. Kimberley Way), E4 6DE, www.chingfordcc.hitscricket.com

Cloghams, 1870, Hon and Fixture Sec: David Bardell, davebardell@btinternet.com, 07711 130424, Cloghams Green, off High Easter Rd, Leaden Roding, CM6 1WG, www.cloghams.play-cricket.com

Colchester & East Essex, 1862, Hon Sec: Neil Thomas, neil@thomasneil26.wanadoo.co.uk, 01206 843668, 07745 377811, Fixture Sec: Andrew Kennedy, andrew_2_kennedy@yahoo.co.uk, 07885 411692, Lower Castle Pk, Colchester, CO1 1XN, www.colchestercricket.org

East Hanningfield & Great Burstead, 1887, Hon Sec: Diane Clarke, dmtclarke@gmail.com, 01245 353858, 07825 474432, Fixture Sec: Martin Clarke, dmtclarke@gmail.com, 01245 353858, 07850 644563, East Hanningfield Rd, East Hanningfield, Chelmsford, CM3 8AL, www.ehgbcc.co.uk

Forest Gate, 2005, Hon and Fixture Sec: Sultan Sharif, forestgatecc2005@gmail.com, 07932 277549, Wandering, www.forestgate.play-cricket.com

Frenford (was Hainault & Clayhall - now merged), 1919, Hon Sec: Adash Sharma, adarsharma@yahoo.co.uk, 07703 057720, Fixture Sec: tba, Hollowdene Rec, Shortfield Common Rd, Frensham, GU10 3BJ, www.frenford.play-cricket.com

Galleywood, 1931, Hon Sec: John Gray, jgraygccc@sky.com, 07847 336237, Fixture Sec: Paul Marlow, 01268 782579, 07773 473750, Slades Lane, Galleywood, Chelmsford, CM2 8RW, www.galleywoodcc.play-cricket.com

Gidea Park & Romford, 1863, Hon Sec: Warren Madden, warren.radden@gmail.com, 07813 771184, Fixture Sec: Craig Bray, craigbray87@gmail.com, 07912 100323, Main Rd, Gidea Park, Romford, RM2 6NP, www.gprcc.co.uk

Goresbrook, 1981, Hon Sec: Danny Gillham, secretary@goresbrookcc.co.uk, 07841 605215, Fixture Sec: Dean Barwick, dean.barwick@marsh.com, 07947 033111, 020 8593 5607, May & Baker Spts Grnd, Rainham Rd South, Dagenham, RM10 7XS, www.goresbrookcc.co.uk

Great & Little Warley, 1948, Hon Sec: Jon Huxtable, 07867 805195, Fixture Sec: Jon Huxtable, jonhuxtable@msn.com, 07867 805195, Warley Rd, Great Warley, Brentwood, CM13 3HX, www.greatandlittlewarley.play-cricket.com

Great Canfield, 1920, Hon Sec: Paul Lucas, lucas@lineone.net, 01371 856660, 01628 665143, Fixture Sec: Jonathan Clarke, jonathan.clarke159@googlemail.com, 01371 873403, 07856 686812, The Park, Green St, Great Canfield, CM6 1LA, www.greatcanfield.play-cricket.com

Harlow, 1774, Hon Sec: tba, hccweb@hotmail.com, Fixture Sec: Cliff Clark, maggie.cliff@ntlworld.com, 01279 323370, Marigolds, Chipperfield, Old Harlow, Essex, CM17 0DJ, www.harlowcricketclub.co.uk

Harold Wood, 1896, Hon Sec: Hon and Fixture Sec: Grenville Brown, gclark1925soar@gmail.com, 07990 508202, Harold Wood Park, RM3 0LX, www.haroldwoodcc.com

Havering-Atte-Bower, 1860, Hon Sec: Keith Bath, kevin-bath@sky.com, 07428 100317, Fixture Sec: Lee Rhodes, womble51@hotmail.com, 07732 865329, Broxhill Rd, Havering-Atte-Bower, Romford, RM4 1QU, www.havering-atte-bower-cc.co.uk

Hawks, 1969, Hon Sec: Bert Browne, charlie.browne@hotmail.co.uk, 07971 198560, Fixture Sec: Saqib Minhas, saqibminhas@hotmail.com, 07960 200930, Jubilee Sports Grnd, The Avenue, Chingford, E4 9RZ, www.hawks.play-cricket.com

Hornchurch, 1783, Hon Sec: Mrs Jackie Cubitt, secretary@hornchurchcc.org, 01708 557786, 07727 900885, Fixture Sec: Doug Shewring, fixtures@hornchurchcc.org, 01708 551800, Harrow Lodge Park, Hornchurch Rd, Hornchurch, RM11 1ET, www.hornchurchcc.org

Hornchurch Athletic, 1936, Hon Sec: James Collier, james.collier@aonhewitt.com, 07719 427641, Fixture Sec: Laurence Weeks, laurenceweeks@hotmail.com, 07984 966615, Hylands Park, Osborne Rd, Hornchurch, RM11 1HH, www.hacc.hitscricket.com

Hutton, 1864, Hon Sec: Paul Frame, pauloasf@aol.com, 07877 475260, 01277 227179, Fixture Sec: David Evans, devans12@sky.com, 07740 052727, 01277 221577, Hall Green Lane, Hutton, CM13 2QT, www.huttoncc.com

Ilford Catholic, 1920, Hon Sec: Ed Tooth, ejt2005@aol.com, 07904 086420, Fixture Sec: Liam Mulholland, Imulholland@waitrose.com, 07931 830003, 020 8502 9040, Barkingside Rec Grnd, Cranbrook Rd, Ilford, IG6 1QB, www.pitchero.com/clubs/ilfordcatholic

Leigh-on-Sea, 1907, Hon Sec: Chris Smith, smithca@live.co.uk, Fixture Sec: John Elliott, john.elliott@connaughtshipping.co.uk, 01268 682585, 07908 285011, Chalkwell Park, London Rd, Westcliffon-Sea, SS0 8NB, www.leighcricket.com

Little Baddow, 1904, Hon Sec: Calvin Cole, calvincole1@atos.net, 01245 222442, 07525 128681, Fixture Sec: Alan Towel, ato4395372@aol.com, 01245 223650, 07398 860204, Riffhams Chase, Little Baddow, CM3 4AU, www.ltbaddowcc.hitscricket.com

Loughton, 1879, Hon Sec: Michael Bridges, michaelbridges181@gmail.com, 07902 004134, Fixture Sec: Ian Berriman, ianberriman1@hotmail.co.uk, 020 8524 5015, 07972 230931, The Uplands, Loughton, IG10 1NQ, www.loughtoncc.hitscricket.com

Marshes, 1965, Hon Sec: Waseem Raja, wraza@hotmail.com, 07505 377906, Fixture Sec: Salim Yasim, s_yasin@yahoo.com, 07957 226068, London Playing Field, Forest Rd, Hainault, IG6 3HJ, www.elliottdavislcl.co.uk/teamdetails.aspx?id=16

Matching Green, 1925, Hon and Fixture Sec: Martin Figg, martin@figg.me.uk, 01279 876169, 07540 636488, Village Green, Matching Green, CM17 0PZ, www.hitscricket.com/mgcc

Mathews, 1938, Hon Sec: Chris Hearn, cphearn@yahoo.co.uk, 020 8527 6610, 07802 462755, Fixture Sec: John Chipperfield, john.chipperfieldsenior@btinternet.com, 020 8524 8880, 07903 494834, Old Chigwellians CC, Roding Lane, Chigwell, IG7 6BE, www.mathews.play-cricket.com

Maylands Green, 1942, Hon and Fixture Sec: Dave Baldock, dave.baldock@newham.gov.uk, 020 8597 0261, 07748 322268, Hylands Park, Osborne Rd, Hornchurch, RM11 1EX, www.maylandsgreen.play-cricket

Navestock, 1768, Hon Sec: Matthew Richards, mattleerichards@gmail.com, 07763 501394, Fixture Sec: Malcolm Goddard, malcolmgoddard@hotmail.com, 01277 227950, 07779 977475, The Green, Navestockside, Navestock, CM14 5SD, www.navestockcc.org.uk

Nazeing Common, 1883, Hon Sec: T. Burns, burnst100@yahoo.co.uk, 01992 469978, 07968 353056, Fixture Sec: Aidan Crowley, 01438 811106, 07990 787301, Common Rd, Nazeing Common, EN9 2DE, www.nazeingcricket.org

Oakfield Parkonians, 1906, Hon Sec: Keith Varnes, keithvarnes@btinternet.com, 07734 382670, Fixture Sec: Alan Bouquet, almoose@hotmail.co.uk, 07738 381666, Oakfield Playing Fields, Forest Rd, Ilford, IG6 3HD, www.oldparks.hitscricket.com

Old Brentwoods, 1954, Hon and Fixture Sec: Fred Rylah, fred.rylah@ker.co.uk, 07740 047632, Society of Old Bentwoods, Ashwells Rd, Brentwood, CM15 9SE, www.oldbrentwoodscc.hitscricket.com

Old Southendian & Southchurch, 1924, Hon Sec: Nigel Wilks, nigelwilks@btinternet.com, 07899 936662, Fixture Sec: David Evans, devans12@sky.com, 01277 221577, 07740 052727, Garon Park, off Royal Artillery Way, Southend on Sea, SS2 4PT, www.osscc.play-cricket.com

Old Victorians (Thursday), 1878, Hon Sec: Greg Pope, greg.pope@tesco.net, 020 8524 0291, 07801 421897, Fixture Sec: William Burke, wtb103@hotmail.com, 020 8508 1638, 07713 252637, 1) South Loughton CC, 2) High Beech CC, 3) Chingford CC, www.oldvicthurs.play-cricket.com

Orsett, 1900, Hon Sec: Yvonne Owen, yvonne.owen1989@gmail.com, Fixture Sec: Jan Luitsz, cleardean@aol.com, 01375 373583, 07866 477720, Rec Grnd, School Lane, Orsett, RM16 3JS, www.oatcc.co.uk

Potter Street and Church Langley, 1865, Hon Sec: Abid Khan, abid.tauqir@hotmail.co.uk, 07540 462631, Fixture Sec: Andrew Freeman, andyfreeman62@yahoo.co.uk, 07903 622779, 01279 862997, Minton Lane, Church Langley, Harlow, CM17 9TG, www.potterstreet.play-cricket.com

Rayleigh, 1902, Hon Sec: Richard Verrinder, rjverrinder@aol.com, 01702 301850, 07927 713404, Fixture Sec: Matthew Walker, matthewbwalker92@gmail.com, 01702 540452, 07972 775159, Rawreth Lane, Wickford, SS11 8SP, www.rayleighcricketclub.org.uk

Shenfield, 1921, Hon Sec: Hannah Kirby, hannahjanekirby@yahoo.com, 07710 096074, Fixture Sec: Susan Wright, mail@shenfield.cc, 01277 222523, 22A Chelmsford Rd, Shenfield, CM15 8RQ, www.shenfield.cc

South Weald, 1927, Hon Sec: Howard Imbert, howard.imbert@forrester-hyde.co.uk, 01277 631742, 07899 895712, Fixture Sec: Danny Cutts, danny.cutts@gmail.com, 01245 474802, 07775 514917, Sandpit Lane, South Weald, Brentwood, CM14 5QE, www.sweald.play-cricket.com

South Woodford, 1884, Hon Sec: Vincent Browne, info@vfb.co.uk, 020 8504 7485, 07775 847980, Fixture Sec: Tim Coe, coe.timothy@gmail.com, 01279 441892, 07962 101604, Highfield Rd, Woodford Bridge, Ilford, IG8 8JB, www.southwoodford.play-cricket.com

Spartan, 1925, Hon and Fixture Sec: Keith Gunther, henrygunther152@btinternet.com, 020 8505 1441, 07939 301217, Wandering,

Stallion, 2004, Hon and Fixture Sec: Ejaz Rana, ejazr1978@hotmail.com, IWRFC Sports Ground, Forest Rd, Barkingside, IG6 3HJ,

Stanford-le-Hope, 1887, Hon Sec: Adrian Page, adrianrpage@hotmail.com, 07932 698216, Fixture Sec: Kevin Smith, dagoonerkev@msn.com, 07717 848395, The Rec Grnd, Grove Rd, Stanford-le-Hope, SS17 0ED, www.slhcc.hitscricket.com

Stansted Hall & Elsenham, 1888, Hon Sec: Carole Turner, turnerc@waitrose.com, 01279 850423, Fixture Sec: David Brown, david.r.brown1@btinternet.com, 01279 831011, Stansted House, Stansted, CM24 8ST, www.shcc.hitscricket.com

Stock, 1769, Hon Sec: Dan Porter, info@danporter.co.uk, 01277 622442, Fixture Sec: Dan Porter, info@danporter.co.uk, 07867 582503, The Common, Common Rd, Stock, CM4 9NF, www.stockcricketclub.co.uk

Thaxted, 1878, Hon Sec: Janet Matthews, janetmatthews2006@btinternet.com, 01371 831183, 07963 368050, Fixture Sec: Kevin Wood, wickets66@hotmail.com, 01279 812080, 07891 096802, Bardfield End Green, Thaxted, CM6 3PZ, www.thaxted.cricketclubwebsite.co.uk

Tillingham, 1750, Hon Sec: Richard Emerson, rfemerson@yahoo.co.uk, 01621 772717, Fixture Sec: Dave Cummins, dave@cumminsandjennings.co.uk, 01621 779070, 07989 432563, Playing Fields, Vicarage Lane, Tillingham, CM0 7TW, www.tillingham.play-cricket.com

Upminster, 1858, Hon Sec: Paul Middlemiss, pmiddle47@gmail.com, 07950 398097, Fixture Sec: Nicky Ison, nickyalanison23@hotmail.co.uk, 07851 606405, 01708 220070, Upminster Park, Corbets Tey Rd, Upminster, RM14 2QH, www.upminstercricketclub.com

Waltham, 2000, Hon and Fixture Sec: Iffikhar Mehmood, gulu67@hotmail.com, 07973 722884, Loughton CC, The Uplands, Loughton, IG10 1NQ, www.waltham.play-cricket.com

Wanstead, 1866, Hon Sec: Nigel Hutchings, nigel_hutchings@ntlworld.com, 020 8989 1669, Fixture Sec: Martin Pluck, pluckmartin@gmail.com, 07747 118790, Overton Drive, Wanstead, E11 2LW, www.wanstead.hitscricket.com

Westcliff-on-Sea, 1902, Hon Sec: Geoffrey May, geoffreyhmay@aol.com, 01702 527382, Fixture Sec: J.E.R. Pratt, jonp201@hotmail.co.uk, 07917 710158, Chalkwel Park, London Rd, Westcliff-on-Sea, SS0 8NB, www.westcliffonsea.play-cricket.com

Wickford, 1887, Hon Sec: Alan, Moss, alordofthemanor@aol.com, 01268 711095, 07890 614154, Fixture Sec: John Potton, potton28@btinternet.com, 01268 767457, 07751 127715, Patmore Memorial Sports Grnd, Runwell Rd, Wickford, SS11 7HG, www.wickford.play-cricket.com

Willow Herbs Blackmore, 1951, Hon Sec: Jon Walsh, willowherbscc@yahoo.co.uk, 07800 724032, Fixture Sec: Andy Walsh, willowherbscc@yahoo.co.uk, 07847 175195, Coronation Playing Field, Mountnessing, CM15 0UG, www.willowherbscc.20m.com

Woodford Wells, 1864, Hon Sec: Deepak Sinha, deepaksinha001@aol.com, 07973 655113, Fixture Sec: Robert Brown, bob.brown@parkermerchanting.co.uk, 07810 065677, 020 8524 1434, Monkhams Lane, Woodford Green, IG8 0NL, www.woodfordwells.hitscricket.com

Writtle, 1850, Hon Sec: Paul Fenton, info@writtlecc.co.uk, 07906 405969, 01245 443102, Fixture Sec: Mike Faulconbridge, fixtures@writtlecc.co.uk, 01245 601138, Writtle Spts Grnd, Paradise Rd, Writtle, CM1 3HP, www.writtlecc.co.uk

Hampshire

Aldershot, 1947, Hon Sec: Paul Munro, aldershotcc.sec@btinternet.com, 07786 590912, Fixture Sec: Mark Grover, 01252 316750, 07415 186792, Guildford Rd, Aldershot, GU12 4BP, www.aldershotcricketclub.com

Binsted, 2015, Hon and Fixture Sec: Ben Krempel, ben.krempel@hotmail.co.uk, 07907 247117, 01420 520839, Binsted Rec Grd, The Street, Binsted, GU34 4PB,

Cove, 1935, Hon Sec: Richard Swannell, richard.swannell@hotmail.co.uk, 07764 287567, 01252 492644, Fixture Sec: Dave Randall, dave32randall@btinternet.com, 01252 544930, Grasmere Rd, Cove, GU14 0LE, www.covecc.co.uk

Crondall, 1879, Hon Sec: Scott Shepherd, scott.shepherd@hotmail.co.uk, 01252 850831, Fixture Sec: David Rook, djrfarnham@aol.com, 01252 851195, 07831 882119, Hook Meadow, Croft Lane, Crondall, Hants, GU10 5QQ, www.crondallcricket.co.uk

Eversley, 1787, Hon and Fixture Sec: Jonathan Last, jonnylast1986@aol.com, 07881 682005, Cross Green, Reading Rd, Eversley, RG27 0NS, www.eversleycc.com

Fleet, 1896, Hon Sec: David Gurney, davidgurney@hotmail.com, 01252 675155, 07717 828017, Fixture Sec: Peter Talbot, peterwtalbot@hotmail.com, 07855 444287, Calthorpe Park, Reading Rd North, Fleet, GU51 5DR, www.fleet.play-cricket.com

Hartley Wintney, 1770, Hon Sec: Terry Plume, terry@plum970.fsnet.co.uk, 01256 769069, 07831 174380, Fixture Sec: Jeremy Fox, jeremy@pfox61.freeserve.co.uk, 01252 842667, 07761 135443, The Cricket Green, Hartley Wintney, Hook, RG27 8PG, www.hwcc1770.co.uk

Hampshire

Odiham & Greywell, 1764, Hon Sec: tba, Fixture Sec: Andy Stenning, andy.stenning2017@virginmedia.com, 01252 406369, King St, Odiham, RG29 1NF, www.odihamandgreywell.play-cricket.com

Vagabonds, 1980, Hon Sec: Barrie Walshe, bazzawalshe@gmail.com, 01420 84204, 07950 034799, Fixture Sec: Stuart Davidson, stuart.davidson@exova.com, 07957 554956, Holt End Lane, Bentworth, Alton, GU34 5JU, www.vagabondscricket.co.uk

Yateley, 1881, Hon Sec: Robert Bartlett, robert_bartlett@btconnect.com, 01276 686192, 07770 931565, Fixture Sec: Stuart Hill, stu4bees@hotmail.co.uk, 01252 879465, 07754 127042, Sean Devereux Park, Chandlers Lane, Yateley, GU46 7SZ, www.yateleycricketclub.co.uk

Hertfordshire

Abbots Langley, 1844, Hon and Fixture Sec: Phil Lewins, plewins97@ntlworld.com, 01442 393379, 07919 382811, Manor House, Gallows Hill Lane, Abbots Langley, WD5 0BX, www.abbotscc.hitsports.com

Aldenham, 1972, Hon Sec: Julian Knight, julian@thedigitaloffice.co.uk, 07772 696508, 01923 336054, Fixture Sec: Peter Munroe, peter@thedigitaloffice.co.uk, 07778 787078, 01923 663257, Church Lane, Aldenham, WD25 8AY, www.aldenhamcricketclub.co.uk

Archway Ladder, 1983, Hon and Fixture Sec: Alan Hancock, ahancock99@hotmail.com, 07985 957327, Old Owens Spts Grnd, Coopers Lane (Nr.Potters Bar), EN6 4NF, www.archwayladder.wordpress.com

Baldock Town, 1879, Hon and Fixture Sec: Alistair Jones, duvaldo@hotmail.com, 07866 840011, Avenue Park, Baldock, SG7 5AY, www.baldock.play-cricket.com

Bamville, 1932, Hon and Fixture Sec: Jeff Chapman, jeff.chapman@vonage.com, 01582 766782, 07827 315601, East Common, Harpenden, AL5 1AW, www.bamville.co.uk

Bayford & Hertford Nondescripts, 1951, Hon Sec: Kevin Nicholls, kevnicholls@hotmail.com, 01992 553851, Fixture Sec: Colin Poulton, c.j.poulton@btinternet.com, 01707 272808, 07802 226763, Near 'Bakers Arms' PH, Bayford, Nr Hertford, SG13 8PU, www.bhncc.co.uk

Bentley Heath, 1920, Hon Sec: John Hall, john@hall5480.freeserve.co.uk, 020 8886 5480, Fixture Sec: Foz Mirza, foz_london@hotmail.com, 07958 555440, Wrotham Pk. Ent. in Wagon Rd, (close to A1000), EN5 4SB, www.bentleyheathcc.hitscricket.com

Bishop's Stortford, 1825, Hon Sec: Jen Lindop, jenlindop@hotmail.com, 01279 652692, 07968 950536, Fixture Sec: Neil Chappell, nchapps@gmail.com, 07786 062571, Cricketfield Lane, Bishop's Stortford, CM23 2SR, www.bishopsstortford.play-cricket.com

Bovingdon, 1884, Hon Sec: Mark Carine, bovingdoncc@hotmail.com, 01494 791383, 07738 200297, Fixture Sec: Colin Harris-Rowe, bovingdoncc@hotmail.com, 01442 877323, Bovingdon Green, Bovingdon, HP3 0LB, www.bovingdon.play-cricket.com

Boxmoor, 1857, Hon Sec: Bob Booth, robertbooth675@gmail.com, 07881 452718, Fixture Sec: Peter Lockley, peterdlockley@gmail.com, 07799 347548, The Oval, St. Johns Rd, Boxmoor, Hemel Hempstead, HP1 1NP, www.boxmoorcricketclub.co.uk

Bramfield, 1952, Hon Sec: tba, percy9015@aol.com, Fixture Sec: S. Neate, smneate@hotmail.com, 01920 830103, 07721 598575, Bury Lane, opp. Grandison Arms, Bramfield, SG14 2QL, www.bramfield.play-cricket.com

Broxbourne, 1848, Hon Sec: Warren Pegg, warren.pegg@bankpartners.co.uk, Fixture Sec: John Huth, johnshuth@hotmail.com, 01992 463563, 07931 621153, Broxbourne Spts.Club, Mill Lane Close, Broxbourne, EN10 7BA, www.broxbourne.play-cricket.com

Hampshire

Chipperfield Clarendon, 1844, Hon Sec: Peter Elsworth, pete@pnelsworth.demon.co.uk, 01442 875319, 07901 515381, Fixture Sec: Martin Oliver, 07758 596698, Chipperfield Common, Herts, WD4 9BS, www:chipperfieldclarendoncc.co.uk

Chorleywood, 1851, Hon Sec: Lesley Neal, janeal@ntlworld.com, 01923 286214, 07974 953182, Fixture Sec: Nick Rice, n.rice@lclark.com, 07971 444888, 01923 286360, The Common, Chorleywood, WD3 5SG, www.cwcricket.org

Cockfosters, 1873, Hon Sec: Geoff Williams, gsw_hudders@ntlworld.com, 07748 665212, 01279 310723, Fixture Sec: Neil Hale, neil2358@msn.com, 07745 357565, Chalk Lane, Cockfosters, EN4 9JG, www.cockfosterscc.freeuk.com

Datchworth, 1930, Hon Sec: Adrian Bennett, adrian_bennett1@msn.com, 01438 812251, 020 8342 0261 (B), Fixture Sec: Suart Warrington, 01707 885676, Village Green, Datchworth, SG3 6TL, www.datchworth.play-cricket.com

Essendon, 1810, Hon Sec: James Lippiatt, lippers@btinternet.com, 01707 267573, 07957 662564, Fixture Sec: Barry Pallett, barrypallett@googlemail.com, 07973 563411, 01707 261504, High Rd, Essendon, AL9 6HW, www.essendon.play-cricket.com

F.M.Arthur's XI, 1928, Hon and Fixture Sec: Nick Baskerville, nbbiscuit@aol.com, 07772 173353, 01438 740100, Wandering, www.fmarthursxi.play-cricket.com

Flamstead, 1875, Hon Sec: M. Ridley, ridlem_r@hotmail.com, 01582 841090, Fixture Sec: tba, Flamstead Rec Grnd, Friendless Lane, Flamstead, AL3 8DE, www.flamstead-cc.co.uk

Frogmore, 1850, Hon Sec: Chris Sander, carnhedriss@aol.com, 01923 262721, 07778 468362, Fixture Sec: Robert Salt, robert.salt@rbs.co.uk, 01442 259460, 07714 447096, Rec Grnd, Park Street Lane, Park Street, AL2 2ND, www.frogmore.play-cricket.com

Great Gaddesden, 1874, Hon Sec: Stuart Oliver, stuart.oliver@ntlworld.com, 01582 654884, 07722 235141, Fixture Sec: Julian Towler, julian.towler@btinternet.com, 01582 664484, 07870 387878, Halsey Est, Bridens Camp, Nr Hemel Hempstead, HP2 6EX, www.greatgaddesdencricket.club

Greenwood Park, 1992, Hon Sec: Ryan Atkins, stick90@hotmail.co.uk, 01727 831678, 07814 526088, Fixture Sec: Peter Hambridge, myheartisyellow@hotmail.com, 07828 596444, Greenwood Park, Tippendell Lane, Chiswell Green, AL2 3HW, www.greenwoodpark.play-cricket.com

Guilden Morden Cherubs, 1982, Hon Sec: Peter Furmston, pjfurmston@btinternet.com, 01763 852125, 07803 172966, Fixture Sec: Adrian Whitton, amwhitton@outlook.com, 01763 852060, 07803 172966, behind Edward VII pub, 2 Foxhill Rd, Guilden Morden, SG8 0JF, www.guildenmorden.gov.uk/cherubs.html

Harpenden Dolphins, 1944, Hon Sec: Ian Holden, holdo@yahoo.co.uk, 07711 594058, Fixture Sec: Richard Gull, richard.gull@barclayscapital.com, 07823 537990, Rothamstead Park, Orchard Ave, Harpenden, AL5 2DP, www.harpendendolphins.hitscricket.com

Hatfield Hyde, 1889, Hon Sec: Eddie Mills, millseddie07@gmail.com, 07794 662396, Fixture Sec: Alan Carter, alan.carter1984@gmail.com, 07854 630152, King George V Playing Field, Beehive Lane, WGC, AL7 4BP, www.hatfieldhydecc.hitscricket.com

Hemel Hempstead Town, 1850, Hon and Fixture Sec: Paul Thompson, paulfthompson45@gmail.com, 07814 608292, Heath Park, Station Rd, Hemel Hempstead, HP1 1JZ, www.hhtcc.co.uk

Hertford, 1860, Hon Sec: Richard Eaton, richard.eaton@roche.com, 07867 908988, Fixture Sec: David Spring, david@springfamily.org.uk, 01992 554001, 07932 153238, Balls Park, Mangrove Rd, Hertford, SG13 8AJ, www.hertfordcricketclub.co.uk

Hitchin, 1866, Hon Sec: Carl Vincent, carljvincent40@live.co.uk, Fixture Sec: Ashley Hammond, ashley_hammond@hotmail.com, 07811 463609, Lucas Lane, Hitchin, SG5 2JA, www.hitchin.play-cricket.com

Hoddesdon, 1882, Hon Sec: Clive Lewis, c.lewis15@btinternet.com, 07834 339008, Fixture Sec: Alan Casbard, a.casbard@ntlworld.com, 01992 301551, 07815 609129, 'Lowfield' Park View, Hoddesdon, EN11 8PX, www.hoddesdoncricketclub.co.uk

Ickleford, 1947, Hon Sec: Roy Izzard, roy.izzard@bjca.co.uk, 01462 433171, 07803 202498, Fixture Sec: Mark Howard, mark.howard@nllworld.com, 01462 625475, 07944 707968, New Sports Field, Walnut Way, Ickleford, SG53XX, www.ickleford.play-cricket.com

Ivanhoe, 1916, Hon Sec: Philip Kenchington, philbags@hotmail.com, 07773 793298, 01727 844386, Fixture Sec: Andrew Hausler, andrew.hausler@ntlworld.com, 07902 472143, 01707 661373, Royal Vet College, Hawkeshead Lane, North Mymms, AL9 7TA, www.ivanhoecc.co.uk

Kimpton, 1880, Hon Sec: Hugh Cutler, hughcutler@btinternet.com, 07710 422812, 020 3124 3219, Fixture Sec: Jacob Sharpe, jacob.sharpe@btinternet.com, 07765 160256, 01223 575073, Parkfield, Kimpton, SG4 8EQ, www.kimptoncc.hitscricket.com

Kings Langley, 1830, Hon Sec: Roy Barter, thebarters@hotmail.com, 01442 245650, 07757 625531, Fixture Sec: John Holroyd, john.holroyd3@ntlworld.com, 01727 760965, 07852 282868, The Common, Vicarage Lane, Kings Langley, WD4 9HS, www.kingslangleycc.hitssports.com

Knebworth Blues, 1969, Hon Sec: Keith Lander, keithlander@btopenworld.com, 01462 679840, 07909 961675, Fixture Sec: Ian Jarry, ian.jarry@tiscali.co.uk, 07866 389443, 01462 812294, Fairfield Park (LGCCC), Kingsley Ave, Stotfold, SG5 4FX, www.kbcc.play-cricket.com

Knebworth Park, 1871, Hon Sec: David Barwick, lordbarwick@yahoo.co.uk, 07723 033585, Fixture Sec: Chris Johnson, chrisjohnson.1@sky.com, 07867 580492, 01438 817448, Knebworth Park, Old Knebworth, SG3 6HQ, www.kpcc.org.uk

Langleybury, 1950, Hon and Fixture Sec: Roy Newman, roy.newman@langleyburycc.co.uk, 07768 205222, 01923 490390, Hunton Bridge, Langleybury, WD4 8RJ, www.langleyburycc.co.uk

Letchmore, 2020, Hon Sec: Tony Albon, anthonyalbon@outlook.com, 07488 292807, 01727 873367, Fixture Sec: Rob Salt, rsalt1@sky.com, 07930 811276, 01442 259460, Aldenham School, Aldenham Rd, Elstree, WD6 3AJ,

Letchworth Garden City, 1905, Hon Sec: Roger Thomson, r.thomson57@ntlworld.com, 01462 623613, 07842 114269, Fixture Sec: Graham Bishton, graham.bishton@googlemail.com, 01462 790837, 07763 562289, Whitethorn Lane, Letchworth, SG6 2DN, www.letchworth.play-cricket.com

Leverstock Green, 1920, Hon Sec: Tony Williams, tony@leverstock.demon.co.uk, 01442 250280, 07780 514440, Fixture Sec: Mike Roberts, mike.roberts@veolia.co.uk, 07833 742405, Village Green in centre of Leverstock Green, HP3 8LJ, www.lgcc.org.uk

Little Berkhamsted Sahibs, 1883, Hon Sec: Trevor Allum, trevor.allum@hotmail.co.uk, 01992 846870, 07717 234033, Fixture Sec: Trevor Allum, trevor.allum@hotmail.co.uk, 01991 846870, 07717 234033, Rec Grnd, Little Berkhamsted, SG13 8LY, www.lbcc.play-cricket.com/home

Little Hadham, 1948, Hon Sec: Mark Hallmark, mhallmark@cvccordatus.com, 01279 771033, 07702 762151, Fixture Sec: David Barnes, 01763 242216, 07836 382939, Millfield Lane, Bury Green, Little Hadham, SG11 2ED, www.littlehadham.play-cricket.com

London Colney, 1858, Hon Sec: Andrew Stirrat, a.stirrat@vinteclabs.com, Fixture Sec: D. Hadley, den_hadley1950@hotmail.com, 020 8953 0138, 07751 541578, Green Street, Shenley, WD7 9BD, www.londoncolneycc.hitscricket.com

Long Marston, 1867, Hon Sec: Paul Marsh, secretary@longmarstoncc.co.uk, 01296 660975, 07595 917647, Fixture Sec: Philip Goss, fixtures@longmarstoncc.co.uk, 01296 713135, 07753 313496, Marlins, Cheddington Lane, Long Marston, HP23 AQP, www.pitchero.com/clubs/longmarstoncricketclub

Monken Hadley, 1954, Hon Sec: Andrew Sheldon, andrewsheldon@rocketmail.com, 07960 590944, Fixture Sec: Athi Thirukkumar, ath246@hotmail.com, Hadley Common, Camlet Way, Hadley, EN4 0NJ, www.monkenhadley.play-cricket.com

North Mymms, 1861, Hon Sec: Ken King, kr.king@btinternet.com, 01707 261458, 07831 875127, Fixture Sec: Ian Cheeseman, cooldude@totalise.co.uk, 01707 646525, 07802 324017, The Home Farm, North Mymms, AL9 7TR, www.northmymmscc.co.uk

Northchurch, 1885, Hon Sec: tba, Fixture Sec: Mark Hobley, marksinclairhobley@gmail.com, 07876 746577, The Meadow, Tring Rd, Northchurch, Nr Berkhamsted, HP4 3SZ, www.northchurchcc.com

Offley & Stopsley, 1998, Hon Sec: Colin Williams, offleystopsley@yahoo.co.uk, 07725 563338, Fixture Sec: Stephen Bexfield, sbexfield@ntlworld.com, 01582 514125, 07773 087770, Kings Walden Rd, Great Offley, SG5 3DS, www.oscricket.com

Old Albanian, 1930, Hon Sec: Alison Finley, ajfinley@ntlworld.com, 07956 077661, Fixture Sec: Alf Rehman, alf_rehman@hotmail.com, 07782 165857, Woollams Playing Fields, 160 Harpenden Rd, St Albans, AL3 6BB, www.oacricket.com

Old Elizabethans, 1940, Hon Sec: Jonathan Mackman, jsmackman@btinternet.com, 07984 791309, 020 8441 0915, Fixture Sec: Nigel Wildman, nigelwildman2@aol.com, 07811 774930, 020 8440 5965, Old Elizabethans Mem Grnd, Gypsy Corner, Mays Lane, EN5 2AG, www.oeccbarnet.co.uk

Old Finchleians, 1904, Hon Sec: John Bowra, john.bowra@dwp.gsi.gov.uk, Fixture Sec: Bruce Mercer, brucie@talk21.com, 07729 782028, 12 Southover, Woodside Park, N12 7JE, www.oldfinchleians.play-cricket.com

Old Fullerians, 1947, Hon Sec: Peter Waters, secretary@oldfullerians.org.uk, 01923 775505, Fixture Sec: John Cook, 01923 222829, Coningesby Drive, Watford, WD17 3BD, www.oldfullerians.play-cricket.com

Old Haberdashers, 1947, Hon Sec: Robert Clarke, robertc.clarke@btopenworld.com, 01582 761986, Fixture Sec: Khurram Manzoor, km@utopia-inside.co.uk, 07890 680513, Croxdale Rd, Theobald St, Borehamwood, WD6 4PY, www.ohdashers.play-cricket.com

Old Merchant Taylors, 1912, Hon Sec: Simon Boardley, omtccsec@gmail.com, 07968 396316, Fixture Sec: Rajiv Radhakrishnan, rajivradhakrishnan@hotmail.co.uk, 07714 847076, Sandy Lane, Northwood, Middx, HA6 2HT, www.omt.play-cricket.com

Old Owens, 1924, Hon Sec: Andrew Battersby, abattersby@sjl.herts.sch.uk, 01707 373664, 07780 611403, Fixture Sec: Keith Saunders, horsey100@hotmail.com, 07985 254045, Coopers Lane, Northaw, Potters Bar, EN6 4NF, www.oldowens.play-cricket.com

Outlaws, 1947, Hon Sec: Mark Brennan, markieb88@hotmail.com, 07735 486631, Fixture Sec: Duncan Gilson, duncan@gilson.org.uk, 01733 844777, 07831 252673, Wandering,

Pirton, 1964, Hon Sec: Sam Davies, pirtoncricketclub@hotmail.com, 01462 712453, 07768 532444, Fixture Sec: Alan Howe, pirtoncricketclub@hotmail.com, 01462 459530, 07791 694217, Rec Grnd, Walnut Tree Rd, Pirton, Hitchin, SG5 3PX, www.pirton.play-cricket.com

Players & Jesters, 1975, Hon Sec: Jon Mason, jmason@multichanneltv.com, 07775 681578, 020 7739 8800, Fixture Sec: Jon Taylor, jonathan.taylor@headline.co.uk, 07825 089308, 01582 760299, Rothamsted Park, Harpenden, AL5 2EF, www.playersjesters.com

Potten End, 1894, Hon Sec: Jason Hawkridge, secretary@pottenendcc.org.uk, 07903 272265, Fixture Sec: Derek Gower, derek.j.gower@gmail.com, 07768 425832, Potten End Playing Field, Potten End Village, HP4 2QX, www.pottenendcc.org.uk

Potters Bar, 1862, Hon Sec: Dave Pett, dave@rivprint.com, 01707 645298, 07795 954979, Fixture Sec: Mark Shepherd, markshepherd01@aol.com, 01895 233630, 07772 224390, The Walk, Potters Bar, EN6 1QE, www.pottersbarcc.co.uk

Preston, 1882, Hon Sec: David Norman, d.norman@sir-robert-mcalpine.com, 01462 420849, 07773 336171, Fixture Sec: Matt Burleigh, mrb1@leicester.ac.uk, 07795 054537, 01462 230661, Rec Grnd, Preston, SG4 7TZ, www.prestoncricketclub.co.uk

Radlett, 1884, Hon Sec: David Robinson, davidmrobinson@btopenworld.com, 01923 856604, 07801 336063, Fixture Sec: Doreen Browne, doreenb@ntlworld.com, 01923 854985, Cobden Hill, Watling St, Radlett, WD7 7JN, www.radlettcc.com

Redbourn, 1823, Hon Sec: Chris Fleming, chris.j.fleming@btinternet.com, 07795 513360, Fixture Sec: John Pritchard, johnmpritchard@virginmedia.com, 07941 379228, Redborn Common, North Common, Redbourn, AL3 7DB, www.redbourn.play-cricket.com

Reed, 1956, Hon Sec: John Heslam, john@johnheslam.co.uk, 01223 873047, 07946 619809, Fixture Sec: Peter Wholley, pwholley@hotmail.com, 01763 246656, 07708 872440, Village Green, Blacksmith Lane, Reed, nr Royston, SG8 8AX, www.reedcricketclub.co.uk

Rosslyn, 1922, Hon Sec: Adrian Sweeting, rosslyncc.sec@gmail.com, 020 8440 9498, 07710 225246, Fixture Sec: Dileep Patel, dileep-patel@hotmail.co.uk, 07961 114838, 020 8449 9787, Tudor Sports Grnd, Clifford Rd, New Barnet, EN5 5PB, www.rosslyn.cricketclubwebsite.com

Roving Reporters, 1973, Hon Sec: Roger Jones, roger.jones20@ntlworld.com, 07763 764318, 01707 851994, Fixture Sec: Jake Pike, jake.a.pike91@gmail.com, Wandering, www.rovingreporterscc.hitscricket.com

Roxbourne, 1946, Hon and Fixture Sec: Andy Dischamps, andy.dischamps@cbcinsurance.co.uk, 01923 267480, 07961 166571, Met Police Grnd, Aldenham Rd, Bushey, WD23 2TR, www.pitchero.com/clubs/roxbournecc

Saracens, 1929, Hon Sec: Vincent Archer, vincearcher@ntlworld.com, 07973 112728, Fixture Sec: Mike Bigby, bunny.boy@btinternet.com, 020 8529 8702, 07904 041930, Wandering, www.saracenscc.hitscricket.com

Sawbridgeworth, 1862, Hon Sec: Anna Billings, annahr@live.co.uk, 01279 831838, 07564 958206, Fixture Sec: Richard White, white_r2@sky.com, 01279 422567, Town Fields, Springhall Rd, Sawbridgeworth, CM21 9AN, www.sawbridgeworthcc.hitscricket.com

Shenley Village, 1861, Hon Sec: Gill Sheldon, gill@philsheldongolfpics.co.uk, 020 8440 1986, Fixture Sec: Geoff Evans, geoffdevans@tesco.net, 07505 102152, 01923 352662, Shenley Cricket Centre, Radlett Lane, Shenley, WD7 9DW, www.shenleycc.hitscricket.com

Southgate Compton, 1970, Hon Sec: Gary Wallis, garyb.wallis@lineone.net, 020 8441 4431, 07796 761616, Fixture Sec: David Frame, dave.frame27@gmail.com, 07885 281877, Hadley Field, Chalk Lane, Cockfosters, EN4 9JG, www.southgatecompton.com

St. Albans, 1800, Hon Sec: John Rudlin, john.rudlin@hotmail.co.uk, 01727 764151, 07932 946433, Fixture Sec: Hugo Thomas, hugo.thomas@btinternet.com, 01727 848766, 07774 716871, Clarence Pk, Clarence Rd, St.Albans, AL1 4NF, www.stalbanscc.com

St. Margaretsbury, 1737, Hon Sec: Christine Batley, canddbatley@gmail.com, 07708 580495, Fixture Sec: Mark Bailey, blymark@outlock.com, 07771 514112, The Sports Grnd, St Margaretsbury, Stanstead Abbotts, SG12 8EH, www.stmcc.org.uk

Stevenage, 1878, Hon Sec: John Northall, stevenagecc@hotmail.com, 07773 796490, Fixture Sec: Steve Cooke, s-cooke@ntlworld.com, 01462 628344, 07910 034140, Ditchmore Lane, Stevenage, SG1 3LJ, www.stevenage.hitscricket.com

Totteridge Millhillians, 1881, Hon Sec: Bill Banks, bill@tmcc.london, 07842 566177, Fixture Sec: Ed Skilbeck, edskilbeck@gmail.com, 07876 338698, 020 8445 5331 (5 - 9 pm), The Green, Totteridge, N20 8PB, www.totteridgemillhillians.com

Tring Park, 1836, Hon Sec: David Sidwell, secretary@tringcricket.co.uk, 07970 909441, 01442 381410, Fixture Sec: Gareth Darby, garethdarby@btopenworld.com, 07834 493827, London Rd,Tring, HP23 6HA, www.tringpark.hitscricket.com

Watford Town, 1950, Hon Sec: Andrew Canning, canning199@btinternet.com, 01923 893041, 07901 000495, Fixture Sec: Asad Safdar, asadsafdar@sky.com, 01923 231529, Woodside Playing Fields, Horseshoe Lane, Garston, WD25 7HH, www.watfordtowncricketclub.com

Watton-at-Stone, 1837, Hon Sec: Robin Gray, norwich28@sky.com, 01920 830599, 07904 258943, Fixture Sec: Wilf Emsley, wilf_emsley@msn.com, 07980 914971, The Meadow, Watton-at-Stone, \$G14 3SB, www.wattonatstone.play-cricket.com

Welwyn Garden City, 1921, Hon Sec: Anne Vine, anne.vine@fsmail.net, 07599 917078, Fixture Sec: Raymond Hodge, monkswood77@virginmedia.com, 01707 694943, 07939 216230, 288 Knightsfield, Welwyn Garden City, AL8 7NQ, www.welwyngardencitycricketclub.com

West Herts, 1891, Hon and Fixture Sec: Duncan Hodges, duncan.hodges@thameswater.co.uk, 01296 397023, West Herts Spts Club, Park Ave, Watford, WD18 7HP, www.westherts.play-cricket.com

Wheathampstead, 1824, Hon Sec: Nick Martin, nick.martin@wspgroup.com, 07903 696688, Fixture Sec: Chris Martin, krusmartin@hotmail.com, 07725 530615, Nomansland, Wheathampstead, Nr. St. Albans, AL4 8EL, www.wheathampsteadcc.hitscricket.com

Wormley, 1947, Hon and Fixture Sec: Andrew Coombes, andy.coombes@talktalk.net, 020 8363 2283, 07808 726404, Church Lane, Wormley, EN10 7QF, www.wormley.cc.o.uk

Kent

Bardhill, 1935, Hon Sec: Mark Sumpter, mark.sumpter@bardhill.com, 07549 990977, 01277 352660, Fixture Sec: Peter Smith, peter.smith@bardhill.com, 020 8464 4019, Sidcup CC, Sydney Rd, Sidcup, DA14 6RA, www.bardhill.play-cricket.com

Beckenham, 1866, Hon Sec: Peter Wiseman, wiseman334@btinternet.com, 020 8659 2745, Fixture Sec: Liz Engel, liz@lizengel.co.uk, 020 8663 1040, 07812 150832, 19 Foxgrove Rd, Beckenham, BR3 5AS, www.beckenhamcc.co.uk

Bexley, 1805, Hon Sec: Paul Newell, secretary@bexleycc.co.uk, 07794 931266, Fixture Sec: Alan Childs, alanchilds@hotmail.com, 07803 908463, Manor Way, Bexley, DA5 3QG, www.bexleycc.co.uk

Bexleyheath, 1870, Hon Sec: Richard Howes, howes_richard@sky.com, 07725 059528, Fixture Sec: Russell Allen, russell.allen@uk.rcm.com, 07912 878753, The Pavillion, Park View Rd, Welling, DA16 1SY, www.bexleyheath.play-cricket.com

Bickley Park, 1868, Hon Sec: Tony Bentley, apb@tinklinspringall.co.uk, 07890 475750, 020 8402 4216, Fixture Sec: tba, Bickley Park Rd, Bickley, BR1 2AS, www.bickleypark.co.uk

Bidborough, 1893, Hon Sec: Robin Peterson, bidboroughcc@gmail.com, 07801 968661, Fixture Sec: Mark Mitchell, markmitchell@murphygroup.co.uk, 07759 176085, Arthur Nicholson Rec Grnd, Bidborough, TN3 0UE, www.bidboroughcricketclub.org.uk

Blackheath, 1863, Hon Sec: James Nurton, jimnurton@gmail.com, 07765 881556, Fixture Sec: Victor Kandampully, victor.kandampully@santander.co.uk, 07508 810264, The Rectory Field, Charlton Rd, Blackheath, SE3 8SR, www.blackheath.play-cricket.com

Blue Star, 1920, Hon and Fixture Sec: Peter Logan, peter.logan353@ntlworld.com, 01322 527477, 07951 721936, Horton Kirby CC, Franks Lane, Horton Kirby, DA4 9JJ, www.bluestar.play-cricket.com

Bromley, 1820, Hon Sec: Michael Bluett, michael_bluett@hotmail.co.uk, 07768 311974, Fixture Sec: David Wilson, davejw1960@yahoo.co.uk, 020 8464 7343, 98 Plaistow Lane, Bromley, BR1 3AS, www.bromleycricketclub.org.uk

Bromley Town & Old Bromleians, 1885, Hon Sec: Amy Rowlinson, secretary@bromleytowncricketclub.org.uk, 07970 827483, Fixture Sec: Karl Graham, karl@bromleytowncricketclub.org.uk, 07957 445888, Hayes Lane, Bromley, BR2 9EF, www.bromleytowncricketclub.org.uk

Carlton Sports, 1928, Hon and Fixture Sec: Tony McCann, tony.mccann@bt.com, 07740 562515, Wandering, www.pitchero.com/clubs/carltonsports

Catford & Cyphers, 1890, Hon Sec: David Golbey, david@golbey.fsnet.co.uk, 020 8857 4703, 07872 300531, Fixture Sec: Richard McCaughin, richard.mccaughin1@barclays.com, 020 8658 8877, 07775 545794, Rubens St, off Perry Hill, SE6 4DH, www.catfordcyphers.play-cricket.com

Cudham Wyse, 1965, Hon Sec: James Brockett, james_brockett2@hotmail.com, 07824 705204, 020 8654 0949, Fixture Sec: Peter Ingrey, peter.ingrey@sky.net, 07734 973457, 07585 330404, Cudham Rec Grnd, Cudham Lane, Cudham, Nr. Sevenoaks, TN14 7QB, www.cudhamwyse.co.uk

Dartford, 1727, Hon Sec: Patricia Lippiatt, palippiatt@aol.com, 01322 275389, 07968 279761, Fixture Sec: James Fitzgerald, james.fitzgerald@dartfordcc.co.uk, 01322 381142, 07739 582148, Hesketh Park, Pilgrims Way, Dartford, DA1 1QZ, www.dartfordcc.co.uk

Folkestone, 1856, Hon Sec: Mrs Joanna Krayenbrink, jo@krayenbrink.co.uk, 01303 779478, 07721 023868, Fixture Sec: Laurie Montague, lauriefcc@yahoo.co.uk, 01303 250124, 07891 189138, County Grnd, Cheriton Rd, Folkestone, CT19 5JU, www.folkestone.play-cricket.com

Hayes (Kent), 1828, Hon Sec: Malcolm Brown, malcolmbrow@tiscali.co.uk, 01689 860601, 07787 117881, Fixture Sec: Clifford Stammer, cliffstammer1956@gmail.com, 01689 817029, 07802 709418, Barnet Wood Rd, (Off Baston Rd), Hayes, BR2 7AA, www.hayescricket.co.uk

High Halstow, 1889, Hon Sec: Joe Murray, muzza92@hotmail.com, 07917 360433, Fixture Sec: Dave Sibley, djshorts2001@hotmail.com, 07446 975207, Christmas Lane, High Halstow, Rochester, ME3 8SN, www.highhalstowcc.ndo.co.uk

Leigh (Tonbridge), 1700, Hon and Fixture Sec:Nigel Shaw, nigel.shaw@dsl.pipex.com, 01732 832267, The Green, Leigh, Nr Hildenborough, TN11 8RW, www.leighcc.co.uk

Lordswood, 1966, Hon Sec: Vivek Sharma, lordswoodcricket@yahoo.co.uk, 01634 304583, 07912 857826, Fixture Sec: Mark Ruddy, ruddm002@medway.org.uk, 07880 552701, Martin Grove, North Dane Way, Lordswood, ME5 8YE, www.lordswood.play-cricket.com

Marden, 1900, Hon Sec: Head of Sport, S. Mina-Jones, msc.sportoffice@gmail.com, 01622 833414, Fixture Sec: Stephen Mina-Jones, msc.sportoffice@gmail.com, 01622 833414, 319 Maidstone Rd, Marden, Kent, TN12 9AG, www.mardencc.play-cricket.com

Meopham, 1776, Hon Sec: Andy Bryant, meophamccsecretary@hotmail.co.uk, 01474 815092, Fixture Sec: Tony Thatcher, thatchert@gravesendgrammar.eu, 01474 567229, Meopham Green, Wrotham Rd, Meopham, DA13 0PY, www.meophamcc.co.uk

Minster (Sheppey), 1943, Hon and Fixture Sec: Mark Tucker, mt@ngsol.co.uk, 07912 994779, Off Chequer's Rd, Minster-on-Sea, Sheerness, ME12 3QU, www.minstercricket.co.uk

Nonington, 1878, Hon Sec: Gary Coulson, noningtoncc@tiscali.co.uk, 01304 612420, Fixture Sec: Richard Pilcher, richponnetar@aol.com, 01304 840396, Fredville Park, Holt St, Nonington, CT15 4HX, www.nonington.play-cricket.com

Kent

OD Cuaco, 2001, Hon Sec: Andy Parker, andy.parker60@gmail.com, 07769 970864, 01883 342891, Fixture Sec: Andrew Hall, andrewhall725@hotmail.com, 07469 855059, 020 8658 2264, St Dunstans Lane, Beckenham, BR3 3SS, www.odcuaco.co.uk

Orpington, 1848, Hon Sec: Mike Knight, secretary@orpingtoncc.co.uk, 07999 485131, Fixture Sec: Shirley Coleman, shirley_coleman10@hotmail.com, 07939 862823, Goddington Dene, Goddington Lane, Orpington, BR6 9SX, www.orpingtoncc.co.uk

Pembury, 1872, Hon Sec: Andrew Dawes, ajd-17@tiscali.co.uk, 01892 822862, 07885 534092, Fixture Sec: Robert Eaton, robertjeaton@aol.com, 01233 500613, 07984 878380, Chalket Lane, Pembury, TN2 4AA, www.pembury.play-cricket.com

Rainham (Kent), 1856, Hon Sec: Glen Cook, lisaglen99@hotmail.com, 07973 498273, 01634 319176, Fixture Sec: Chris Taylor, ctba18207@blueyonder.co.uk, 07946 712197, Berengrove Pk, Berengrove Lane, Rainham, ME8 7NA, www.rainhamcricketclub.com

Ramsgate Corinthian, 1933, Hon Sec: Mitchell Dilkes, mdilkes@sterlinginsurancegroup.com, 01843 862490, 07774 237251, Fixture Sec: Mrs S Dilkes, sachadilkes@yahoo.co.uk, 01843 862490, 07838 158052, Wandering, www.ramsgatecorinthian.play-cricket.com

Rasra Eagles, 1924, Hon Sec: Lenny Boreland, lennyworth@aol.com, 020 8665 9637, Fixture Sec: Sebastion Banton, sebbanton@aol.com, 07984 803292, Crofton Albion Sports Grnd, Weigall Rd, Lee, SE12 8HF, www.rasraeagles.play-cricket.com

Sabina, 1964, Hon Sec: Marlene Wander, marlenewand@aol.com, 01322 553931, 020 7116 8373(B), Fixture Sec: Marlene Wander, marlenewand@aol.com, 01322 553931, 07985 219542, Sydenham High School, Worsley Bridge Rd, Lower Sydenham, SE23, www.sabinacc.play-cricket.com

Sandwich Town, 1880, Hon Sec: Craig Spanton, stccsec@gmail.com, 01304 851935, 07931 704593, Fixture Sec: John Jones, jonahjones@btinternet.com, 01304 611583, 07778 612947, The Butts, off Ash Rd, Sandwich, CT13 9HZ, www.sandwichtown.play-cricket.com

Sevenoaks Vine, 1734, Hon Sec: Andy Richardson, andy.richardson@molng-europe.com, 07535 672450, Fixture Sec: Richard Clout, richard.clout@tiscali.co.uk, 01732 742716, The Vine Pavilion, Dartford Rd, Sevenoaks, TN13 3UH, www.svcc1734.org

Southborough, 1800, Hon Sec: Peter Riley, petmar.riley@btinternet.com, 01892 529569, Fixture Sec: Hassan Hadi, shhadi64@hotmail.com, 07773 456049, The Common, London Rd, Southborough, TN4 0RJ, www.southboroughcc.hitssports.com

Statics, 1950, Hon and Fixture Sec: Graham Worsley, g.worsley195@btinternet.com, 07841 053552, Wandering,

Ten-Em-Bee, 2014, Hon Sec: George Davis, tenembee@hotmail.com, 020 8313 9510, Fixture Sec: tba, 120A Old Bromley Rd, Denham, Bromley, BR1 4JY, www.tenembee.org.uk

The Mote, 1857, Hon Sec: Malcolm Bassett, malcolmbassett@ymail.com, 01892 722547, Fixture Sec: John Booth, johnrbooth@btinternet.com, 01622 746271, Mote Park, Willow Way, Maidstone, ME15 7RN, www.themote.play-cricket.com

Tunbridge Wells, 1782, Hon Sec: Neil Williams, neil@nvwsolutions.co.uk, 07970 225058, 01892 521871, Fixture Sec: Emily Routh, emilyrouth@hotmail.com, 07958 269776, The Nevill Ground, Warwick Park, Tunbridge Wells, TN2 5ES, www.tunbridgewellscc.org.uk

Waggoners, 1985, Hon and Fixture Sec: Colin Wagstaff, colin-wag@hotmail.com, 020 8402 6587, 07906 906814, Wandering,

Wye, 1882, Hon and Fixture Sec: Richard Elgar, r.elgar@virginmedia.com, 01233 631273, 07787 444438, Horton Meadow, Cherry Garden Lane, Wye, TN25 5AR, www.wye.play-cricket.com

Middlesex

Acton, 1908, Hon Sec: Ben Brennan, benjolabrennan@hotmail.com, 07414 089789, Fixture Sec: Matthew Reeve, mreeve2012@googlemail.com, 07801 994585, The Park Club, East Acton Lane, London, W3 7HB, www.actoncricketclub.com

Actonians, 1922, Hon Sec: Steve Anstee, stephenanstee@sky.com, 07713 632924, Fixture Sec: Matt Robinson, robinsonmd86@gmail.com, 07447 919794, Gunnersbury Drive, Ealing, W5 4LL, www.actonians.play-cricket.com

Agricola, 1973, Hon Sec: Mike Almond, mike.almond@homeoffice.gsi.gov.uk, 020 7035 1090, 07712 180112, Fixture Sec: Scott Sellers, scott.sellers@ahvla.gsi.gov.uk, 07970 483479, Civil Service Spts Grnd, Riverside Dr, Dukes Meadows, W4 2SH,

Alexandra Park, 1888, Hon Sec: Grayham Tindall, grayham.tindal@googlemail.com, 07502 299638, Fixture Sec: Simon White, simonswhite@btinternet.com, 07993 305771, Alexandra Park Racecourse, Wood Green, N22 7AX, www.alexandraparkcricketclub.com

Arkley, 1932, Hon Sec: Mervyn Lack, mervyn.lack@btinternet.com, 01767 650684, Fixture Sec: Clive Townsend, ctakaclive@aol.com, 020 8368 5357, 07951 074043, Alice Owens Spts Grnd, Chandos Ave, Whetstone, N20 9DX, www.arkleycc.hitssports.com

Barnes, 1919, Hon Sec: Hugh Pilkington, hugh.pilkington@hoganlovells.com, 07912 664107, Fixture Sec: Ben Durling, ben.durling@warnermusic.com, 07779 601728, Lonsdale Rd, Barnes, SW13 9QL, www.barnescc.co.uk

BBC Bushmen, 1943, Hon and Fixture Sec: Peter Herrmann, thepeterherrmann@hotmail.com, 020 8653 9909, 07753 636118, Wandering,

Bessborough, 1904, Hon Sec: Alex Iran, awesome_alex90@hotmail.com, 07951 819474, Fixture Sec: Amit Patel, amit.patel@redhotcurry.com, 07774 443498, Headstone Manor, Pinner View, Harrow, HA2 6PX, www.bessboroughcc.com

Bohemians, 1979, Hon and Fixture Sec: Rob Archdale, robarchdale@live.com, 07957 628158, North London CC, Highgate, N8 8RL, www.bohemianscc.play-cricket.com

Botany Bay, 1900, Hon Sec: Jonathan Merrell, jonathan@babycow.co.uk, 07775 735692, 01462 742525, Fixture Sec: Matthew Nash, mattrnash@yahoo.co.uk, 07904 343347, East Lodge Lane, Enfield (off A1005,The Ridgeway), EN2 8AS, www.botanybaycc.co.uk

Brentham, 1908, Hon Sec: Charlie Puckett, charlie.puckett54@gmail.com, 01225 681447, Fixture Sec: James Hitchcock, james@newworldinteriors.com, 07786 225993, 38a Meadvale Rd, Ealing, W5 1NP, www.brenthamcc.co.uk

Brondesbury, 1887, Hon Sec: Jamie McCombe, jmccombe@blueyonder.co.uk, 020 7419 2103, 07958 207027, Fixture Sec: Les Elliott, leselliott@btopenworld.com, 020 8907 9418, 07957 312577, Harman Drive, off Farm Ave, NW2 2EB, www.brondesburycc.co.uk

C.R.S.Cardinals, 1931, Hon Sec: Charles Greenidge, doncharles@live.co.uk, 020 8843 1055, 07960 650645, Fixture Sec: Richard Griffith, griffith123@hotmail.co.uk, 020 7385 2010, 07958 777056, Chandos Rec Grnd, Camros Ave, Edgware, HA8 6AH, www.crscardinals.play-cricket.com

Captain Scott XI, 1978, Hon and Fixture Sec: Lisa Thompson, honeypea@hotmail.com, 07795 217915, Wandering, www.captainscottscricket.co.uk

Chiswick (was Turnham Green and Polytechnic), 1853, Hon Sec: Bernard Hughes, bernardhughes@ntlworld.com, 020 8870 3680, 07906 889555, Fixture Sec: Cliff Sykes, sykesie@aol.com, 07734 129006, The Riverside Ground, Riverside Dr, Chiswick, W4 2SP, www.chiswickcc.co.uk

Middlesex

Crane, 1990, Hon and Fixture Sec: Kam Khangura, kam_khangura@hotmail.com, 07801 971291, Wycombe House C C Jersey Rd, Islesworth, TW7 5PL, www.cranecricketclub.com

Crouch End, 1874, Hon Sec: Simon Tanner, simon_tanner_calthorpe@yahoo.co.uk, 07834 169188, Fixture Sec: Felix Middleton, felixmiddleton@hotmail.com, 07939 556344, The Calthorpe Gnd (Private), Park Rd, Muswell Hill, N8 8JJ, www.crouchendcricket.com

Cypos, 1990, Hon and Fixture Sec: Fraser Montgomery, fraser.montgomery@hotmail.co.uk, 01159 240057, 07968 998814, Old Tiffinains Sport Grnd, Summer Ave, East Molesey, KT8 9LU, www.cypos.play-cricket.com

Deliveroo Stars, 2014, Hon and Fixture Sec: Abdul Waheed, globaloneuk@gmail.com, 07508 823425, Wandering,

Ealing, 1870, Hon Sec: James Grigg, james.grigg@ealingcc.co.uk, 07768 216350, Fixture Sec: Andrew Scott, andrewpscott52@gmail.com, 07812 147141, Corfton Rd, Ealing, W5 2HS, www.ealingcc.co.uk

Ealing Hanwellians (formerly Hanwell CC), 1851, Hon Sec: Vikram Patel, vikrampatel@btinternet.com, 07860 732474, 020 8840 2637, Fixture Sec: Abdikarim Ismail, abdikarim.ismail@gmail.com, 07852 170038, Brentfield, adjoining West Middx Golf Club, UB1 3EE, www.hanwellcricketclub.hitsports.com

Eastcote, 1863, Hon and Fixture Sec: Geoff Roan, groan@outlook.com, 07789 264674, Haydon Hall, Southill Lane, Joel St, Eastcote, HA5 2EG, www.eastcotecricketclub.com

Edmonton, 1872, Hon Sec: Randy Noel, secretaryedmontoncc@gmail.com, Fixture Sec: Micky Billson, mbil599907@aol.com, 07962 367716, Hydeside, Church St, Edmonton, N9 9HL, https://edmontoncricketclub.secure-club.com/default.aspx

Elite, 2000, Hon and Fixture Sec: Ashok Patel, aat1@btconnect.com, 07885 204192, Wandering, www.elitecricketclub.co.uk

Enfield, 1856, Hon Sec: Grahame Wick, grahame.wick@wcgplc.co.uk, 07879 546046, Fixture Sec: Bruce Conway, perryman8@sky.com, 07974 243823, 9 Lincoln Rd, (Junc Wellington Rd), Enfield, EN1 2RY, www.enfieldcricketclub.com

Finchley, 1832, Hon and Fixture Sec: Sumit Jadav, sumitjadav@live.co.uk, 07950 509780, 33-45 East End Road, Finchley, N3 2TA, www.finchleycricket.co.uk

Fives, 1941, Hon Sec: Praful Depala, prafuldepala@hotmail.com, 07940 961207, 020 8361 3703, Fixture Sec: Colin Hogan, colinhogan@operamail.com, 07721 077500, 020 8801 0709, Old Minchendians CC, Bramley Rd, Southgate, N14 4HL, www.fivescc.co.uk

Fleet Street Strollers, 1976, Hon and Fixture Sec: Simon Brodbeck, simon.brodbeck@btopenworld.com, 020 8455 9905, 07940 572284, Wandering, www.fsscc.org.uk

Gaieties, 1937, Hon Sec: tba, Fixture Sec: Ben Nealon, 020 7704 9782, 07973 165785, Wandering, www.haroldpinter.org/cricket/index.shtml

Gentlemen of Hampstead, 1960, Hon Sec: tba, Fixture Sec: Alex Bell, alexbell1@hotmail.co.uk, 07585 309328, Wandering,

Goodwill Wanderers, 1991, Hon Sec: Colin Correa, colin_correa@hotmail.com, 07788 585087, Fixture Sec: Chris Westwood, westwood_chris@hotmail.co.uk, 07852 297449, Wandering, www.goodwillcc.org

Grimsdyke, 1946, Hon Sec: tba, damma75@googlemail.com, 07515 009019, Fixture Sec: Waththu Arachchige, damma75@googlemail.com, 07515 009019, Wilf Slack Memorial Grnd, 19 East End Rd, Finchley, N3 2SU, www.grimsdyke.play-cricket.com
Gubbays, 1981, Hon and Fixture Sec: Sandeep Patel, spatel@mimecast.com, 07966 632555, 01895 468821, Cavendish Sports Pavilion, Field End Rd, Eastcote, HA4 9PG, www.gubbays.play-cricket.com

Hadley Wood Green Sports, 1996, Hon Sec: Steve Spicer, stephen.spicer1@tesco.net, 01245 224756, 07952 994393, Fixture Sec: David Turner, davidlornaturner@gmail.com, 020 8364 0475, 07427 739536, Botany Bay CC, East Lodge Lane, Enfield, EN2 8AS, www.hadleywoodgreen.playcricket.com

Hampstead, 1865, Hon Sec: Ritobaan Roy, royritobaan@zoho.com, 07799 906940, Fixture Sec: Peter Floyd, ppfloyd007@gmail.com, 07961 355938, Lymington Rd, Hampstead, NW6 1HZ, www.hampstead.play-cricket.com

Hampton Hill, 1855, Hon Sec: Gill Coates, gillcoates1@ntlworld.com, 020 8873 3040, 07908 922263, Fixture Sec: Glenn Thomas, glenn.thomas@tiscali.co.uk, 020 8979 7376, 07845 976124, Bushy Park, High St, Hampton Hill, TW12 1PD, www.hamptonhillcricket.co.uk

Hampton Woodlawn (was Woodlawn), 1937, Hon Sec: Alistair Attwood, al.attwood@btinternet.com, 07904 976892, 020 8943 4633, Fixture Sec: John & Nina Clissold, johnclissold@aol.com, 07932 756643, 020 8979 3741, Carlisle Park, Wensleydale Rd, Hampton, TW12 2UL, www.woodlawn.play-cricket.com

Harefield, 1937, Hon Sec: Mike Woodwards, mikewoodwards@blueyonder.co.uk, 01895 823538, 07884 473540, Fixture Sec: Steve Finch, sfinch2704@aol.com, 07770 376153, Woods Cricket Grnd, Breakspear Rd North, Harefield, UB9 6NE, www.harefieldcc.hitscricket.com

Harrow St Mary's, 1881, Hon Sec: Lesley Brown, lesleybrownuk@gmail.com, 07984 644430, 020 8427 3104, Fixture Sec: Jay Patel, ja1deep@hotmail.com, 07800 579496, Millhillians Sports Grnd, Headstone Lane, Harrow, HA2 6NF, www.hsmcc.com

Harrow-on-the-Hill, 1972, Hon and Fixture Sec: Stephen Callway, scallway@hotmail.co.uk, 020 7834 6577, 07749 358777, Wandering, www.harrowonthehill.play-cricket.com

Hayes, 1797, Hon Sec: Colin Richardson, secretary@hayescricketclub.co.uk, 020 8573 4115, 07970 491404, Fixture Sec: Simon Guy, simon.guy.green@gmail.com, The Green, Wood End, Hayes, UB3 2RJ, www.hayescricketclub.co.uk

Highgate, 1879, Hon Sec: Ben Sudell, highgatecricketsec@gmail.com, 07944 186350, Fixture Sec: Johan De Silva, highgatefixturessecretary@gmail.com, 07809 351809, Shepherds Cot, Park Rd, N8 8JJ, www.highgate.play-cricket.com

HJM, 2018, Hon and Fixture Sec: Asim Suleman, mohdasims@yahoo.com, 07971 070913, Wandering, http://hjmcc.play-cricket.com/

Holtwhites Trinibis, 1889, Hon Sec: Phool Abbas, phool.abbas@gmail.com, Fixture Sec: Jim Davie, davietwo@hotmail.co.uk, 020 8245 4236, Holtwhites S&S Club, Holtwhites Hill, Enfield, EN2 0RU, www.holtwhites-trinibis.co.uk

Honourable Artillery Company, 1846, Hon Sec: Edward Haines, edward.haines@ubs.com, 07769 975948, Fixture Sec: R. Webster, rjcwebster@googlemail.com, 020 7286 0459, 07788 443193, Artillery Grnd, Armoury House, City Rd, EC1 Y2BQ, www.hac.org.uk/home/about-the-hac/clubs-societies/hac-sports-clubs/cricket-club/

Hornsey, 1870, Hon Sec: Johnny Bruce, johnnybruce@blueyonder.co.uk, 07710 132994, Fixture Sec: Nii-Amaa Ollennu, niiamaaollennu92@gmail.com, 07853 988386, Tivoli Rd, Crouch End, N8 8RG, www.hornseycricketclub.co.uk

Indian Gymkhana, 1916, Hon Sec: Sanjay Sood, sanj.sood@btinternet.com, 07958 407527, 020 8577 5804, Fixture Sec: Ajith Nair, anair1985@yahoo.co.in, 07884 754673, Thornbury Ave, Isleworth, TW7 4NQ, www.indiangymkhanaclub.co.uk

Inter-Varsity, 1973, Hon Sec: Terry Bridgwater, terry.bridgwater147@btinternet.com, 020 8979 8861, 07710 218614, Fixture Sec: A. Shirley, 020 8891 2996, Wandering,

J B, 2011, Hon Sec: Aamir Randhawa, aamirandhawa@hotmail.co.uk, 07966 387669, Fixture Sec: I. Randhawa, ssoct98@hotmail.com, 07968 329219, Wandering, www.jbcc.play-cricket.com

Kensington, 1973, Hon Sec: San Gore, sangore1945@gmail.com, 07711 268925, 020 8748 2822, Fixture Sec: Tim Keleher, tim@thesportingclub.co.uk, 07932 365645, Wandering, www.kensingtoncricketclub.com

Kenton, 1921, Hon and Fixture Sec: Ankit Shah, ankit130@hotmail.com, 07958 001874, Kenton Park Rd, Kenton, HA3 8UB, www.kentonsportsclub.hitscricket.com

Kew, 1881, Hon Sec: David Sheppard, david.sheppard@ukti.mod.uk, 020 8744 2588, 07786 027828, Fixture Sec: Dave Matten, 020 8398 2025, 07778 528427, The Pavilion, Kew Green, Kew, TW9 3AH, www.kewcc.co.uk

LCR XI, 2011, Hon and Fixture Sec: Salim Ali, salim@lcr.co.uk, 020 8903 6000, 07836 266466, Wandering,

London Challengers, 2019, Hon and Fixture Sec: Arthur D'Mello, ash91200@gmail.com, 07378 161445, 020 8148 0202, Ealing Central Sports Ground, Perivale, UB6 8AP,

London Theatres, 1958, Hon Sec: Tristan Baker, tris@tristanbaker.co.uk, 020 7580 1131, Fixture Sec: Anthony Wise, a.wise@virgin.net, 020 8673 4038, 07976 930258, Wandering, www.londontheatrescricketclub.co.uk

Mayfield, 1925, Hon Sec: Luke Shaw, info@mayfieldcricketclub.com, 020 8520 6233, 07788 664590, Fixture Sec: Sarjul Patel, sarjul@gmail.com, 07794 715909, Hazelwood Sports Grnd, Kenmare Gdns, Palmers Green, N13 5BH, www.mayfieldcricketclub.com

Middlesex Tamil Sports & Social, 1989, Hon Sec: Gnanakalaharan Manoharan, s.gabilan@yahoo.co.uk, Fixture Sec: Sri Sritharan, srimtssc@yahoo.com, 07886 102098, Post Office Sports Grnd, 136 Greenford Rd, Harrow, HA1 3QL, www.mtssc.play-cricket.com

N.P.L. Teddington, 2000, Hon Sec: Barry Scott, barry.scott@npl.co.uk, 020 8943 6822, Fixture Sec: Martin Kelly, martin.kelly@npl.co.uk, 07734 109426, NPL Sports Club, Queens Rd, Teddington, TW11 0LW, www.nplteddingtoncc.com

New Calypsonians, 1925, Hon Sec: Earl Griffith, earl_griffith11@hotmail.com, 020 8520 4530, 07073 377701, Fixture Sec: Pius Shah, harshaps@hotmail.com, 020 8882 0411, Middlesex Uni Grnd, Green Dragon Lane, Grange Park, N21 1EP, www.newcalypsonians.co.uk

Nomads, 1903, Hon Sec: Michael Blumberg, michaelblumberg4@aol.com, 020 7624 3925, 020 7262 3510(B), Fixture Sec: Paul Maloney, howzat@nomadscc.com, 01483 870076, 020 7839 6519, Wandering, www.nomadscc.com

North Harrow, 1954, Hon Sec: Matt Clothier, matt_clothier@hotmail.co.uk, 07976 408511, Fixture Sec: Robin Murray, robinmurray@sky.com, 07780 826434, Wandering, www.northharrowcc.com

North London Muslim, 1980, Hon Sec: Javed Isrolia, javed_isrolia@hotmail.co.uk, 07956 090409, 020 8806 1147 -Option 4, Fixture Sec: S. Gajia, 020 8806 2778, Springhill Spts Grnd. Springhill, E5 9BL, www.nlmuslims.play-cricket.com

North Middlesex, 1875, Hon Sec: Rob Brand, robert_brand@hotmail.co.uk, 020 8340 0688, 07785 114034, Fixture Sec: Alex Hill, emailalexhill@hotmail.com, 07974 143277, 020 7272 2987, 185a Park Rd, Hornsey, N8 8JJ, www.northmiddlesexcc.co.uk

North Two, 1982, Hon and Fixture Sec: Simon Dyer, sdyer@marexspectron.com, 07825 362849, various in north London, www.n2cc.co.uk

Northampton Exiles, 1897, Hon and Fixture Sec: Peter Gilbert, peter@scorebox.plus.com, 020 8341 2922, 07522 589436, Clowes Sports Grnd, Barrowell Green, N21 3AU, www.northamptonexiles.play-cricket.com

Northwood, 1878, Hon Sec: Paul Reeve, paree286@aol.com, 01923 828298, Fixture Sec: Stephen Dickson, stephendickson@blueyonder.co.uk, 07768 116761, Corner Rickmansworth Rd & Ducks Hill Rd, Northwood, HA6 2NP, www.northwoodcc.co.uk

Octopus, 1947, Hon Sec: Peter Hayward, gohaywire@yahoo.com, 07717 754943, 020 3615 2995, Fixture Sec: Sam Grant, leapy88@hotmail.com, 07514 239264, St Aloysius Sports Grnd, Hurst Ave, Hornsey, N6 5TX, www.octopuscc.co.uk

Old Citizens, 1893, Hon Sec: Richard Hillman, r.hillman@tiscali.co.uk, 07789 652526, Fixture Sec: Tony Sawell, tony.sawell@googlemail.com, 01883 715949, 07847 100863, Mill Hill Village CC, Burton Hole Lane, Mill Hill, NW7 1AS, www.oldcitizens.play-cricket.com

Old Eastcotians, 1959, Hon and Fixture Sec: Rod Stone, rod.stone@blueyonder.co.uk, 020 8868 5609, 07946 270491, King George V Playing Field, Tolpits Lane, WD18 9QD,

Old Isleworthians & Heston, 1998, Hon Sec: Barry Martin, bazzam55@aol.com, 020 8755 2390, 07825 036349, Fixture Sec: Mike,Peries, mikeperies311@btinternet.com, 07806 793568, 020 8560 7949, The Memorial Grnd, 22A Wood Lane, Isleworth, TW7 5ED, www.oihcc.co.uk

Old Minchendenians, 1927, Hon Sec: Tom Rowlands, tom_rowlands@hotmail.com, 07725 557198, Fixture Sec: Andy Spring, springy46@hotmail.co.uk, 020 8360 7625, 07946 518221, Bramley Rd, Southgate, N14 4HL, www.oldminchendenians.org.uk/cricket

Pacific, 1983, Hon and Fixture Sec: Peter Hollman, peterhollman.pacificcc@virgin.net, 020 7607 0514, 07982 251122, Wray Crescent Open Space, Turle Rd, Islington, N4 3LS, www.pacificcc.co.uk

Paddington, 1920, Hon Sec: Chris Bunning, chrisbunning@fsmail.net, 020 8540 2597, 07748 118526, Fixture Sec: Martin Leigh, m_umpire@ntlworld.com, 01707 658778, Wandering, www.paddington.play-cricket.com

Paragon, 1977, Hon Sec: Trevor Blackburn, trevor_blackburn@btconnect.com, 020 8864 0082, 07985 735214, Fixture Sec: Dunstan Holder, dunstanholder@btconnect.com, 020 8659 6235, 07966 523604, Wandering, www.paragon.play-cricket.com

Parkfield & Headstone, 1863, Hon Sec: Dick Wootten, wootten897@btinternet.com, 07710 367548, 020 8421 0391, Fixture Sec: Waseem Saber, waseem.saber@costain.com, 07956 092779, Saddlers Mead Rec Grnd, Clonard Way, Hatch End, HA5 4BU, www.phcc.hitscricket.com

Perivale Phoenicians, 1940, Hon Sec: Arshad Khan, khana18@hotmail.com, 020 3256 3031, 07985 406727, Fixture Sec: Kashif Malik, kashmalik1@hotmail.com, 07702 110100, Drayton Manor playing fields, Greenford Ave, W7 3DD, www.perivalephoenicians.play-cricket.com

Phoenix, 2005, Hon and Fixture Sec: Sanjeev Kumar, sanjeev69@hotmail.co.uk, 020 8897 3268, 07859 420404, Wandering, www.phoenixcricketclub.co.uk

Pinner, 1835, Hon Sec: Cyrus Barrett, cbarr97070@sky.com, 07879 846025, Fixture Sec: Lisa Noel, ljnoel66@gmail.com, 07984 862811, Montesole Playing Fields, Pinner, HA5 3SA, www.pinnercc.co.uk

Priory Park, 1967, Hon Sec: Sid Pandya, 07782 323663, Fixture Sec: Harish Patel, harishpatel1967@hotmail.com, 020 8723 5144, 07944 367737, Cavendish Sports Grnd, Field End Rd, Eastcote, HA4 9PG, www.prioryparkcc.co.uk/

Queensbury, 1932, Hon Sec: Kamal Desai, kamal@tata.co.uk, 020 8904 5932, 07810 302565, Fixture Sec: Ryan Konson, rwkonson@sky.com, 07961 435277, Preston Pk, off College Rd, Wembley, HA9 8RJ, www.facebook.com/groups/5135344725/

Rajput Samaj, 1981, Hon and Fixture Sec: Mohansinh Darbar, mohansinhdarbar@gmail.com, 020 8744 9334, 07538 676459, Boston Manor Playing Fields, Boston Gdns, Brentford, TW8 9LR, www.rajputsamajsportsclub.com

Richmond, 1740, Hon Sec: Neil Hemstalk, secretary@richmondcricketclub.com, 07881 523960, Fixture Sec: Karl Larson, fixtures@richmondcricketclub.com, 07908 709096, Old Deer Park, Kew Rd, Richmond, TW9 2AZ, www.richmondcricketclub.com

Ruislip Victoria, 1947, Hon Sec: Rob Harris, robert.andrew.harris@gmail.com, 07841 489075, Fixture Sec: Usman Jamil, fixsecrvcc@hotmail.co.uk, 07585 772314, RAF Sports Ground, Vine Lane, Uxbridge, UB10 0BU, www.pitchero.com/clubs/ruislipvictoria

Shepherds Bush, 1882, Hon Sec: Graham Shortell, graham.shortell@blueyonder.co.uk, 020 8943 3762, 07949 093642, Fixture Sec: Wendell Drakes, fixtures@shepherdsbushcc.co.uk, 07809 014880, 38 Bromyard Ave, East Acton, W3 7BP, www.shepherdsbush.play-cricket.com

South Hampstead, 1875, Hon Sec: Louisa Dallmeyer, secretary@southhampsteadcc.org.uk, 07811 960692, Fixture Sec: Devon Plummer, devonplummer2007@yahoo.co.uk, 07901 661396, Milverton Rd, Willesden, NW6 7AR, www.southhampsteadcc.org.uk

South Harrow, 1931, Hon and Fixture Sec:Rakesh Sikka, southharrowcc@hotmail.com, 07929 058500, Roxeth Rec, Eastcote Rd, South Harrow, HA2 8HN, www.southharrow.play-cricket.com

Southall Dragons, 1994, Hon Sec: Pradeep Gohil, pgohil9875@hotmail.co.uk, 07779 249313, Fixture Sec: Colin Parey, 07872 065195, Warren Farm Sports Grnd, Windmill Lane, Southall, UB2 4NJ, www.southalldragons.play-cricket.com

Southgate, 1855, Hon Sec: Doug Gordon, doug.gordon@emc.com, 01707 850210, 07730 781105, Fixture Sec: Alan Rolt, alan.rolt@orange.net, 020 8449 2204, 07866 434415, Walker Cricket Grnd, Waterfall Rd, Southgate, N14 7JZ, www.southgatecc.com

Southgate Adelaide, 1870, Hon Sec: Ivan Ninkovic, club-secretary@southgateadelaidecc.co.uk, 07773 816548, Fixture Sec: David Wilkinson, david@weaver-afs.com, 07712 182967, 020 8441 4468, Walker Cricket Grnd, Waterfall Rd, Southgate, N14 7JZ, www.southgateadelaidecc.co.uk

Stage, 1930, Hon Sec: Matthew Gallagher, matgags@googlemail.com, 07967 639987, Fixture Sec: Jeff Davis, jeffdavis@stagecc.co.uk, 07958 959822, 020 8387 0550, Wandering, www.stagecc.co.uk

Stanmore, 1853, Hon Sec: Stephanie, Reingold, stanmorecricket@gmail.com, 07795 967823, 020 8958 9167, Fixture Sec: Simon Harradine, simon.harradine@ntlworld.com, 07713 615103, 01923 249279, Stanmore Common, Stanmore Hill, Stanmore, HA7 4LB, www.stanmorecc.hitscricket.com

Stanmore Warriors, 2012, Hon and Fixture Sec: Paras Borkhatria, parasborkhatria@hotmail.com, 07930 491560, 020 8427 1027, Napsbury Cricket Grnd, Pegrum Drive, London Colney, AL2 1GD, www.stanmorewarriorscc.hitssports.com

Tabard Pilgrims, 1996, Hon Sec: Peter Crouch, thegoim@yahoo.co.uk, 07977 403369, Fixture Sec: Roger Perowne, roger.perowne@morarconsulting.com, 020 7392 2667, 07802 865119, Wandering, www.tabardpilgrimscc.org.uk

Teddington, 1827, Hon Sec: Paul Dancy, pauldancy26@gmail.com, 07859 914376, Fixture Sec: Stan Nicholson, stan.nicholson@club-cricket.co.uk, 07786 188461, 020 8973 1612(B), Bushy Park, Teddington, TW11 0EA, www.teddingtoncc.co.uk

Teddington Town, 1891, Hon Sec: Ralph Meyer, ralphiemeyer@googlemail.com, 07801 038374, Fixture Sec: David Allen, dta_evolution@hotmail.com, 07719 313151, Chestnut Ave, Bushy Park, Teddington, TW11 0LJ, www.teddingtontowncc.co.uk

Thames Valley Ramblers, 1921, Hon Sec: Dave Boxall, dave.boxall@virgin.net, 01442 872556, Fixture Sec: Andrew Brown, andrewbrown30@hotmail.com, 020 8367 4996, 07772 261825, Wandering, www.thamesvalleyramblers.play-cricket.com

The Windermere, 2008, Hon Sec: Alok Singhai, alok72@gmail.com, 07908 049286, 07810 885616, Fixture Sec: Jay Hanmantgad, jay.hanmantgad@gmail.com, 07810 885616, 07799 447682, Preston Park, Wembley, HA9 8RJ,

Twickenham, 1833, Hon Sec: Dan Hough, houghdt@gmail.com, 07884 314566, Fixture Sec: Paul Johnson, johnopaul2@aol.com, 01932 253375, 07747 754488, Twickenham Green, First Cross Rd, Twickenham, TW2 5TU, www.twickenhamcc.net

U.C.S. Old Boys, 1896, Hon Sec: Sami Ullah, samiullahyousuf1@hotmail.co.uk, 07590 330903, Fixture Sec: Hugh Chapman, hughchapman339@btinternet.com, 07921 985457, U.C.S. Playing Fields, Ranulf Rd, Hamstead, NW2 2BS, www.ucsoldboys.play-cricket.com

Uxbridge, 1789, Hon Sec: Shyam Viqar, shyaan1@hotmail.co.uk, 07450 436670, Fixture Sec: Will Spicer, willspicer@btinternet.com, 07739 924156, Gatting Way, Park Rd, Uxbridge, UB8 1NR, www.uxbridgecricketclub.hitscricket.com

Uxbridge Casuals, 1922, Hon Sec: Lionel Rodgers, lionel.rodgers@stablematesystems.com, 020 8997 2474, 07767 823732, Fixture Sec: Richard Parry, rparry@hillingdongrid.org, 07946 040631, Uxbridge CC, Gatting Way, Park Rd, Uxbridge, UB8 1NR, www.uxbridgecricketclub.co.uk

Washington, 1973, Hon Sec: Luke Mitchell, luke.mitchell@commerzbank.com, 07855 363 916, 020 7475 1026, Fixture Sec: Matthew Cragoe, mcragoe@hotmail.com, 07952 058777, 020 8366 6671, North Middx CC, 185a Park Rd, Hornsey, N8 8JJ, www.washingtoncc.org

Waxlow, 1957, Hon and Fixture Sec: Gurdev Sian, gurdevsian@hotmail.co.uk, 07721 622774, 01753 733832, North Acton Playing Fields, Noel Rd, Acton, W3 0JR,

Wembley, 1860, Hon Sec: Vimal Arjan, vimal_arjan@hotmail.com, 07907 893391, Fixture Sec: Charles Meyer, charlielegbreaks@gmail.com, 020 8904 6698, 07788 884207, Vale Farm, Sudbury Ave, Wembley, HA0 3QS, www.wembleycc.hitscricket.com

White Stars, 2012, Hon and Fixture Sec: Steve White, wscc.cricket@hotmail.co.uk, 07774 620400, Vale Farm Sports Ground, East Lane, Wembley, HA0 3HG,

Whittington, 1989, Hon Sec: David Jordan, djordan@royalparks.gsi.gov.uk, 07940 575720, Fixture Sec: Alan King, alan.w.king@live.co.uk, 020 7586 5198, 07771 615105, Dame Alice Owen's Sports Grnd, Chandos Ave, Whetstone, N20 9DX,

Wilkinson Way, 1978, Hon and Fixture Sec: Eddie Jones, eajservicesltd@yahoo.co.uk, 01753 882270, 07836 260529, Playing at the British Airways ground, Cranford, TW5 9PQ,

Willesden Green, 1981, Hon Sec: L. Townsend, 020 8459 1674, Fixture Sec: Mrs A. Davidson, aarondavidson@hotmail.co.uk, 020 8965 0864, 07956 167123, North Acton Playing Fields, Noel Rd, Acton,

Winchmore Hill, 1880, Hon Sec: Julia Elder, juliaeld@aol.com, 07958 217 614, 020 8360 4892, Fixture Sec: Gareth Davies, daviesgareth735@gmail.com, 07828 426 665, 020 8360 2589, The Paulin Gnd, Fords Grove, Winchmore Hill, N21 3ER, www.winchmoehill.org

Woodlands (Kingsbury), 1945, Hon Sec: R. Rogers, r.rogers3@btinternet.com, 020 8205 3533, 07884 338107, Fixture Sec: Paul Joanides, p.joanides@sky.com, 07762 100107, Wandering,

Wycombe House, 1889, Hon Sec: Zahid Ahmed, wycombehousecc@outlook.com, 07496 522759, Fixture Sec: Denis Gilgallon, dengil26@hotmail.com, 020 8893 4297, 07956 543055, Jersey Rd, Isleworth, TW7 5PJ, www.wycombehousecc.com

Yarl, 1992, Hon and Fixture Sec: Murugesu Mahendran, murugesu.mahendran@gmail.com, 020 8866 9086, 07702 954497, West Harrow Rec, Wilson Gdns, West Harrow, HA1 4EA.,

Youth Wing, 1978, Hon Sec: Jaymesh Patel, jaymesh.patel@vale.com, 020 8451 0476, 07957 911458, Fixture Sec: Sujal Patel, sujal.patel@dpjcloth.co.uk, 07814 562978, West Harrow Rec, Wilson Gdns, West Harrow, HA1 4EA, www.ywcc.org

Norfolk

Norwich, 1999, Hon Sec: Stephen Skinner, stephen.skinner1@virgin.net, 01603 891856, 07885 418993, Fixture Sec: Mark Tipping, mark.tipping@aioinissaydowa.eu, 01493 700786, 07940 409036, 1 Ferry Lane, Postwick, Norwich, NR13 5HL, www.norwich-cricket.club

Oxfordshire

Aston Rowant, 1881, Hon Sec: Sally Muttitt, semuttitt@aol.com, 01865 891873, 07773 632683, Fixture Sec: Dominic Whatman, dominicwhatman@hotmail.com, 07917 416714, The Butts Way, Kingston Blount, Oxon, OX39 4ST, www.astonrowant.play-cricket.com

Bicester & North Oxford, 1995, Hon and Fixture Sec: Wesley Kernaghan, wesley.kernaghan@tht.co.uk, 01869 320519, 07775 591824, Akeman St, Chesterton, Oxon, OX26 1TH, www.bnocc.com

Greys Green, 1873, Hon Sec: Michael Cusden, cusden@supanet.com, 01491 638670, Fixture Sec: Nigel Dennis, nigelwdennis@btinternet.com, 01491 576052, Greys Green, Rotherfield Greys, Henley-on-Thames, RG9 4QG, www.greysgreen.play-cricket.com

Henley, 1886, Hon Sec: Michael Roberts, secretary@henleycricketclub.co.uk, 01491 578836, 07785 364740, Fixture Sec: Roger Garfath, fixtures@henleycricketclub.co.uk, 01491 572414, 07977 289338, The Brakspear Grnd, Matson Drive, Henley-on-Thames, RG9 3HB, www.henleycricketclub.co.uk

Hetairoi, 1980, Hon and Fixture Sec: Chris Megone, c.b.megone@leeds.ac.uk, 01904 624724, 01133 433278(B), 1) Oriel Coll, Oxford. 2) Cranleigh Sch, Cranleigh, Surrey, www.hetairoi.com

Warborough & Shillingford, 1960, Hon Sec: Paul Baker, paul.baker@wandscc.org, 07834 069248, Fixture Sec: Martyn Johnson, martyn.johnson@wandscc.org, 07712 527858, The Green South, Warborough, Oxon, OX10 7DR, https://www.facebook.com/wandscc/

Surrey

54th OCA, 1954, Hon Sec: Stan Brejza, stan@brejza.plus.com, 01737 350371, 01737 350837(B), Fixture Sec: Terry Cunningham, tmcunningham@btinternet.com, 020 8337 8149, 07729 499021, Wandgas CC, Grafton Rd, Worcester Park, Surrey, KT4 7JW, www.54thoca.com

Acme, 1975, Hon Sec: David Prest, davidprest@whistledown.net, 07885 357486, 07710 739444, Fixture Sec: Michael Johnson, michael@naganjohnson.co.uk, 07710 739444, 020 7633 0200, Wandering,

Albamorphics, 1983, Hon and Fixture Sec: Hugh McDonagh, hughmcdonagh@btinternet.com, 020 7720 2915, 07761 071823, Wallington Spts Grnd, Mollison Drive, Wallington, SM6 9BY, www.albamorphics.play-cricket.com

Ashtead, 1887, Hon Sec: Martyn Holloway-Neville, acc.secretary@sky.com, 07778 236782, 07788 236782, Fixture Sec: Sue Griffiths, smgriffiths@ntlworld.com, 07765 048658, 07765 048658, Woodfield Lane, Ashtead, KT21 2BJ, www.ashteadcc.co.uk

Badgers, 1959, Hon and Fixture Sec: Matt Mann, mattandhannah2002@yahoo.co.uk, 07545 999875, 020 8547 0694, Wandering, www.badgerscc.org.uk

Bank of England, 1908, Hon Sec: Richard Kendall, richard.kendall@bankofengland.co.uk, 07812 655942, Fixture Sec: Matt Adey, mattadey@aol.com, 07956 419888, Bank Lane, off Priory Lane, Roehampton, SW15 5JQ, www.bankofengland.play-cricket.com

Banstead, 1842, Hon Sec: Peter Jones, p.jones1@tiscali.co.uk, 01737 356788, 07801 231441, Fixture Sec: Djina Dann, michael.dann3@btinternet.com, 01737 830510, Avenue Rd, Banstead, SM7 2PP, www.bansteadcc.org.uk

Barnes Common, 1976, Hon Sec: Phil Haynes, philhaynes@gmail.com, 07946 763997, Fixture Sec: Graeme Freedman, 07809 758850, Vine Rd Rec, Barnes, SW13 0ND, www.barnescommoncc.com

Barnes Occasionals, 1984, Hon Sec: Oliver Hogg, olliehogg@btinternet.com, 07919 985942, Fixture Sec: Tom Hooker, tom.f.hooker@gmail.com, 07977 079828, King Georges Field, Ham St, Ham, TW10 7RS,

Battersea Ironsides, 1943, Hon and Fixture Sec: Eric Ferebee, ericrozferebee@gmail.com, 020 8542 3029, 07799 095069, Burntwood Lane, Earlsfield, SW17 0AW, www.bicc.play-cricket.com

Beddington, 1863, Hon Sec: Chris Austin, christopheraustinconsultant@yahoo.co.uk, 07984 747970, Fixture Sec: Ian Roberts, robboofselsdon@talktalk.net, 020 8680 0153, 07984 825437, Beddington Pk, Church Rd, Wallington, SM6 7NN, www.beddingtoncc.co.uk

Beddington Village, 1925, Hon Sec: Adrian Jones, jigger793@hotmail.com, 020 8769 4239, 07824 481533, Fixture Sec: Tim Carr, carsie1@hotmail.co.uk, 07557 659614, The Red Lion Hotel, Old Rd, Betchworth, RH3 7DS, www.beddingtonvillage.play-cricket.com

Blackheath (Surrey), 1878, Hon Sec: Simon Jones, simon.jones@autodesk.com, 01483 892860, 07880 724993, Fixture Sec: Tim Chambers, mrtim316@hotmail.com, 07702 278137, Blackheath, Nr Guildford, GU4 8RB, www.blackheathcc.co.uk

Brook, 1923, Hon Sec: Trevor Walters, trevorh.walters@gmail.com, 07803 857842, Fixture Sec: John Pheasant, johnpheasant@btinternet.com, 01428 645459, 07468 592264, Pirrie Hall, Brook, GU8 5UJ, www.brookcricketclub.co.uk

Burgh Heath, 1898, Hon Sec: Matthew Davis, msdavis@nasuwt.net, 020 8641 3020, Fixture Sec: Mohammed Ikram, msdavis@nasuwt.net, 020 8770 7884, 07712 046252, Tattenham Way Rec Grnd, KT20 5NF, www.burghheath.play-cricket.com

Camberley, 1944, Hon Sec: Rim Rimmington MBE, awakeling1@aol.com, 07826 270086, Fixture Sec: Mark Wilkinson, cptn66@gmail.com, 07912 345545, Upper Verran Rd, Camberley, GU15 2JL, www.camberley.play-cricket.com

Carnegie, 1955, Hon and Fixture Sec: Debbie Matthias, debbiehurst1960@hotmail.com, 07932 051434, Wandering, www.carnegiecc.net

Caterham, 1873, Hon Sec: Richard Parrett, secretary@caterhamcc.com, 01883 341758, 07986 531216, Fixture Sec: Richard Parrett, richardparrett@hotmail.com, 01883 341758, 07986 531216, Park Ave, Caterham, CR3 6AH, www.caterhamcc.com

Chaldon, 1921, Hon Sec: John Reeve, jreeve@family.co.uk, 07803 899488, 01342 835222, Fixture Sec: Fraser Owen, frasejohnowen@gmail.com, 07545 155467, 01883 715056, Six Brothers Field, Hilltop Lane, Chaldon, CR3 5BG, www.pitchero.com/clubs/chaldoncricketclub

Charing X Westminster Med.Sc.Staff, 1960, Hon and Fixture Sec: Vin Chauhan, vin.chauhan03@alumni.imperial.ac.uk, 020 8977 4933, 07712 653551, Imperial College Spts Grnd, Udney Park Rd, Teddington, TW11 9BB,

Cheam, 1864, Hon Sec: Nas Sayed, x18nas@gmail.com, Fixture Sec: Nick Forsdick, fixtures@cheamcricketclub.com, Peaches Close, Station Way, Cheam, SM2 7BJ, www.cheamcricketclub.com

Chertsey, 1737, Hon Sec: Mary O'Farrell, mary_ofarrell@uk.ibm.com, 07930 394728, 07930 394728, Fixture Sec: Stuart Bailey, stuartbailey1@btinternet.com, 07973 550078, 01932 345887, Grove Rd, Chertsey, KT16 9DL, www.chertseycc.org.uk

Chipstead-Coulsdon & Walcountians, 1874, Hon Sec: Carolyn Barber, secretary@ccwcc.co.uk, 07743 480074, 01737 212399, Fixture Sec: George Boosey, fixtures@ccwcc.co.uk, 07876 682321, 07876 682321, Chipstead Meads, High Rd, Chipstead, CR5 3SB, www.ccwcc.co.uk

Chobham, 1843, Hon Sec: Alan Spong, a.spong@btinternet.com, 07784 512303, 01252 540004, Fixture Sec: Andy Reynolds, atreynolds1960@btinternet.com, 07789 410501, 01276 857961, 56a High St, Chobham, Woking, GU24 8AA, www.chobhamcricket.co.uk

Christchurch, 1941, Hon and Fixture Sec: Lennox Haynes, lennoxdee@hotmail.co.uk, 01689 486065, 07961 282230, Wallington Spts & Soc, 34 Mollison Drive, SM6 9BY,

Chudley Ales, 1975, Hon Sec: Chris Hunt, chunt@pettiferinvestments.com, 07876 444617, 020 8870 0046, Fixture Sec: Matt Robson, matt_0181@yahoo.com, 07918 080809, 020 8395 0897, Wandering,

Churchleigh, 1947, Hon Sec: Allan Turner, allan.turner@talktalk.net, 020 8656 6303, 07986 294467, Fixture Sec: Keith Best, keithbest0703@gmail.com, 020 8647 9959, 07788 165849, Greatpark, Warlingham, CR6 9PU, www.churchleighcc.com

Clapham Nomads, 1994, Hon Sec: Nicholas Lefebve, nlefebve@hotmail.com, 020 7228 6177, 07910 285635, Fixture Sec: Nicholas Lefebve, nlefebve@hotmail.com, 07910 285635, Dundonald Rd, Wimbledon, SW19 3QN, www.claphamnomads.blogspot.com

Clapham Old Xaverians, 1946, Hon Sec: S. Burke, damiancostello77@hotmail.com, 020 8767 5098, Fixture Sec: J. Clarke, 020 8696 0982, 07973 435253, Grist Memorial Ground, Summer Ave, East Molesey, KT8 9LU, www.claphamoldxaverians.co.uk/j/default.html

Cobham Avorians, 1928, Hon Sec: Peter Burrows, apburrows@live.com, 07709 242770, 01932 856070, Fixture Sec: Andrew Weaver, weavera@airproducts.com, 01932 881777, 07806 463048, Seven Hills Est, Burwood, Cobham, KT11 1HB, www.avorianscc.co.uk

Dorking, 1771, Hon Sec: Andrew Halliday, andy_hallas3@hotmail.co.uk, 07787 956596, Fixture Sec: John Shrives, jshrives43@gmail.com, 07562 757063, Pixham Lane, Dorking, RH4 1PQ, www.dorkingcc.co.uk

Downsiders, 1983, Hon Sec: Mike Tilles, miketilles@hotmail.com, 07887 880825, Fixture Sec: John Walton, john.walton@aksia.com, 07780 904919, Wandering, www.downsiderscc.150m.com

Dulwich, 1867, Hon Sec: Graeme Hough, graeme.hough@homesengland.gov.uk, 07910 146439, Fixture Sec: John Lawrence, john_lawrence@hotmail.co.uk, 020 8761 2091, 07799 500415, Giant Arches Rd, off Burbage Rd, Dulwich, SE24 9HP, www.dulwichcc.com

East Molesey, 1730, Hon Sec: Dawn Parry, dawn.parry@yahoo.co.uk, 07970 549821, Fixture Sec: Nick Stevens, nstevens07@gmail.com, 07958 049240, Memorial Cricket Grnd, Graburn Way, East Molesey, KT8 9AL, www.eastmoleseycricketclub.com

Egham, 1913, Hon Sec: Carol Few, carolfew10@btinternet.com, 01784 435219, 07889 405866, Fixture Sec: Adam Dix, adam.dix87@gmail.com, 07759 574795, Vicarage Rd, Egham, TW20 8NP, www.eghamcricketclub.co.uk

Englefield Green, 1879, Hon Sec: Alan Greig, a.greig3@ntlworld.com, 01784 741022, 07854 132788, Fixture Sec: Rick Comber, rick@rickcomber.com, 07919 444886, Cricketer's Lane off St Jude's Rd, Englefield Green, TW20 0YX, www.egcc.play-cricket.com

Epsom, 1800, Hon Sec: Rob Maslin, rob.maslin87@hotmail.co.uk, 020 7728 2615(B), Fixture Sec: Ben Hudson, bthudson56@hotmail.com, 07834 987174, Woodcote Rd, Epsom, KT18 7QN, www.sites.google.com/site/epsomcricketclub/

Epsom Methodist, 1986, Hon Sec: Paul Pennock, pennockp@gmail.com, 07759 885310, Fixture Sec: Mark Johnson, markjohnson77@live.com, 07761 684557, Gibraltar Rec Grnd, West Street, Ewell, KT17 1UZ, www.emethodists.play-cricket.com

Ewell (formerly Deando Ruxley), 2002, Hon and Fixture Sec: Ian Wyatt, iwyatt@gmx.com, 01372 277755, 07422 526968, Old Haileyburian RFC, 27 Ruxley Lane, Ewell, KT19 0JB, www.ewellcricketclub.com

Fazal Tigers, 2017, Hon and Fixture Sec: Abdul Waheed, Minhas, waheed.minhas@live.com, 07944 983091, Alexandra Rec, King Charles Rd, Tolworth, KT5 9BE,

Felbridge & Sunnyside, 1893, Hon Sec: Graham Radford, gradford4@hotmail.com, 01342 321128, Fixture Sec: Andy Yule, andy@yule.org, 07887 832886, Chartham Grnd, London Rd, Felbridge, RH19 2QS, www.felbridgecc.play-cricket.com

Frensham, 1899, Hon Sec: Richard Chutter, frenshamclubsec@gmail.com, 07765 003616, Fixture Sec: John Stuttaford, johns@mspsecretaries.co.uk, 01252 733683(B), Hollowdene Rec, Shortfield Common Rd, Frensham, GU10 3BJ, www.frenshamcc.com

Frimley, 1820, Hon Sec: Sam Cornell, secretary@frimleycc.co.uk, 07961 943837, Fixture Sec: Neil Pretty, fixtures@frimleycc.co.uk, 07796 192472, Chobham Rd, Frimley, GU16 8PD, www.frimleycc.co.uk

Frimley Green, 1982, Hon Sec: Alan Greaves, secretary@fgcc.co.uk, 07952 789075, Fixture Sec: Antony Johnson, antonyjohnson@hsbc.com, 07795 646456, Frimley Lodge Park, GU16 6HY, www.fgcc.co.uk

Godalming, 1767, Hon Sec: Simon Steel, simon.steel@martingranthomes.co.uk, 01483 428843, 07971 797609, Fixture Sec: Alasdair Brookman, alibrookman@hotmail.co.uk, 07821 128041, Holloway Hill Grnd, Busbridge Lane, Godalming, GU7 1QD, www.godalmingcc.co.uk

Guildford, 1870, Hon Sec: Mrs Sheridan Charles, secretary@guildfordcc.com, 01252 703279, 07929 605380, Fixture Sec: Chad Murrin, chad_murrin@msn.com, 07767 224632, 01483 233297, The Sports Grnd, Woodbridge Rd, Guildford, GU1 4RP, www.guildfordcc.com

Hampton Wick Royal, 1863, Hon Sec: Simon Jones, simonpgjones@gmail.com, 07836 314029, 020 8943 1511, Fixture Sec: Nick Dunmore, nickdunmore1@googlemail.com, 07803 452816, Bushy Park, Park Rd, Hampton Wick, KT1 4AZ, www.hwrcc.co.uk

Headley, 1893, Hon Sec: Barney Hesketh, barneyhesketh@gmail.com, 020 3623 9160, 07799 678400, Fixture Sec: Steven Miles, stevenmiles6061@googlemail.com, 07541 157200, 020 7656 2315, The Pavilion, Headley Common Rd, Headley, KT18 6ND, www.headleycricket.co.uk

Hook & Southborough, 1870, Hon Sec: David Milton, david.g.milton@btopenworld.com, 07412 654275, 020 8397 3230, Fixture Sec: Simon Wilkins, simon_wilkins40@btinternet.com, 07542 556138, Somerset Ave, Chessington, KT9 1PN, www.hooksouthborough.play-cricket.com

Horsley & Send, 1886, Hon Sec: Michael Micklewright, mike.micklewright@ntlworld.com, 07500 877399, 01372 801075, Fixture Sec: Mike Catt, mikecatt1@hotmail.com, 01483 285322, Twinns Field, off Ripley Lane, West Horsley, KT24 6JS, www.horsleyandsendcc.co.uk

International Rescue, 1991, Hon and Fixture Sec: Andrew Frame, frameboy@talktalk.net, 07971 983017, 020 7639 6869, Imber Court Sports Club, Ember Lane, East Molesey, KT8 0BT, www.internationalrescuecc.co.uk

Ittefaq, 2019, Hon and Fixture Sec: Shahroz Bashir, umar-raja1@hotmail.co.uk, Wandering,

Jack Frost XI, 1961, Hon Sec: Tim Martin, tjhmartin@hotmail.com, 07941 005241, Fixture Sec: Clive Hook, clive.hook@btinternet.com, 07872 822592, Wandering, www.jackfrostxi.org

Jesters, 1927, Hon Sec: John Murphy, john@jdmurphy.co.uk, 07811 186767, 01926 713299, Fixture Sec: Jonny Bridcut, jonathan.bridcut@allenovery.com, 07973 655489, Wandering, www.jesterscc.com

Kempton, 2003, Hon Sec: Andrew Groizard, acgwindsor@gmail.com, Fixture Sec: Trevor Warne, trevorwarne@aol.com, 07795 681099, The Sports Ground, Kempton Ave, Sunbury TW16 5NG, https://kemptoncc.play-cricket.com

Leatherhead (Sunday Strollers), 1850, Hon Sec: Tony Garton, tonygarton123@hotmail.co.uk, 07989 885185, Fixture Sec: Jamie Mead, jamielmead@hotmail.com, 07973 452446, Fetcham Grove, Guildford Rd, Leatherhead, KT22 9AJ, www.leatherheadcc.co.uk

Leigh (Surrey), 1900, Hon Sec: Richard Slade, rjcslade@aol.com, 01293 862563, 07778 262655, Fixture Sec: Rob Smith, robdtsmith@gmail.com, 07843 347179, Rec Grnd, Bunce Common Rd, Leigh, RH2 8NP, www.leighcc.play-cricket.com

Magdalen, 1944, Hon Sec: Jonathan Hook, jonathan.hook@hotmail.co.uk, 07802 463789, Fixture Sec: Alex Whiteman, a.whiteman@cadogantate.com, 020 8841 3943, 07939 067531, Kingston Grammar School, Thames Ditton, KT7 0PX, www.magdalen.play-cricket.com

Malden Wanderers, 1879, Hon Sec: Tim Barnett, timbarnett@michaelpage.com, 07930 860160, Fixture Sec: Paul Barford, paul.b@infoline-uk.com, 07854 988550, 20 Cambridge Ave, New Malden, KT3 4LE, www.maldenwanderers.play-cricket.com

Maori Oxshott, 1896, Hon Sec: John Bates, johnandannbates@tecres.net, 01932 584840, Fixture Sec: Gavin Harper, gavin@carlians.co.uk, 01932 842656, Steels Lane, Oxshott, KT22 0RF, www.maori-oxshott.co.uk

Merrow, 1857, Hon Sec: Heather Dean, heatherdean@idnet.com, 01483 535283, 07833 490411, Fixture Sec: Steve Furnell, stephen.furnell@ntlworld.com, 01483 826073, 07855 365540, Epsom Rd, (A246) Merrow, GU4 7AA, www.pitchero.com/clubs/merrowcc

Merstham, 1864, Hon Sec: Carol Pearce, ctpearce@ntlworld.com, 01737 213654, Fixture Sec: Bobby Sharp, mersthamccfixtures@gmail.com, 07963 942115, The Pavilion, Quality St, Merstham, RH1 3BB, www.mersthamcc.co.uk

Milford, 1900, Hon Sec: Chris Kukla, chris.kukla@google.mail.com, 07725 190375, Fixture Sec: Kevin Goodship, kevin.goodship@tesco.net, 07756 514790, Milford Heath, Haslemere Rd, Milford, GU8 5BP, www.milfordccsurrey.wordpress.com

Mitcham, 1685, Hon Sec: Julia Gault, mitchamcricketclub@gmail.com, 020 8661 0663, Fixture Sec: Sevaraj Kumar, mfukltd@yahoo.co.uk, 07773 291414, Cricket Green, Mitcham, CR4 4LA, www.mitchamcricketclub.org

Mogador Wanderers, 1949, Hon Sec: William Parker, wparker@accountsiq.com, 01737 769007, 07515 378629, Fixture Sec: Andy Tharp, andytharp@hotmail.com, 01737 215995, 07787 254876, Wandering, www.mwcc.co.uk

Morden, 1891, Hon Sec: Jim Jackson, mordencc@btinternet.com, 07946 315925, 07946 315925, Fixture Sec: Yogi Desai, ysdesai@btopenworld.com, 07801 905611, 07801 905611, Morden Park, Lower Morden Lane, Morden, SM4 4SF, mordencc@btinternet.com

Mostyn, 1967, Hon Sec: Dawn McNeil, d.mcneil90@ntlworld.com, 020 8473 5073, 07908 259261, Fixture Sec: Jigs Chana, jigschana@cameoproperties.com, 07985 195874, 020 8306 8243, Catford & Cypers CC, Rubens St, off Perry Hill, SE6 4DH, www.mostyn.play-cricket.com

Mpingwe, 2014, Hon and Fixture Sec: Aadil Gaffar, aadil.gaffar@yahoo.com, 07956 466432, 020 8677 0555, Wandering

Mynthurst, 1998, Hon Sec: Colin Bell, colin.haymaker@ntlworld.com, 07860 375543, Fixture Sec: Richard Crowther, richardcrowther@blueyonder.co.uk, 07771 604657, 020 8644 5357, Little Mynthurst Farm, Smalls Hill Rd, Horley, RH6 0HR, www.mynthurst.play-cricket.com

Nepotist, 1980, Hon Sec: Tim Hardy, t_hardy@btconnect.com, 07590 523468, 020 7722 6981, Fixture Sec: Luke Sparrow, nepotistscc@live.co.uk, 07962 557999, 07962 557999, Wandering, www.nepotists.co.uk

Normandy, 1895, Hon Sec: Russell Home, rjhome11@hotmail.com, 07780 685560, Fixture Sec: Mark Rosser, mark.rosser@ntlworld.com, 07941 259309, Hunts Hill Rd, Normandy, GU3 2AH, www.normandy.play-cricket.com

Nutfield, 1863, Hon Sec: Ian Slaiding, slaiding@aol.com, 01737 760426, Fixture Sec: Iain Barker, barkeriain@aim.com, 01737 822653, 07944 506310, Nutfield Marsh Rd, Nutfield, RH1 4EU, www.nutfieldcc.co.uk

Ockley, 1852, Hon Sec: Lesley Fletcher, Ifletcher605@btinternet.com, 01403 254111, Fixture Sec: Richard Herbert, rwherbert@btinternet.com, 01306 711044, The Green, Ockley, Dorking, RH5 5TR, www.ockley.play-cricket.com

Old Dorkinian, 1949, Hon Sec: Richard Bennett-Davies, rhb_davies@hotmail.com, 07813 884518, Fixture Sec: Andrew Culton, andrew@thecultons.plus.com, 01256 766514, 07866 450767, North Holmwood CC, Inholms Lane, North Holmwood, RH5 4JH, www.olddorkinian.play-cricket.com

Old Freemens, 1955, Hon and Fixture Sec: Mark Ridley, itsapets.life@virgin.net, 020 8644 7156, 07891 491647, Freemen's School, Ashtead Park, KT21 1ET, www.oldfreemenscricket.co.uk

Old Hamptonians, 1926, Hon Sec: Matt Bendelow, matthew.bendelow@gmail.com, Fixture Sec: Michael Godsmark, mikeygodsmark@hotmail.com, Old Hamptonians Sportsground, Dean Rd, Hampton, TW12 1AQ, www.oldhamptonians.play-cricket.com

Old Rutlishians, 1909, Hon Sec: Nasir Sayed, x18nas@gmail.com, 07727 688370, Fixture Sec: Graham Mills, graham.mills@btinternet.com, 020 8540 9426, 07913 987006, Poplar Rd, Merton Park, SW19 3JS, www.oldrutscricket.org.uk

Old Suttonians, 1959, Hon Sec: Will Humphries, will106@hotmail.co.uk, 07912 433573, Fixture Sec: Paul Wrankmore, oldsuttscc@btinternet.com, 020 8661 7381, 07484 629671, Dr. Walch Memorial Grnd, Northey Ave, Cheam, SM2 7HJ, www.oldsuttonians.play-cricket.com

Old Tenisonians, 1923, Hon and Fixture Sec: Neil Osborne, neil.osborne@outlook.com, 07753 931651, 020 8946 4976, Arthur Rd, Motspur Pk, New Malden, KT3 6LX, www.oldtenisonians.play-cricket.com

Old Whitgiftians, 1878, Hon and Fixture Sec: David Hagger, secretary@owcc.org, 07756 028236, Croham Manor Rd, South Croydon, CR2 7BG, www.owcc.org

Old Wimbledonians, 1935, Hon Sec: Ben Walsh, benwalsh219@hotmail.com, 07779 517019, Fixture Sec: Helen Bilinska, helenbilinska@hotmail.com, 020 8330 7087, 07884 241815, 143 Coombe Lane, Raynes Pk, SW20 0QX, www.oldwimbledonians.play-cricket.com

Old Woking, 1962, Hon Sec: Dominic Prisco, secretary@oldwokingcc.co.uk, 07760 311168, Fixture Sec: John Manuel, john.manuel@axa-uk.co.uk, 07920 715755, Queen Elizabeth Way, Old Woking, GU22 9AH, www.oldwokingcc.co.uk

Osterley 2000, 2000, Hon Sec: Gitesh Agrawal, giteshagrawal@hotmail.com, 07980 267386, Fixture Sec: Amar Rathore, asrathore57@gmail.com, 07944 237086, Whiteley Village Grnd, Coomb Lane, Walton-on-Thames, KT12 4EL, www.osterley2000.play-cricket.com

Oxted and Limpsfield, 1890, Hon Sec: Keith Tushingham, ktushingham1@hotmail.com, 07881 843856, Fixture Sec: Nick Emmins, nick@nickemmins.co.uk, 07876 500104, Master Park, Church Lane, Oxted, RH8 9LD, www.oxtedandlimpsfieldcc.co.uk

Pirbright, 1787, Hon Sec: Brett Flanegan, pirbrightcricket@yahoo.co.uk, 01252 341052, 07712 807116, Fixture Sec: Martin Loveridge, martin.loveridge@naihaywards.co.uk, 07968 110812, 01483 474432, The Village Green, Pirbright, GU24 0JD, www.pirbright.play-cricket.com

Putney, 1870, Hon Sec: Mark Wibberley, mark.wibberley@googlemail.com, 020 7876 5128, 07967 643597, Fixture Sec: Tony Fenton, tfents@virginmedia.com, 01737 351918, 07513 012439, Putney Lower Common, adjacent Putney Cemetary, SW15 1JF, www.putneycricketclub.com

Puttenham & Wanborough, 1837, Hon Sec: Colin Blunden, colin@blundenc.fsnet.co.uk, 01483 234172, 01252 738236(B), Fixture Sec: Colin Blunden, colin@blundenc.fsnet.co.uk, 01483 234172, 07986 864982, The Heath, Monks Grove, Puttenham, GU3 1AL, www.puttenhamcc.play-cricket.com

Pyrford, 1858, Hon and Fixture Sec: Andrew Walsh, andrew.walsh@gfk.com, 07715 298478, Coldharbour Rd, Pyrford, Woking, GU22 8ST, www.pyrford.play-cricket.com

R.N.V.R., 1946, Hon Sec: Charles Crichton, charliecrichton@hotmail.com, 07815 770548, Fixture Sec: Piers Vacher, piersvacher@yahoo.com, 07598 927705, Wandering, www.rnvr.org

Reigate Pilgrims, 1946, Hon Sec: Bill Seldon, billseldon@btconnect.com, 01737 242818, 07939 037819, Fixture Sec: Guy Mitchell, guymit@hotmail.com, 07786 831726, Red Lion, Old Reigate Rd, Betchworth, RH3 7DS, www.reigatepilgrims.play-cricket.com

Reigate Priory, 1852, Hon Sec: Chris Bates, chrisbates1711@gmail.com, 07788 568345, Fixture Sec: Rob Wood, rob.wood@landg.com, 01737 245102, 07973 779893, Park Lane, Reigate, RH2 8JX, www.reigatepriorycc.co.uk

Richmond Nomads, 1946, Hon Sec: Tony Bridgeman, tonybridgeman@me.com, 020 8337 9847, 07906 845535, Fixture Sec: Ray Angell, rayangell@aol.com, 07831 493915, Wandering, www.richmondnomads.co.uk

Riverside, 1949, Hon and Fixture Sec: Naveed Sarwar, sarwarnaveed@hotmail.com, 07984 861579, 020 8877 0762, Gibraltar Rec Grnd, West St, Ewell, KT17 1XN,

Roehampton, 1842, Hon and Fixture Sec: Mark Boag, markboag@btinternet.com, 07919 541825, 020 8870 0978, Telegraph Rd, Putney, SW15 3TU, www.roehamptoncricketclub.com

Shamley Green, 1840, Hon Sec: Neil Harding, nharding1@btinternet.com, 01483 893457, Fixture Sec: Peter Seagrim, peterseagrim@hotmail.com, 07930 483044, The Village Green, Shamley Green, GU5 0UA, www.shamleygreen.org.uk

South Bank, 1892, Hon Sec: lan Taylor, taylorig@hotmail.co.uk, 07534 654618, Fixture Sec: Dave Munford, 020 8265 9986, 07949 657360, Turney Rd, West Dulwich, SE21 7JJ, www.southbankcc.play-cricket.com

Southern Railway, Kenley & Selsdon, 1927, Hon Sec: lan Roberts, selsdoncc@talktalk.net, 020 8680 0153, 07984 825437, Fixture Sec: Marcus Robertson, marcus.robertson@steamdreams.co.uk, 07774 214048, Kenley Sports Ground, Little Roke Rd, Kenley, CR8 5NF, www.srkandscc.play-cricket.com

Spelthorne Melrose, 1929, Hon Sec: Rob Kemmenoe, rob.music@me.com, Fixture Sec: Alan Arnold, alan.arnold60@googlemail.com, 07738 938964, Spelthorne Sports Club,296 Staines Rd West, Sunbury, TW15 1RY, www.spelthornemelrosecc.co.uk

Spencer, 1872, Hon Sec: Simon Roberts, simon_trafalgar@yahoo.co.uk, 020 8874 0203, 07917 401396, Fixture Sec: Ian Brown, jenniferdbrown@hotmail.co.uk, 07952 446246, Fieldview, Earlsfield, SW18 3HF, www.cricket.spencerclub.org

St. James, 1986, Hon Sec: Andrew Woolley, info@stjamescc.org.uk, 020 8672 6744, 07806 421219, Fixture Sec: Christopher Woolley, chris@stjamescc.org.uk, 01342 322643, 07803 033182, Udney Park Rd, Teddington, TW11 9BB, www.stjamescc.org.uk

St. Lukes, 1983, Hon Sec: Robin Ford, fordrs294@btinternet.com, 020 8947 3116, 07931 822686, Fixture Sec: Jason Custance, custardpieman@hotmail.com, 07970 940815, 020 8669 4280, Raynes Park High School Playing Fields, Westway Close, SW20 9LN, www.stlukescricketclub.co.uk

Streatham & Marlborough, 1805, Hon Sec: Karen Klomp, kklomp@gmail.com, 07920 742973, Fixture Sec: Mark Bartolo, bart1870@talktalk.net, 07830 655335, Dulwich Common, SE21 7EX, www.streathammarlboroughcc.co.uk/

Sunbury, 1938, Hon Sec: Karl Burgess, secretary@sunburycricket.co.uk, Fixture Sec: Richard Barker, fixtures@sunburycricket.co.uk, Kenton Crt Meadow, Lower Hampton Rd, Sunbury, TW16 5AS, www.sunburycricket.co.uk

Surrey Cryptics, 1976, Hon Sec: Richard Seeckts, richardseeckts@surreycryptics.co.uk, 01420 85112, 07720 862767, Fixture Sec: Paul Goss, paulg@body-logic.co.uk, 07702 564647, Wandering, www.surreycryptics.co.uk

Surrey Ovalites, 1981, Hon and Fixture Sec: Dave Evemy, dave.evemy@blueyonder.co.uk, 020 8401 6088, 07804 235072, West Wickham Playing fields, Corkscrew Hill, West Wick, BR4 9BA, www.surreyovalites.1hwy.com

Sutton, 1857, Hon Sec: Adrian Noble, secretary@sutoncricketclub.com, 07811 915176, Fixture Sec: Peter Edwards, fixtures@suttoncricketclub.com, 020 8241 8477, 07720 446841, Gander Green Lane, Sutton, SM1 2EH, www.suttoncricketclub.com

Tadworth, 1903, Hon Sec: Brian Chalkly, brianchalkly@hotmail.co.uk, 01737 355950, 020 8661 7007(B), Fixture Sec: Hugh Weston, hnweston@ntlworld.com, 01372 270957, 07776 050396, The Green, Mill Rd, Tadworth, Surrey, KT20 7TE, www.tadworthcricketclub.co.uk

Temple Sheen Eccentrics, 1944, Hon Sec: Steve Ledger, sledgerafc@aol.com, 07920 097971, Fixture Sec: John Hathway, tsecc@waitrose.com, 020 8993 6346, 07840 061099, Wandering, www.tsecc.co.uk

Thames Ditton, 1833, Hon Sec: Geoff Dryden, geoff.dryden@hotmail.com, 07813 805645, Fixture Sec: Tom Pemberton, tom.a.pemberton@gmail.com, 07840 526873, Giggs Hill Green, Giggs Hill Rd, Thames Ditton, KT7 0BT, www.tdcc.org.uk

Tilford, 1886, Hon Sec: Rupert Town-Jones, rtjones@f2s.com, 01428 724052, 07761 249180, Fixture Sec: Terry Cartwright, terrylcartwright@btinternet.com, 01730 300646, 07831 848251, The Green, Tilford Road, Tilford, GU10 2BU, www.worldoftilfordcricket.com

Tooting United, 2018, Hon and Fixture Sec: Asad Ali, asad.ali1990@yahoo.com, 07450 243070, Wandering,

Trinity (Oxley), 1948, Hon Sec: Colin Smith, colinsharonsmith@talktalk.net, 020 8655 1228, 07837 979896, Fixture Sec: Dave Sharpe, dt.sharpe@ntlworld.com, 07941 004125, 020 8249 2777, The Cricket Centre, Plough Lane, Wallington, SM6 8JQ, www.pitchero.com/clubs/trinityoxleycricketclub/

Trinity Mid-Whitgiffian, 1908, Hon Sec: Robert Keenan, robert.keenan@blueyonder.co.uk, 020 8405 0727, 07815 619560, Fixture Sec: Nick Cook, ncook@integrafin.co.uk, 07305 192970, 01883 674902, Lime Meadow Ave, Sanderstead, CR2 9AS, www.tmwcc.co.uk

Valley End, 1895, Hon Sec: Adrian Gale, valleyendcc@btinternet.com, 07971 807319, 020 8401 8770, Fixture Sec: Steve Mitchell, slapper.mitchell@ntlworld.com, 07906 567638, 01483 858137, Windlesham Rd, Valley End, Nr.Chobham, GU24 8SN, www.vecc.org.uk

Verdayne Green, 1982, Hon and Fixture Sec: Mubin Ahmed, mubin_ahmed@hotmail.co.uk, 07810 767640, Hamsey Green Rec Grnd, Warlingham, CR8 5NY, www.vgcc.play-cricket.com

Vishwa, 1984, Hon Sec: Samir Acharya, samiracharyain@hotmail.com, 020 8240 6965, 07960 458032, Fixture Sec: Vinod Desai, jdesai121@googlemail.com, 020 8683 1884, 07956 211847, Wandering,

Walton-on-Thames, 1898, Hon and Fixture Sec: Dean Carter, dtcarter1984@hotmail.com, 07429 823249, Ashley Park, Walton on Thames, KT12 1ET, https://wot.play-cricket.com/

Warlingham, 1856, Hon Sec: Denham Earl, dm_laearl@hotmail.com, 07941 126279, 020 8660 6621, Fixture Sec: Graham Dunning, dunninggraham@gmail.com, 07903 257302, Church Lane, Warlingham, CR6 9PR, www.warlingham-cc.co.uk

West Indies United, 1960, Hon and Fixture Sec: Colin Hunte, hunte.colin@yahoo.co.uk, 07958 284133, 020 7737 0866, Burgess Park (Community) Sports Grnd, Camberwell, SE5 0JB, www.wiu.play-cricket.com

Westfield, 1875, Hon Sec: John Osgood, kemishford@yahoo.co.uk, 01483 233408, Fixture Sec: Ken Rapley, rapley.ken@gmail.com, 07930 944270, Greenmeads, Westfield, Woking, GU22 9QJ, www.westfieldsaints.play-cricket.com

Weybridge, 1924, Hon Sec: Anthony van Hoffen, anthonyvanhoffen@eversheds.com, 07879 433665, Fixture Sec: Jon Molloy, jmolloy13@gmail.com, 07867 527046, The Cricket Green, Princes Rd, Weybridge, KT13 9BY, www.weybridgecc.co.uk

Weybridge Vandals, 1932, Hon Sec: Maria Holden, miaholden@hotmail.co.uk, 07903 226888, Fixture Sec: Dan Fenton, fendanuk@hotmail.com, 07793 277601, Brownacres, Towpath, Walton-on-Thames, KT12 1QP, www.weybridgevandalscc.com

Wimbledon, 1854, Hon Sec: Jamie Andrews, andrews.jamie@hotmail.co.uk, Fixture Sec: Alexandra Anderson, alexandra.anderson@rpc.co.uk, 07843 037072, Church Rd, Wimbledon, SW19 5AG, www.thewimbledonclub.co.uk/cricket

Wimbledon United, 1920, Hon Sec: Curtis Phillip, curtisaphillip@live.com, 020 8241 4417, 07969 604006, Fixture Sec: tba, Cottenham Park, Melbury Gdns, Raynes Park, SW20 0SX, www.wucc.org.uk

Woking & Horsell, 1905, Hon Sec: Trevor Woods, trevor.woods4@ntlworld.com, 07854 608233, 01483 726832, Fixture Sec: Ramesh Parthasarathy, ramshp@yahoo.com, 07726 772628, Brewery Rd, Horsell, Woking, GU21 4NA, www.whcc.org.uk

Wood Street Village, 1959, Hon Sec: Richard Trinick, trinick@ntlworld.com, 01483 826525, 07764 835005, Fixture Sec: Peter Bedser, family.bedser@sky.com, 07941 334335, 01483 821920, Toby Oaks, Frog Grove Lane, Wood Street Village, GU3 3EZ, www.woodstreet.play-cricket.com

Woodpeckers, 1936, Hon and Fixture Sec: Brian Scovell, b.scovell@btinternet.com, 020 8464 4133, 07879 612690, Wandering, www.woodpeckerscc.com

Worcester Park, 1920, Hon Sec: John Parr, jp003a0068@blueyonder.co.uk, 020 8395 5196, 020 8395 5196, Fixture Sec: Aidan Bell, ab@envirobuild.com, 07710 476 848, 07710 476 848, Green Lane, Worcester Park, KT4 8AJ, www.pitchero.com/clubs/worcesterparkcricketclub/

YRG Eagles, 2010, Hon Sec: Amjad Gohar, amjadgohar75@yahoo.com, 07401 855568, Fixture Sec: Nasir Younus, mfiuk_im07@ymail.com, 07446 916666, Clock House Grnd, Carshalton Rd, Banstead, SM73HU, www.yrgeagles.play-cricket.com

East Sussex

Battle, 1738, Hon Sec: Tim Dudgeon, timothy.dudgeon@btinternet.com, 01424 775285, Fixture Sec: Tim Dudgeon, timothy.dudgeon@btinternet.com, 01424 777914, George Meadow, High St, Battle, TN33 0AA, www.battlecc.play-cricket.com

Chiddingly, 1958, Hon Sec: Richard Knightall, richard.chiddinglycc@dsl.pipex.com, 07775 846076, Fixture Sec: Debbie Ticehurst, ticehurstd@logs.uk.com, 07875 359563, The Street, Chiddingly Village, East Sussex, BN8 6HE, www.chiddingly.play-cricket.co.uk

Ditchling, 1818, Hon Sec: Michael Krause, ditchsec@gmail.com, 01273 454147, Fixture Sec: Geoff Forman, geforman@hotmail.com, 01273 891540, 07733 326985, Ditchling Rec Grnd, Lewes Rd, Ditchling, BN6 8TU, www.ditchlingcc.co.uk

Hellingly, 1758, Hon Sec: Claire Williams, hellinglycc@hotmail.co.uk, 01323 501357, 07871 826689, Fixture Sec: Paul Kirk, , 07811 240790, Rec Grnd, Lower Horesbridge, Hailsham, BN27 4DL, www.hellingly.play-cricket.com

Ringmer, 1755, Hon Sec: David Bush, dbushonline@yahoo.co.uk, 01273 815522, Fixture Sec: Peter Crees, pandjcrees@btinternet.com, 01273 814465, Village Green, Lewes Rd, Ringmer, BN8 5QF, www.ringmercricketclub.co.uk

Rottingdean, 1758, Hon Sec: Mark Smith, smithmn@ntlworld.com, 01273 279026, 07766 701222, Fixture Sec: Steve Grantham, stevelingrantham@hotmail.com, 01273 302038, 07787 842556, Falmer Rd, Rottingdean, BN2 7DA, www.rottingdeancricketclub.co.uk

West Sussex

Crawley, 1886, Hon Sec: Dominique Macoit, scubadivinginstructor@yahoo.com, 07760 276762, Fixture Sec: Viresh Patel, vireshpatel@hotmail.com, 07824 510996, Southgate Park, Southgate Ave, Crawley, RH10 6HG, www.crawleycc.play-cricket.com

Findon, 1867, Hon Sec: Iain Swalwell, iain.swalwell@coolelaw.co.uk, 01903 775825, 07798 941092, Fixture Sec: Nick Hawke, nick@hawkemetcalfe.co.uk, 01903 243007, 07973 529372, Long Furlong, Findon, BN14 0RJ, www.findoncricketclub.co.uk

Harry Baldwin Occasionals, 1985, Hon and Fixture Sec: John Bunker, john.bunker@irwinmitchell.com, 07801 012737, Wandering, www.harrybaldwins.wordpress.com

Horsham, 1771, Hon Sec: Kate Huddlestone, katehuddlestone@btinternet.com, 07837 869491, Fixture Sec: Chris Shambrook, chrisshambrook@btinternet.com, 01403 254628, Cricketfield Rd, Horsham, West Sussex, RH12 1TE, www.horsham.playcricket.com

Keymer & Hassocks, 1905, Hon Sec: Ross Watkins, ross.tad@sky.com, 01444 253265, Fixture Sec: R. Collins, 01444 248929, 07773 385709, Adastra Park, Hassocks, BN6 8QH, www.keymer.play-cricket.com

Lindfield, 1747, Hon Sec: Bob Hopkins, bobvivienne.hopkins@btopenworld.com, 01273 832970, 07795 981767, Fixture Sec: Malcolm Page, mpage@swtrains.co.uk, 01444 413936, 07771 827061, The Common, Blackwoods Lane, Lindfield, RH16 2EB, www.lindfield.play-cricket.com

Stirlands, 1936, Hon Sec: Jon Phillmore, jon.phillmore@bluespiregroup.com, 07876 763678, 01243 781234(B), Fixture Sec: Jim Feast, jimfeast@arrkeurope.com, 07894 475080, 01243 774863, Church Rd, Birdham, PO20 7SP, www.stirlands.play-cricket.com

Three Bridges, 1884, Hon Sec: David Hanson, dha.hanson@outlook.com, 01293 513082, 07926 788691, Fixture Sec: Claire Johnson, 3bridgescc@gmail.com, Three Bridges Rd, Three Bridges, RH10 1JR, www.threebridges.play-cricket.com

Unrivalled performance and impressive versatility

Dennis FT

DENNIS

For more information on our full range – or a no obligation demonstration call **01332 824777** or visit **www.dennisuk.com** or **www.sisis.com**





Expert Surfaces